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NOTE REGARDING REVERSE STOCK SPLIT

On February 5, 2010, we filed a Certificate of Arderent to our Articles of Incorporation with the 8stary of State of the State
Nevada to effect a reverse split of our commonlkstda ratio of ten for one. All historical shamed per share amounts have been adjus
reflect the reverse stock split.




PART |

In this Annual Report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our*Company” and “CryoPortrefer to CryoPort, Inc., and our wholly owr
subsidiary, CryoPort Systems, Inc. This Annual ®epontains forwardeoking statements that involve risks and uncetieasn The inclusic
of forwardiooking statements should not be regarded as a@septation by us or any other person that the tibgscor plans will be achiev
because our actual results may differ materiallynfrany forward-looking statement. The words “majyshould,” “plans,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” their oppositaad similar expressions are intended to identfywhrdiooking statements, but the absenc
these words does not necessarily mean that a statasmnot forwardeoking. We caution readers that such statemestsiat guarantees
future performance or events and are subject tonaber of factors that may tend to influence theuaacy of the statements, including but
limited to, those risk factors outlined in the sewcttitled “Risk Factors’as well as those discussed elsewhere in this AriRegbrt. You shou
not unduly rely on these forwatdeking statements, which speak only as of the détihis Annual Report. We undertake no obligatio
publicly revise any forwardboking statement to reflect circumstances or evaifter the date of this Annual Report or to rdftbe occurrenc
of unanticipated events. You should, however,aevihe factors and risks we describe in the repbes we file from time to time with tl
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) afterdate of this Annual Report.

In addition, we own or have rights to the regisietdemark CryoPort® (both alone and with a detiggo) and CryoPort Expre®s
(both alone and with a design logo). All other Camp names, registered trademarks, trademarks amidesenarks included in this Annt
Report are trademarks, registered trademarks,cgemarks or trade names of their respective owners.

ltem 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a provider of an innovative cold chain froshipping system dedicated to providing supeaffigrdable cryogenic shippil
solutions that ensure the safety, status and teahper of high value, temperature sensitive mdgerid/e have developed cost effec
reusable cryogenic transport containers (refercecéd "shippers") capable of transporting biologi@ivironmental and other tempera
sensitive materials at temperatures below 0° Celsithese dry vapor shippers and shipping systemorae of the first significant alternative:
dry ice shipping and achieve 10-plus day holdinges compared to one to two day holding times withice.

Our value proposition comes from both providinges&fansportation with an environmentally friendlgng lasting shipper, ai
through our value added services that offer a sirhpksle-free solution for our customers. Theleevadded services include an interbase:
web portal that enables the customer to initiateedaling, shipping and tracking of the progress statlis of a shipment, and providegramsi
temperature and custody transfer monitoring sesviok the shipper. The CryoPort service also prewiad fully ready charged ship
containing all freight bills, customs documents aedulatory paperwork for the entire journey of #iepper to our customers at their pic
and delivery locations.

Our principal focus has been the further develograed commercial launch of CryoPort ExpredR@rtal, an innovative IT solutis
for shipping and tracking high-value specimens ubfo overnight shipping companies, and our CryoEBoqress®Shipper, a dry vap
cryogenic shipper for the transport of biologicatlgpharmaceutical materials. A dry vapor cryogesfiipper is a container that uses lic
nitrogen in dry vapor form, which is suspendeddesa vacuum insulated bottle as a refrigerantréwige storage temperatures below m
150° Celsius. The dry vapor shipper is designedgunovative, proprietary, and patented technpledich prevents spillage of ligL
nitrogen and pressure build up as the liquid ngrogvaporates. A proprietary foam retention systeemployed to ensure that liquid nitro
stays inside the vacuum container, even when plapsiledown or on its side, as is often the case wherhédustody of a shippil
company. Biological specimens are stored in aispat chamber, referred to as a “welhside the container and refrigeration is providhy
harmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from the liguittogen entrapped within the foam retention systwurrounding the well. Biologic
specimens transported using our cryogenic shipaerireclude clinical samples, diagnostics, live @ilarmaceutical products (such as ca
vaccines, semen and embryos, infectious substaaodsyther items that require and/or are protetttezigh continuous exposure to froze
cryogenic temperatures.




During our early years, our limited revenue waswier from the sale of our reusable product lineir Qurrent business plan focu
on per-use leasing of the shipping container arskad/alue services that will be used by us to mlevan end-to-end and cagttimizec
shipping solution to life science companies mowphgrmaceutical and biological samples in clinical$ and pharmaceutical distribution.

We recently entered into our first strategic relaship with a global courier on January 13, 201@nvive signed an agreement \
Federal Express Corporation (“FedEpQrsuant to which we will lease to FedEx such nunaf@ur cryogenic shippers that FedEx shall, 1
time to time, order for its customers. Under thgseement, FedEx has the right to and shall, onneemolusive basis, promote, market and
transportation of our shippers and our relatederalided goods and services, such as our data loggemortal and planned CryoPort Expi
®Smart Pak System.

We are a Nevada corporation originally incorporateder the name G.T.5-Limited (“GT58n May 25, 1990. In connection witl
Share Exchange Agreement, on March 15, 2005 wegeltkour name to CryoPort, Inc. and acquired athefissued and outstanding share
common stock of CryoPort Systems, Inc., a Califarrorporation, in exchange for 2,410,811 sharesuofcommon stock (which represer
approximately 81% of the total issued and outstag@hares of common stock following the close efttiansaction). CryoPort Systems, |
which was originally formed in 1999 as a Califorfiaited liability company, and subsequently reargad into a California corporation
December 11, 2000, remains the operating compadgru@ryoPort, Inc. Our principal executive officae located at 20382 Barents
Circle, Lake Forest, California 92630. The telepharumber of our principal executive offices is (4902300, and our main corpor.
website is www.cryoport.com. The information ontlait can be accessed through, our website isarbbpthis Annual Report.

Our Products and Pipeline

Our product offering and service offering consistsour CryoPort Expres8 Shippers, reusable dry vapor shippers, the wekal
allowing ease of entry and our Smart Pak data Iloggéemperature monitoring system (which, togethién our CryoPort Expres® Shippers
comprise our new business model referred to athiePort Expres® System) and a containment bag which is used inedion with th
shipment of infectious or dangerous goods usingXty@Port Expres8 Shipper.

The CryoPort Express® Shippers

Our CryoPort Express&hippers are cryogenic dry vapor shippers capdhieamtaining cryogenic temperatures of minus 16efsiut
or below for a period of 10 or more days. A dryagenic shipper is a device that uses liquid n#grogontained inside a vacuum insuli
bottle which serves as a refrigerant to provideagie temperatures below minus 150° Celsius. OyoRrt Express®&hipper is designed
ensure that there is no pressure build up as qélinitrogen evaporates or spillage of liquid adggen. We have developed a proprietary 1
retention system to ensure that liquid nitrogerysstaside the vacuum container, which allows thipsér to be designated as a dry shi
meeting International Air Transport AssociationATA") requirements. Biological or pharmaceutical specisnare stored in a specin
chamber, referred to as a “wellif)side the container and refrigeration is providsdcold nitrogen gas evolving from the liquid nigey
entrapped within the foam retention system. Spensrthat may be transported using our cryogenjgpghiinclude live cell pharmaceuti
products such as cancer vaccines, diagnostic raltesemen and embryos, infectious substances #ned ibems that require continuc
exposure to frozen or cryogenic temperatures (Emperatures below minus 150° Celsius).

The technology underlying the CryoPort ExpresSiipper was developed by modifying and advancimrtelogy from our firs
generation of reusable cryogenic dry shippers. |&\hir CryoPort Express®hippers share many of the characteristics and blasign detai
of our earlier shippers, we are manufacturing oyoort Express@hippers from alternative, lower cost and lowerghieimaterials, whic
will reduce overall operating costs. We maintaigaing development efforts related to our shippénh are principally focused on mate
properties, particularly those properties relatethe low temperature requirement, the vacuum tieteicharacteristics, such as the permeal
of the materials, and lower cost and lower weighterials in an effort to meet the market needsiérieving a lower cost frozen and cryog
shipping solution. Other advances additional te development work on the cryogenic container ielbboth an improved liquid nitrog
retention system and a secondary protective, ppibf packaging system. This secondary systenerqueackaging has a low cost that le
itself to disposability, and it is made of recyd&ainaterials. Further, it adds an additional léjnitrogen retention capability to further as:
compliance with IATA and ICAO regulations that pilolh egress of liquid nitrogen from the shippingckage. IACO stands for t
International Civil Aviation Organization, which & United Nations organization that develops retgarda for the safe transport of dangel
goods by air.




Our CryoPort Express® Shippers are lightweight, -tmst, reusable dry vapor liquid nitrogen storage contairteet we believ
combine the best features of packaging, cryogearicshigh vacuum technology. A CryoPort Expre&t@pper is composed of an alumin
metallic dewar flask, with a well for holding thelogical material in the inner chamber. The deflask, or “thermos bottle,i5s an example
a practical device in which the conduction, coniectand radiation of heat are reduced as much ssilie. The inner chamber of the shiy
is surrounded by a high surface, low-density opelhpastic foam material which retains the liquiidrogen insitu by absorption, adsorpti
and surface tension. Absorption is defined agaking up of matter in bulk by other matter, aghia dissolving of a gas by a liquid, whei
adsorption is the surface retention of solid, kijor gas molecules, atoms or ions by a solid aridiq This material absorbs liquid nitrog
several times faster than currently used matenalsle providing the shipper with a hold time arapacity to transport biological mater
safely and conveniently. The annular space betweeimner and outer dewar chambers is evacuatadvesy high vacuum (16-Torr). The
specimenholding chamber has a primary cap to enclose teeisgns, and a removable and replaceable secondprio further enclose t
specimerholding container and to contain the liquid nitrogelhe entire dewar vessel is then wrapped inusafity of insulating an
cushioning materials and placed in a disposablerqégckaging made of recyclable material.

We believe the CryoPort solution is test and most cost effective solution availabléhim market that satisfies customer needs
regulatory requirements relating to the shipmenteofiperaturesritical, frozen and refrigerated transport of bgikal materials, such as
pharmaceutical clinical trials, gene biotechnologfectious materials handling, and animal and humeproduction markets. Due to
proprietary technology and innovative design, dupgers are less prone to losing functional hattetwhen not kept in an upright position t
the competing products because such proprietahntdogy and innovative design prevent the spillimgeakage of the liquid nitrogen wt
the container is tipped or on its side which woadiyersely affect the functional hold time of thetziner.

An important feature of the CryoPorpEess®Shippers is their compliance with the stringentikaaing requirements of IATA Packi
Instructions 602 and 650, respectively. Theseurtibns include the internal pressure (hydrawdio) drop performance requirements.

The CryoPort Expres® System

The CryoPort Express® System is comprised of@hgoPort Express® Shipper, the CryoPort Expres® Smart Pakdata logge
CryoPort Express® Portal, which programmatically manages order entry andasfiects of shipping operations, atid/oPort Express®
Analytics, which monitors shipment performance metrics andiuatas temperatummonitoring data collected by the data logger du
shipment. The CryoPort Express® System is focumedmproving the reliability of frozen shipping vidireducing the customersveral
operating costs. This is accomplished by providingpmplete end-tend solution for the transport and monitoring afz&n or cryogenical
preserved biological or pharmaceutical materialgmdd though overnight shipping companies.

CryoPort Express® Portal

The CryoPort Express®ortal is used by CryoPort, our customers and osinless partners to automate the entry of ordeepap
customs documentation and to facilitate status laedtion monitoring of shipped orders while in dan As an example, the CryoF
Express®Portal is fully integrated with IT systems at Fedixd runs in a browser requiring no software itesiah. It is used by CryoPort
manage shipping operations and to reduce admitivgraosts typically provisioned through manual dalvelating to ordeentry, orde
processing, preparation of shipping documents auo#t-bffice accounting. It is also used to support tighhevel of customer service expec
by the industry. Certain features of the CryoPogpress® Portal reduce operating costs and faclita¢ scaling of CryoPog’business, b
more importantly they offer significant value teetbustomer in terms of cost avoidance and riskgatiton. Examples these features inc
automation of order entry, development of Key Panfance Indicators (“KPI1"to support our efforts for continuous process improents i
our business, and programmatic exception monitotingletect and sometimes anticipate delays in Higpsg process, often before
customer or the shipping company becomes awaré of ithe future we will add rate and mode optiatian and intransit monitoring ¢
temperature, location and state of health (disclbséow), via wireless communications.




The CryoPort Express®ortal also serves as the communications nervesicémt the management, collection and analysisroéiS
Pak data harvested from Smart Pak data loggeleifidld. Data is converted into pdesigned reports containing valuable and ofteroaatil¢
information that becomes the quality control stadda “pedigree’of the shipment. This high value information canubilized by CryoPort 1
provide consultative services to the customerirgab cryogenics.

The CryoPort Express® Smart Pak

Temperature monitoring is a high value feature fimm customers' perspective as it is an effectivé reliable method to determ
that the shipment materials were not damaged araded during shipment due to temperature fluctnaticPhase Il of our Smart Pak Sys
which is a selfeontained automated data logger capable of reapttie internal and external temperatures of sanghigsped in our CryoPc
Express® Shipper was launched in fiscal year 2010.

Phase Il of our Smart Pak System is anticipatedioch in fiscal year 2011, and consists of addirsgnart chip to each shipper v
wireless connectivity to enable our customers taitoo a shippers location, specimen temperature and overall sthteealth via our we

portal. A key feature of the Phase Il produchigomatic downloading of data which requires ndamsr intervention.

CryoPort Express® Analytics

Our continued development of the CryoPort ExpreBs@®al is a strategic element of our businessegyaand the CryoPort Expréss
Portal system has been designed to support plaiutec: features with this thought in mind. Anatgiis a term used by IT professional
refer to performance benchmarks or Key Performdndeators (KPI5) that management utilizes to measure performagednst desire
standards. Examples include time-based metricerder processing time and ¢ime deliveries by our shipping partners, as welpeofiling
shipping lanes to determine average transit tinmespaedictingan exception if a shipment is taking longer thashibuld based on historir
metrics. The analytical results will be utilizeg GryoPort to render consultative customer services

Biological Material Holders

We have also developed a patented iwonémt bag which is used in connection with thgstent of infectious or dangerous go
using the CryoPort Express8hipper. Up to five vials, watertight primary rptacles, are placed onto aluminum holders and ufiftezr
holders (75 vials) are placed into an absorbentlipathich is designed to absorb the entire conteinédl the vials in the event of leakage. 1
pouch containing up to 75 vials is then placed imagertight secondary packaging Tyvek bag capableithstanding cryogenic temperatul
and then sealed. This bag is then placed intavékeof the cryogenic shipper.

Other Product Candidates and Development Activities

We are continuing our research and developmenttsffichich are expected to lead to the introductibadditional dry vapor shippe
including larger and smaller size units construatédower cost materials and utilizing high volumeanufacturing methods. We are
exploring the use of alternative phase change ia#gén place of liquid nitrogen in order to seekrg into the ambient temperature and ch
(2° to 8° Celsius) shipping markets.




Government Regulation

The shipping of diagnostic specimens, infectioussgances and dangerous goods, whether via aioandr falls under the jurisdicti
of many states, federal and international agen@ies.quality of the containers, packaging materéald insulation that protect a specit
determine whether or not it will arrive in a usabtendition. Many of the regulations for transpagtidiangerous goods in the United State:
determined by international rules formulated unttex auspices of the United Nations. For example, fDAO is the United Natio
organization that develops regulations (Techniostrlictions) for the safe transport of dangerousigdy air. If shipment is by air, complial
with the rules established by IATA is required. IATs a trade association made up of airlines andcaigo couriers that publishes ani
editions of the IATA Dangerous Goods Regulationsede regulations interpret and add to the ICAO fhieeth Instructions to reflect indus
practices. Additionally, the CDC has regulationstshed in the Code of Federal Regulations) fterstate shipping of specimens, and O
also addresses the safe handling of Class 6.2 &hdest. Our CryoPort Expre8sShipper meets Packing Instructions 602 and 650is
certified for the shipment of Class 6.2 Dangerowmd@ per the requirements of the ICAO Technicalriimsions for the Safe Transport
Dangerous Goods by Air and IATA. Our present arghped future versions of the CryoPort Smart Pak tagger will likely be subject
regulation by FAA, FCC, FDA, IATA and possibly ottegencies which may be difficult to determine agi@al basis.

We are also subject to numerous other federak stadl local laws relating to such matters as saik&ing conditions, manufacturi
practices, environmental protection, fire hazardtim, and disposal of hazardous or potentiallyandaus substances. We may incur signifi
costs to comply with such laws and regulations woww the future.

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

Manufacturing. The component parts for our products are primanignufactured at third party manufacturing facititigve also hay
a warehouse at our corporate offices in Lake Fpf@alifornia, where we are capable of manufactudegain parts and fully assemble
products. Most of the components that we use imtheufacture of our products are available fromartban one qualified supplier. For sc
components, however, there are relatively few méter sources of supply and the establishment dfiewlal or replacement suppliers may
be accomplished immediately, however, we have ifiedt alternate qualified suppliers which we beéewcould replace existil
suppliers. Should this occur, we believe that witin current level of dewars and production ratehaee enough to cover a four to six week
in maximum disruption of production.

Primary manufacturers used by us include Spauld@iognposites Company, Peterson Spinning and Stampiydgll Industria
Thermal Solutions, and Ludwig, Inc. There are nec#fir agreements with any manufacturer nor areetla@y long term commitments to
manufacturer. We believe that most of the manufasteurrently used by us could be replaced withghart period of time as none ha
proprietary component or a substantial capital $twent specific to our products.

Our production and manufacturing process incorgsratnovative technologies developed for aerospadeother industries which i
cost effective, easier to use and more functiohahtthe traditional dry ice devices and other mashourrently used for the shipmen
temperature-sensitive materials. Our manufactuprggess uses ndmazardous cleaning solutions which are provided disdosed of by
supplier approved by the Environmental Protectigrercy (the “EPA”). EPA compliance costs for ustherefore negligible.

Raw Materials. Various common raw materials are used in the i@twre of our products and in the development ol
technologies. These raw materials are generabylable from several alternate distributors and unfactures. We have not experienced
significant difficulty in obtaining these raw matds and we do not consider raw material availgbith be a significant factor in our business.




Patents and Proprietary Rights

In order to remain competitive, we must develop arantain protection on the proprietary aspect#sofechnologies. We rely or
combination of patents, copyrights, trademarksidraecret laws and confidentiality agreements ¢dept our intellectual property rights.
currently own four registered United States tradd&sand three issued United States patents priynasilering various aspects of our prodt
In addition, we have filed a patent application ¥arious aspects of our shipper and vpelotal, which includes, in part, various aspectsu
business model referred to as the CryoPort Expréss®em, and we intend to file additional patentliappions to strengthen our intellect
property rights. The technology covered by the abiadicated issued patents relates to mattersfgpezithe use of liquid nitrogen dewars
connection with the shipment of biological matesialhe concepts include those of disposabilitykpge configuration details, liquid nitrog
retention systems, systems related to thermal pedoce, systems related to packaging integrity, aradters generally relevant to
containment of liquid nitrogen. Similarly, the teadarks mentioned relate to the cryogenic tempexaghipping activity. Issued patents
trademarks currently owned by us include:

Type: No. Issued Expiration
Patent 6,467,642 Oct. 22, 2002 Oct. 21, 2022
Patent 6,119,465 Sep. 19, 2000 Sep. 18, 2020
Patent 6,539,726 Apr. 1, 2003 Mar 31, 2023
Trademark 7,583,478,7 Oct. 9, 2002 Oct. 8, 2012
Trademark 7,586,797,8 Apr. 16, 2002 Apr. 16, 2012
Trademark 7,748,667,3 Feb. 3, 2009 Feb. 3, 2019
Trademark 7,737,451,1 Mar. 17, 2009 Mar. 17, 2019

Our success depends to a significant degree upomhility to develop proprietary products and tedlogies and to obtain pat:
coverage for these products and technologies. Wéndnto file trademark and patent applications dogeany newly developed produt
methods and technologies. However, there can bguacantee that any of our pending or future filpglizations will be issued as pate
There can be no guarantee that the U.S. PatenTraamark Office or some third party will not imité an interference proceeding invoh
any of our pending applications or issued patdfitrlly, there can be no guarantee that our ispageints or future issued patents, if any,
provide adequate protection from competition.

Patents provide some degree of protection for copnetary technology. However, the pursuit ancedssn of patent rights invol
complex legal and factual determinations and, floeee are characterized by significant uncertaityaddition, the laws governing pat
issuance and the scope of patent coverage continesolve. Moreover, the patent rights we possesare pursuing generally cover
technologies to varying degrees. As a result, wectensure that patents will issue from any ofgatent applications, or that any of its iss
patents will offer meaningful protection. In additi our issued patents may be successfully chabnigvalidated, circumvented or rende
unenforceable so that our patent rights may natteran effective barrier to competition. Moreovbke laws of some foreign countries may
protect our proprietary rights to the same extasto the laws of the United States. There carotsssurance that any patents issued to u
provide a legal basis for establishing an exclusharket for our products or provide us with any petitive advantages, or that patent
others will not have an adverse effect on our ghit do business or to continue to use our teaugies freely.

We may be subject to third parties filing claimstttour technologies or products infringe on thateliectual property. We cant
predict whether third parties will assert suchrokiagainst us or whether those claims will hurtlousiness. If we are forced to defend ag.
such claims, regardless of their merit, we may famgtly litigation and diversion of managemsrattention and resources. As a result of
such disputes, we may have to develop, at a sutmtanst, noninfringing technology or enter into licensing agremts. These agreeme
may be unavailable on terms acceptable to it, afl atvhich could seriously harm our business pafficial condition.




We also rely on trade secret protection of ourlletéual property. We attempt to protect trade secby entering into confidential
agreements with third parties, employees and ctargs| although, in the past, we have not alwayainéd such agreements. It is possible
these agreements may be breached, invalidatechdemed unenforceable, and if so, our trade secmikl be disclosed to our competit
Despite the measures we have taken to protechtelteictual property, parties to such agreementg Ion@ach confidentiality provisions in ¢
contracts or infringe or misappropriate our pateatpyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and otrogrigtary rights. In addition, third part
may independently discover or invent competitiveht®logies, or reverse engineer our trade secretsther technology. Therefore, -
measures we are taking to protect our proprieesknology may not be adequate.

Customers and Distribution

As a result of growing globalization, including tvitespect to such areas as life science cliniizdstand distribution of pharmaceuti
products, the requirement for effective solutioos Keeping certain clinical samples and pharmacalproducts at frozen temperatures t
on added significance due to extended shippingstimestom delays and logistics challenges. Todagh goods are traditionally shippec
Styrofoam cardboard insulated containers packell dny ice, gel/freezer packs or a combination tbier€he current dry ice solutions hs
limitations that severely limit their effective arefficient use for both short and lomgstances (e.g., international). Conventional drg
shipments often require labor intensive “re-icimgerations resulting in higher labor and shippiogts.

We believe our patented cryogenic shippers make&velk positioned to take advantage of the growingnded for effective ar
efficient international transport of temperatur@stve materials resulting from continued globatian. Of particular significance is the tr
within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology indesttoward globalization. We believe this presemt®iew and unique opportunity
pharmaceutical companies, particularly early orefilgymental stage companies, to conduct some of tfieical trials in foreign countrit
where the cost may be cheaper and/or because rifigriaccountries significantly larger population pides a larger pool of potential patie
suffering from the indication that the drug candédis being designed to treat. We also plan toigeodomestic shipping solutions in situati
and regions where there is a high priority placedmaintaining the integrity of materials shippedgtogenic temperatures and where we
be cost effective.

To date, most of our customers have been in thenpweutical or medical industries. As we initialpcus our efforts to increa
revenues, we believe that the primary target custerfor our CryoPort Expre$sSystem are concentrated in the following marketdsthie
following reasons:

*  Pharmaceutical clinical trials / Contract Resedcbanizations;
*  Gene biotechnology;

»  Transport of infectious materials and dangerousigpo

*  Pharmaceutical distribution; and

e Fertility clinics/artificial insemination.

Pharmaceutical Clinical Trials Every pharmaceutical company developing a newg dhust be approved by the FDA who conducts @i
trials to, among other things, test the safety effitacy of the potential new drug. Presently, gngicant amount of clinical trial activity
managed by a number of large Clinical Research idzgdons (“CROs”)Due to the growing downsizing trend in the pharnogical industry
CROs are going to obtain an increasing share oflthieal trial market.

In connection with the clinical trials, due to gadilzation the companies may enroll patients fromoger the world who regular
submit a blood or other specimen at the local hakmloctors office or laboratory. These samples are thentsespecified testing laboratori
which may be local or in another country. The testiaboratories will typically set the requiremefas the storage and shipment of bl
specimens. In addition, several of the drugs ugetthd patients require frozen shipping to the sifiethe clinical trials. While both domestic ¢
international shipping of these specimens is acdishgd using dry ice today, international shipmesgpecially present several problem:
dry ice, under the best of circumstances, can pradyide freezing for one to two days, in the absenftreicing (which is quite costly). Becat
shipments of packages internationally can takedotigan one to two days or be delayed due to fligincellations, incorrect destinations, l¢
problems, ground logistics, customs delays andysagéasons, dry ice is not always a reliable arst effective option. Clinical trial specime
are often irreplaceable because each one repredmitsl data at a prescribed point in time, isaaies of specimens on a given patient,
may be participating in a trial for years. Sampitegrity during the shipping process is vital ttamneing the maximum number of patient:
each trial. Our shippers are ideally suited fos timarket, as our longer hold time ensures thatisges can be sent over long distances
minimal concern that they will arrive in a conditithat will cause their exclusion from the triahéfe are also many instances in dom
shipments where the CryoPort Expr@&hipper will provide higher reliability and be cadtective.






Furthermore, the IATA requires that all airbornépsients of laboratory specimens be transmittedthree IATA Instruction 650 ¢
602 certified packaging. We have developed andimddal ATA certification of the CryoPort Expre8sSystem, which is ideally suited for t
market, in particular due to the elimination of ttwest to return the reusable shipper.

Gene Biotechnology. The gene biotechnology market includes basicagplied research and development in diverse awgdsas stem cel
cloning, gene therapy, DNA tumor vaccines, tissogireering, genomics, and blood products. Compapgtticipating in the foregoing fiel
rely on the frozen transport of specimens in cotioeavith their research and development effors,which our CryoPort Expre$sShipper
are ideally suited.

Transport of Infectious Materials and Dangerous @®0 The transport of infectious materials must lzssified as such and must main
strict adherence to regulations that protect puddifety while maintaining the viability of the mage being shipped. Some blood products
considered infective and must be treated as su@rniaceutical companies, private research labdeatand hospitals ship tissue cultures
microbiology specimens, which are also potentidfifectious materials, between a variety of entjtieluding private and public hea
reference laboratories. Almost all specimens is fhiectious materials category require either feigerated or a frozen environment.'
believe our CryoPort Expre$§sShipper is ideally suited to meet the shipping megments of this market.

Partly in response to the attack on the World Ti@dater and the anthrax scare, government offiaiatshealth care professionals
focusing renewed attention on the possibility dbelts involving biological and chemical weaponshsas anthrax, smallpox and si
gas. Efforts expended on research and developroesdunteract biowarfare agents requires the fraemmsport of these agents to and f
facilities conducting the research and developméatcine research, including methods of vaccinévépl, also requires frozen transport.
believe our CryoPort Expre8sShipper is ideally suited to this type of reseaant development.

Pharmaceutical Distribution The current focus for the CryoPort Expré&ystem also includes the area of pharmaceuticaitiison. Ther
are a significant number of therapeutic drugs amttwnes currently or soon to be, undergoing clinigals. After the FDA approves them
commercial marketing, it will be necessary for thanufacturers to have a reliable and economicahoaetf distribution to the physician w
will administer the product to the patient. Althduthere are not now a large number of drugs raggicryogenic transport, there are a nur
in the development pipeline. It is likely that theost efficient and reliable method of distributigiill be to ship a single dosage to
administering physician. These drugs are typicigntified to individual patients and therefore lwéquire a complete tracking history fr
the manufacturer to the patient. The most reliapdthod of doing this is to ship a unit dosage Sjpadly for each patient. Because the di
require maintenance at frozen or cryogenic tempegat each such shipment will require a frozenrgogenic shipping package. CryoF
anticipates being in a position to service thatinee

Fertility Clinics. We estimate that artificial insemination progest in the United States account for at least (8D,@oses of sem
annually. Since relatively few sperm banks prowimor semen, frozenshipping is almost always involved. As with aninsaimen, hume
semen must be stored and shipped at cryogenic tampes to retain viability, stabilize the cellsdeensure reproducible results. This can
be accomplished with the use of liquid nitroge N2 dry vapor shippers. CryoPort anticipates thia market will continue to increase as
practice gains acceptance in new areas of the world




In addition to the above markets, our longer-tetamp include expanding into new markets includthg, diagnostics, food,
environmental, semiconductor and petroleum indesstri

Sales and Marketing
We currently have one internal sales person mvanages our direct sales. Our current distributltannels cover the Americas,
Europe and Asia. During the fiscal year ended M&th2010, annual net revenues from BD BioscieacesCDx Holdings, Inc. accounted for

32.1% and 18.7%, respectively, of our net revenues.

Our geographical sales for the year ended Marcl2@10 were as follows:

USA 43.6%
Europe 52.3%
Canada 4.1%

We recently entered into an agreement with FedExk we plan to further expand our sales and markedfigrts through th
establishment of additional strategic relationshiith global couriers and, subject to availablefinial resources, the hiring of additional s
and marketing personnel.

Industry and Competition

Our products and services are sold into a rapidbwiang niche of the packaging industry focused ba temperature sensit
packaging and shipping of biological materials. &xglitures for “value addedqdackaging for frozen transport have been increainthe pas
several years and, due in part to continued glpatidin, are expected to continue to increase evere m the future as more domestic
international biotechnology firms introduce phareatical products that require continuous refrigerat cryogenic temperatures. We bel
this will require a greater dependence on passiv@htrolled temperature transport systems (i.estesys having no external power source).

We believe that growth in the following markets trasulted in the need for increased efficiencied greater flexibility in th
temperature sensitive packaging market:

. Pharmaceutical clinical trials, including transpofrtissue culture samples;
. Pharmaceutical commercial product distribution;

. Transportation of diagnostic specimens;

. Transportation of infectious materials;

. Intra laboratory diagnostic testing;

. Transport of temperature-sensitive specimens byiegu

. Analysis of biological samples;

. Environmental sampling;

. Gene and stem cell biotechnology and vaccine ptextuand

. Food engineering.

Many of the biological products in these above ratgkequire transport in a frozen state as wethaseed for shipping contain
which have the ability to maintain a frozen, cryoigeenvironment (e.g., minus 150° Celsius) for aiqueranging from two to ten da
(depending on the distance and mode of shipmeh8sé products include semen, embryo, tissue, tissliares, cultures of viruses ¢
bacteria, enzymes, DNA materials, vaccines andaiteppharmaceutical products. In some instancessp@t of these products requ
temperatures at, or approaching, minus 196° Celsius




One problem faced by many companies operating eésettspecialized markets is the limited number pégenic shipping syster
serving their needs, particularly in the areasharmaceutical companies conducting clinical trifilse currently adopted protocol and the r
common method for packaging frozen transport is¢hiadustries is the use of solid state carbonidiéofdry ice). Dry ice is used extensivel
shipping to maintain a frozen state for a periodoné to four days. Dry ice is used in the transpdrimany biological products, such
pharmaceuticals, laboratory specimens and cenméctious materials that do not require true crydgéemperatures. The common approar
shipping these items via ground freight is to p#uk product in a container, such as an expandedtyotne (Styrofoam) box or a molc
polyurethane box, with a variable quantity of deg.iThe box is taped or strapped shut and shippéd tlestination with freight charges be
on its initial shipping weight.

With respect to shipments via specialized coumevises, there is no standardized method or desticeently in use for the purpose
transporting temperaturgensitive frozen biological specimens. One commathod for courier transport of biological materigsto plac
frozen specimens, refrigerated specimens, and am§pecimens into a compartmentalized containerilai in size to a 55 quart Colemar
Igloo cooler. The freezer compartment in the comriis loaded with a quantity of dry ice at minu& Telsius, while the refrigerat
compartment at 8° Celsius utilizes ice substitutes.

Two manufacturers of the polystyrene and polyumetheontainers frequently used in the shipping amdtier transport of dry ic
frozen specimens are Insulated Shipping Contaitecsand Tegrant (formerly SCA Thermosafe). Wheese containers are used with dry
the average sublimation rate (e.g., the rate athwiify ice turns from a solid to a gaseous state)dontainer with a 1/2 inch wall thickness
slightly less than three pounds per 24 hours. Oglesting refrigerant systems employ the use ofpgeks and ice substitutes for temper
maintenance. Gels and eutectic solutions (phasegaig materials) with a wide range of phasing terapges have been developed in re
years to meet the needs of products with varyimgi§ip temperature control requiremer

The use of dry ice and ice substitutes, howeveandiess of external packaging used, are frequémtlgequate because they do
provide low enough storage temperatures and, icdke of dry ice, last for only a few days withmeicing. As a result, companies run the

of increased costs due to lost specimens and additshipping charges due to the need to re-ice.

Some of the other disadvantages to using dry iceHipping or transporting temperature sensitivapcts are as follows:

. Availability of a dry ice source;

. Handling and storage of the dry ice;

. Cost of the dry ice;

. Compliance with local, state and federal regulaticeiating to the storage and use of dry ice;

. Weight of containers when packed with dry ice;

. Securing a shipping container with a high enougbaRie (which is a measure of thermal resistancéptd the dry ice ar
product for the required time period,;

. Securing a shipping container that meets the rements of IATA, the DOT, the CDC, and other requiatagencies; and

. The emission of green house gases into the envienhm

Due to the limitations of dry ice, shipment of sipeens at true cryogenic temperatures can only bermaplished using liquid nitrog
dry vapor shippers, or by shipping over actualitiguitrogen. While such shippers provide solutitmghe issues encountered when ship
with dry ice, they too are experiencing some dgtits by users or potential users. For examplecdsé for these products typically can ra
from $650 to $3,000 per unit, which can substalgti@hit their use for the transport of many commibiologics, particularly with respect
small quantities such as is the case with directht physician drug deliverBecause of the initial cost and limited productiminthes:
containers, they are designed to be reusable. Hawedkie cost of returning these heavy containers loa significant, particularly
international markets, because most applicatiogsire only oneway shipping. We expect to provide a cost effectigkition compared to d
ice. We believe we will provide an overall costisgs of 10% to 20% for international and specialtypments compared to dry ice, whili
the same time providing a higher level of suppad eelated services.
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Another problem with these existing systems reltagbe hold time of the unit in a normal, uprigiusition versus the hold time wt
the unit is placed on its side or inverted. If axtedner is laying on its side or is inverted thguld nitrogen is prone to leaking out of
container due to a combination of factors, inclgda shift in the equilibrium height of the liquidtnogen in the absorbent material and
relocation of the point of gravity, which affectgethold time and compromises the dependabilitthefdry shipper, particularly when use:
circumstances requiring lengthy shipping times. Buthe use of our proprietary technology, our Gy Expres® Shippers are not prone
leakage when on their side or inverted, therebyegtng the integrity of our shipper’s hold time.

Within our intended markets for our CryoPort Exgf@sShippers, there is limited known competition. Weend to becon
competitive by reason of our improved technologyim products and through the use of our serviabled business model. The Cryol
Express® System provides a simple and cost effective satufior the frozen or cryogenic transport of biolajicor pharmaceutic
materials. This solution if comprised of our inative dewar and is supported by the CryoPort Exg@eBortal, our web-based ordemtry
system, which manages the scheduling and shippintdpeo CryoPort Express@hippers. In addition to the traditional dry iceipping
suppliers, such as MVE/Chart Industries, Taylor Wiraand Air Liquide, offer various models of drgpor liquid nitrogen shippers that
not cost efficient for multi-use and mu#thipment purposes due to their significantly gneatet costs and unit weight (which may substatyt
increase the shipping cost). On the other haray, #nie more established and have larger organizmatiod have greater financial, operatic
sales and marketing resources and experienceéangsand development than we do. Factors thédteleve give us a competitive advant
are attributable to our shipping container whiclowas our shipper to retain liquid nitrogen whengad in nondpright positions, the over
“leak-proofness’of the our package which determines compliance slitipping regulations and the overall weight antime of the packag
which determines shipping costs, and our businestehrepresented by the merged integration of bippgr with CryoPort Express Portal
Smart Pak datalogger into a seamless shippingitg@@and monitoring solution. Other companies thidr potentially competitive produt
include Industrial Insulation Systems, which offergogenic transport units and has partnered widlnathon Products Inc., a manufacturer
global supplier of wireless temperature data ctihgcdevices used for documenting environmentadiystive products through the cold ct
and Kodiak Thermal Technologies, Inc. which offamong other containers, a repeat use acided-container that uses free piston stit
cycle technology. While not having their own shigpdevices, BioStorage Technologies is potentiallpompetitive company through tt
management services offered for colthin logistics and long term biomaterial storag¥yogena offers a single use disposable LN2 sk
with better performance than dry-ice, but it does perform as well and is not as cesfective as the CryoPort solution when all cost
considered. In addition, BioMatrica, Inc. is deymhg and offering technology that stabilizes biatad samples and research materials at |
temperature. They presently offer these technefgrimarily to research and academic institutitwsyever, their technology may eventu
enter the broader cold-chain market.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focusexntinually improving the features of the CryoPBxpress®@System including tf
web based customer service portal and the CrydBqmtess@Shippers. Further these efforts are expected tbtie¢he introduction of shippe
of varying sizes based on market requirements,tnarted of lower cost materials and utilizing highlume manufacturing methods that
make it practical to provide the cryogenic packagfésred by the CryoPort Express®stem. Other research and development effort ber
directed toward improvements to the liquid nitrogetention system to render it more reliable in gle@eral shipping environment and to
design of the outer packaging. Alternative phassngk materials in place of liquid nitrogen may beduto increase the potential markets t
shippers can serve such as ambient aBfiCmarkets. Our research and development expeaditiuring for the fiscal years ended Marck
2010 and 2009 were $284,847 and $297,378, resplctiv
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Corporate Governance

Our Board is committed to legal and ethical condadulfilling its responsibilities. The Board eapts all directors, as well as offic
and employees, to act ethically at all times anddbere to the policies comprising the CompanydeGuf Business Conduct and Ethics.
Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Company pigal the corporate governance policies and chart@epies of the following corpore
governance documents are posted on our websitear@ndvailable free of charge, at www.cryoport.cofh) Code of Business Conduct i
Ethics (2) Charter of the Nominating and Governa@oenmittee of the Board of Directors, (3) Chartethe Audit Committee of the Board
Directors, and (4) Charter of the Compensation @dteeof the Board of Directors. If you would like a ptéd copy of any of these corpol
governance documents, please send your requestytP@rt, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretan20382 Barents Sea Circle, Lake Fo
CA 92630.

Human Resources
As of March 31, 2010, we had seven full-time empkxr and six consultants. Three of the consultaot& for us on a fulktime

basis. Each of our employees has signed a cottifidighagreement and none are covered by a colletiargaining agreement. We have n
experienced employment-related work stoppages ansiader our employee relations to be good.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwdmdking information based on our current expectasio Because our actual resi
may differ materially from any forwarkboking statements made by or on behalf of CrygRbi$ section includes a discussion of impol
factors that could affect our actual future resuitscluding, but not limited to, our potential prnact and service revenues, acceptance o
products and services, expenses, net income(lass@a@nings(loss) per common she
Risks Related to Our Business

We have incurred significant losses to date and ncaytinue to incur losses.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal yeaesive commenced operations. The following tabpeasents net losses incur
in each of our last two fiscal years:

Net Loss
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2010 $ 5,651,56
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2009 $ 16,705,15

As of March 31, 2010, we had an accumulated dedic$#45,943,809. While we expect to continue towerevenues from our curre
products and services, in order to achieve andasugirofitable operations, we must successfully mmrtialize and launch our CryoF
Express® System, significantly expand our market presenckiacrease revenues. We may continue to incuetossthe future and may ne
generate revenues sufficient to become profitableo sustain profitability. Continuing losses miaypair our ability to raise the additiol
capital required to continue and expand our opemati

Our auditors have expressed doubt about our abitilycontinue as a going concern.

The Report of Independent Registered Public AcdognEirm to our March 31, 2010 consolidated finahatatements includes
explanatory paragraph stating that the recurrisgds and negative cash flows from operations simeeption and our limited working capi
and cash and cash equivalent balance at March@®l0 Paise substantial doubt about our ability tatocme as a going concern.
consolidated financial statements do not includeadjustments that might result from the outcomthi uncertainty.

If we are unable to obtain additional funding, weay have to reduce or discontinue our business oierss.

As of June 15, 2010, we had cash and cash equisatérn$2,197,878. We have expended substantialsfuord the research &
development of our products and IT systems. Aassalt, we have historically experienced negatiwhdéows from operations and we ex;
to continue to experience negative cash flows faparations in the future. Therefore, our abilibycontinue and expand our operatior
highly dependent on the amount of cash and casivagnts on hand combined with our ability to ragditional capital to fund our futt
operations.

We anticipate, based on currently proposed plark assumptions relating to our ability to market aadl our products (but r
including any additional strategic relationshipshaglobal couriers), that our cash on hand, togethith projected cash flows, will satisfy ¢
operational and capital requirements through Seip¢er®010. There are a number of uncertaintiescaged with our financial projections tl
could reduce or delay our future projected revermmescashnflows, including, but not limited to, our abilitp complete the commercializat
and launch of our CryoPort Expre8sSystem, launch our relationship with FedEX, inceeasr customer base and revenues and ente
strategic relationships with additional global dets. If our projected revenues and cadlows are reduced or delayed, we may not
sufficient capital to operate through September02@xless we raise more capital. Additionally, & are unable to realize satisfactory rew
in the near future, we will be required to seekitholdlal financing to continue our operations beydnat period. We will also require additio
financing to expand into other markets and furtthevelop and market our products. We have no cuagangements with respect to
additional financing. Consequently, there can b@ssurance that any additional financing on coriaky reasonable terms, or at all, will
available when needed. The inability to obtainitaolohl capital may reduce our ability to contintee conduct business operations. .
additional equity financing may involve substantidution to our then existing stockholders. Indaibn, raising additional funding may
complicated by certain provisions in the securitegchase agreements and related transaction dodsimes amended, entered int
connection with our prior convertible debentureafinings. The uncertainties surrounding our futagh inflows have raised substantial d
regarding our ability to continue as a going concer



13




If we are not successful in establishing strategalationships with global couriers, we may not bble to successfully increase revenues
cashflow which could adversely affect our operatgn

We believe that our near term success is best\ahiby establishing strategic relationships witbbgl couriers, such as our rec
agreement with FedEx. Such relationships will émals to provide a seamless, encetwt shipping solution to customers and allow
leverage the couriergstablished express, ground and freight infrastrastand penetrate new markets with minimal inveatm Further, w
expect that the global couriers will utilize thesiales forces to promote and sell our frozen shipmi@rvices. If we are not successft
launching our relationship with FedEx or establighidditional relationships with global couriersir sales and marketing efforts will
significantly impacted and anticipated revenue dhowill be substantially delayed which could haveaalverse affect on our operations.

Our agreement with FedEx may not result in a sigigént increase in our revenues or cashflow.

On January 13, 2010, we entered into an agreem#nfedEx pursuant to which we will lease to Fedligh number of our cryoge
shippers that FedEx shall, from time to time, offdeiits customers. FedEx has the right to andl,stva a nonexclusive basis, promote, mar
and sell transportation of our shippers and owteel valueadded goods and services, such as our data logglemportal and planned CryoF
Express Smart Pak System. Because our agreem#mfFedEx does not contain any requirement that kdd&se a minimum number
shippers from us during the term of the agreemgatmay not experience a significant increase inreuenues or cashflows as a result of
agreement. Further, while we are working with BedB implement and launch our relationship, we meperience delays in st
implementation which could adversely affect oureraves.

Current economic conditions and capital markets aire a period of disruption and instability which aedd adversely affect our ability -
access the capital markets, and thus adverselyafteir business and liquidity.

The current economic conditions and financial srisave had, and will continue to have, a negatiygaict on our ability to access
capital markets, and thus have a negative impaduorbusiness and liquidity. The shortage of liifyi and credit combined with substan
losses in worldwide equity markets could lead toeatended worldwide recession. We may face siggnifi challenges if conditions in -
capital markets do not improve. Our ability to e&s the capital markets has been and continuesdeverely restricted at a time when we |
to access such markets, which could have a negatipact on our business plans, including the consiakzation and launch of our CryoP
Express® System and other research and development adiiviiieen if we are able to raise capital, it maybeat a price or on terms that
favorable to us. We cannot predict the occurreridature financial disruptions or how long the @nt market conditions may continue.

The sale of substantial shares of our common stocty depress our stock price.
As of March 31, 2010, there were 8,136,619 shafesup common stock outstanding. Substantiallyodlthese shares of comrmr

stock are eligible for trading in the public mark@te market price of our common stock may dedfimeir stockholders sell a large numbe
shares of our common stock in the public markethemarket perceives that such sales may occur.
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We could also issue up to 8,276,519 additional ehaf our common stock including shares to be @aymn conversion of tl
outstanding balance of our convertible debentures wgpon the exercise of outstanding warrants aribrogp or reserved for future issua
under our stock incentive plans, as further deedrib the following table:

Number of Shares of Common Stock
Issuable or Reserved For Issuance

Common stock issuable upon conversion of the cudigtg balance

of our convertible debentures 1,076,856
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstandargants 5,540,532
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanojitigns

or reserved for future incentive awards under tagksincentive

plans 1,659,131

Total 8,276,519

Of the total options and warrants outstanding adlafch 31, 2010, options and warrants exercisatmeah aggregate of 38,782 share
common stock would be considered dilutive to thiueaf our stockholdershterest in CryoPort because we would receive uparcise ¢
such options and warrants an amount per sharésthests than the market price of our common stockarch 31, 2010.

We will have difficulty increasing our revenues ive experience delays, difficulties or unanticipatests in establishing the sal
distribution and marketing capabilities necessaxy successfully commercialize our products.

We are continuing to develop sales, distributiod ararketing capabilities in the Americas, Europd Asia. It will be expensive a
time-consuming for us to develop a global marketing salds network. Moreover, we may choose, or fimkgessary, to enter into additic
strategic collaborations to sell, market and distie our products. We may not be able to providkxaate incentive to our sales force ¢
establish and maintain favorable distribution aratkating collaborations with other companies tonpote our products. In addition, any tt
party with whom we have established a marketingdistlibution relationship may not devote suffidigime to the marketing and sales of
products thereby exposing us to potential expemmsesgiting such distribution agreements. We, ang af our third party collaborators, m
also market our products in compliance with fedestdte, local and international laws relatinghe provision of incentives and induceme
Violation of these laws can result in substantiehalties. Therefore, if we are unable to succégsfuotivate and expand our marketing
sales force and further develop our sales and rtingkeapabilities, or if our distributors fail tagmote our products, we will have difficu
increasing our sales.

Our ability to grow and compete in our industry Wwhe hampered if we are unable to retain the conted service of our key professionals
to identify, hire and retain additional qualified fessionals.

A critical factor to our business is our abilityatiract and retain qualified professionals inahgdkey employees and consultants.
are continually at risk of losing current profeseits or being unable to hire additional profesd®iaa needed. If we are unable to attract
qualified employees, our ability to grow will beelsely affected. If we are unable to retain aurmployees or strategic consultants,
financial condition and ability to maintain opeoats may be adversely affected.
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We are dependent on new products and servicesl|able of which would harm our competitive position.

Our future revenue stream depends to a large degreer ability to bring new products and servitesmarket on a timely basis. \
must continue to make significant investments seagch and development in order to continue toldpweew products and services, enh:i
existing products and services, and achieve madagptance of such products and services. We maeay problems in the future in innovat
and introducing new products and services. Oueldgment stage products and services may not heessfully completed or, if develop
may not achieve significant customer acceptanteelare unable to successfully define, developiatrdduce new, competitive products
services and enhance existing products and servaas future results of operations would be aduJgrsdfected. Development a
manufacturing schedules for technology products sewvices are difficult to predict, and we mightt rachieve timely initial custom
shipments of new products or launch of servicgbe timely availability of these products and seegi and their acceptance by customer
important to our future success. A delay in nevenanced product or service introductions coulkhasignificant impact on our results
operations.

Because of these risks, our research and develdpefimts may not result in any commercially vialgeoducts or services.
significant portions of these development efforte aot successfully completed, or any new or enddngroducts or services are
commercially successful, our business, financialdition and results of operations may be materiadlymed.

If we successfully develop products and/or servjdast those products and/or services do not achiawd maintain market acceptance, ¢
business will not be profitable.

The degree of acceptance of our CryoPort ExpPelsipper and/or CryoPort Expres&§stem, or any future product or services
our current target markets, and any other marketghich we attempt to sell our products and sesyiead our profitability and growth w
depend on a number of factors including, amongrethe

. our shipper’s ability to perform and preserve thtegrity of the materials shipped;
. relative convenience and ease of use of our shigpeior web portal;

. availability of alternative products;

. pricing and cost effectiveness; and

. effectiveness of our or our collaborators’ sales mrarketing strategy.

If any products or services we may develop do cbtewe market acceptance, then we may not gensuéfieient revenue to achie
or maintain profitability.

In addition, even if our products and services eohimarket acceptance, we may not be able to nraithiat market acceptance o
time if new products or services are introduced #ra more favorably received than our products samtices, are more cost effective
render our products obsolete.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to aibtpatent protection for our products and busines®del, preserve our trade secrets,
operate without infringing the proprietary rightsfathers.

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietargigion by, among other methods, filing United Ssgpatent applications related to
technology, inventions and improvements that angomant to the development of our business. Weehhree issued U.S. patents and
recently filed provisional patent application, edlating to various aspects of our products andiees. Our patents or provisional pa
application may be challenged, invalidated or aimgented in the future or the rights granted may provide a competitive advantage.
intend to vigorously protect and defend our inttlial property. Costly and timmnsuming litigation brought by us may be necesse
enforce our patents and to protect our trade searet knowhow, or to determine the enforceability, scope aaldlity of the proprietary righ
of others.

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical kinow-and continuing technological innovation to depeand maintain our competiti
position. In the past our employees, consultaatisjsors and suppliers have not always executefldemniality agreements and invent
assignment and work for hire agreements in conmeetith their employment, consulting, or advisoglationships. Consequently, we may
have adequate remedies available to us to protedhtellectual property should one of these paréitempt to use our trade secrets or refL
assign any rights he or she may have in any imtelé property he or she developed for us. Addélty, our competitors may independe
develop substantially equivalent proprietary infation and techniques or otherwise gain access t@mprietary technology, or we may
be able to meaningfully protect our rights in urpéed proprietary technology.
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We cannot assure you that our current and poteoiapetitors and other third parties have not fijedin the future will not file
patent applications for (or have not received othia future will not receive) patents or obtain iiddal proprietary rights that will preve
limit or interfere with our ability to make, use sell our products either in the United Statesnternationally. In the event we are require
license patents issued to third parties, such dieermay not be available or, if available, may motavailable on terms acceptable to us
addition, we cannot assure you that we would beessful in any attempt to redesign our productgrocesses to avoid infringement or
any such redesign could be accomplished in a effsttive manner. Accordingly, an adverse deteatiim in a judicial or administrati
proceeding or failure to obtain necessary licemsesd prevent us from manufacturing and selling puaducts or offering our services, wh
would harm our business.

We are not aware of any third party that is infamggany of our patents or trademarks nor do weelselthat we are infringing on the
patents or trademarks of any other person or ozg#on.

Our products may contain errors or defects, whichutd result in damage to our reputation, lost revess, diverted development resour
and increased service costs and litigation.

Our products must meet stringent requirements aadnust develop our products quickly to keep padh wie rapidly changir
market. Products and services as sophisticatedrascould contain undetected errors or defecpea@slly when first introduced or when n
models or versions are released. In general, mgusts may not be free from errors or defects afdenmercial shipments have begun, w
could result in damage to our reputation, lost nesss, diverted development resources, increasddnseas service and support costs,
litigation. The costs incurred in correcting ampguct errors or defects may be substantial anddcadversely affect our business, result
operations and financial condition.

If we experience manufacturing delays or interruptis in production, then we may experience custordéssatisfaction and our reputatic
could suffer.

If we fail to produce enough shippers at our owmuifacturing facility or at a third party manufaéhg facility, or if we fail tc
complete our shipper recycling processes as planmmedanay be unable to deliver shippers to our casts on a timely basis, which could |
to customer dissatisfaction and could harm ourtamn and ability to compete. We currently acquiarious component parts for our ship
from various independent manufacturers in the WniBeates. We would likely experience significaetags or cessation in producing
shippers if a labor strike, natural disaster orotsupply disruption were to occur at any of ouimsuppliers. If we are unable to procu
component from one of our manufacturers, we maydsplired to enter into arrangements with one oremalternative manufacturi
companies which may cause delays in producing loippsrs. In addition, because we depend on thartypnanufacturers, our profit marg
may be lower, which will make it more difficult fars to achieve profitability. To date, we have agperienced any material delay that
adversely impacted our operations. As our busimes®lops and the quantity of production increagtebecomes more likely that st
problems could arise.

Because we rely on a limited number of suppliere may experience difficulty in meeting our custors’ demands for our products in
timely manner or within budget.

We currently purchase key components of our pradiram a variety of outside sources. Some of tlwsaponents may only
available to us through a few sources, however,agament has identified alternative materials angpkers should the need arise.
generally do not have long-term agreements withadrour suppliers.

Consequently, in the event that our suppliers deaynterrupt the supply of components for any osaswe could potential

experience higher product costs and longer leaédstiim order fulfillment. Suppliers that we matHyiaely upon include Spaulding Compos
Company and Lydall Thermal Acoustical Sales.
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Our CryoPort Expres$® Portal may be subject to intentional disruption theould adversely impact our reputation and futusales.

We have implemented our CryoPort Expr@s8ortal which is used by our customers and busipes®mers to automate the entn
orders, prepare customs documentation and faeilfgtus and location monitoring of shipped oraérde in transit. Although we believe
have sufficient controls in place to prevent ini@m&al disruptions, we could be a target of attaskecifically designed to impede
performance of the CryoPort ExprésPBortal. Similarly, experienced computer programsmaay attempt to penetrate our CryoPort Expfess
Portal in an effort to search for and misappropriatoprietary or confidential information or causterruptions of our services. Because
techniques used by such computer programmers esaar sabotage networks change frequently andnmiage recognized until launct
against a target, we may be unable to anticipasetitechniques. Our activities could be adversigcted and our reputation, brand and fu
sales harmed if these intentionally disruptive #ffare successful.

Our products and services may expose us to liapilit excess of our current insurance coverage.

Our products and services involve significant rigk$ability, which may substantially exceed ttevenues we derive from them. We
cannot predict the magnitude of these potentibllitees.

We currently maintain general liability insuraned@th coverage in the amount of $1 million per ogence, subject to a $2 milli
annual limitation, and product liability insuraneéh a $1 million annual coverage limitation. CGhes may be made against us that exceed
limits.

Our liability policy is an “occurrencebased policy. Thus, our policy is complete whenpuechased it and following cancellatior
the policy it continues to provide coverage fowufet claims based on conduct that took place dufiegpolicy term. However, our insural
may not protect us against liability because odicjs typically have various exceptions to theirok covered and also require us to ass
some costs of the claim even though a portion @fcthim may be covered. In addition, if we expand new markets, we may not be awar
the need for, or be able to obtain insurance ca@eefar such activities or, if insurance is obtainte dollar amount of any liabilities incur
could exceed our insurance coverage. A partiathcampletely uninsured claim, if successful andsigificant magnitude, could have
material adverse effect on our business, finarcatlition and results of operations.

Complying with certain regulations that apply to gments using our products can limit our activitiesd increase our cost of operations.

Shipments using our products and services are dutgevarious regulations in the countries in whigh operate. For examg
shipments using our products may be required toptpmwith the shipping requirements promulgated bg Centers for Disease Con
(“CDC"), the Occupational Safety and Health Orgatian (“OSHA”), the Department of TransportatiodQ@T") as well as rules establist
by the International Air Transportation AssociatiPATA”) and the International Civil Aviation Orgaization (“ICAQ”). Additionally, oul
data logger may be subject to regulation and ¢satibn by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDABederal Communications Commiss
(“FCC"), and Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA” We will need to ensure that our products and sesvaomply with relevant rules &
regulations to make our products and services neles and in some cases compliance is difficuliétermine. Significant changes in s
regulations could require costly changes to oudpets and services or prevent use of our shipperarf extended period of time while we <
to comply with changed regulations. If we are deab comply with any of these rule or regulatiansfail to obtain any required approvi
our ability to market our products and services rbayadversely affected. In addition, even if we able to comply with these rules .
regulations, compliance can result in increasediscds either event, our financial results andditon may be adversely affected. We dej
on our business partners and unrelated and frelguemktnown third party agents in foreign countriesact on our behalf to complete
importation process and to make delivery of oupgéis to the final user. The failure of thesedtipiarties to perform their duties could resu
damage to the contents of the shipper resultirmy#tomer dissatisfaction or liability to us, evewe are not at fault.
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If we cannot compete effectively, we will lose mess.

Our products, services and solutions are positidadze competitive in the colchain shipping market. While there are technolal
and marketing barriers to entry, we cannot guaeatitat the barriers we are capable of producingbeilsufficient to defend the market st
we wish to gain against current and future comgetit The principal competitive factors in this ketrinclude:

. acceptance of our business model apérauseconsolidated fee structure;
. ongoing development of enhanced technical feammdshenefits;

. reductions in the manufacturing cost of competitpreducts;

. the ability to maintain and expand distribution chels;

. brand name;

. the ability to deliver our products to our customethen requested,;

. the timing of introductions of new products andvesgs; and

. financial resources.

Current and prospective competitors have substhntiseater resources, more customers, longer tipgr&istories, greater nai
recognition and more established relationshipsiénimdustry. As a result, these competitors maghide to develop and expand their netw
and product offerings more quickly, devote greatsources to the marketing and sale of their prisdand adopt more aggressive prit
policies. In addition, these competitors have mteand will likely continue to enter into businestationships to provide additional prodt
competitive to those we provide or plan to provide.

We may not be able to compete with our competitarghe industry because many of them have greatesaources than we do.

We expect to continue to experience significant arwdeasing levels of competition in the futuren dddition, there may be otl
companies which are currently developing competipivoducts and services or which may in the futieelop technologies and products
are comparable, superior or less costly than our. olRor example, some cryogenic equipment manufactwith greater resources curre
have solutions for storing and transporting cryagdiguid and gasses and may develop storage sakutthat compete with our produc
Additionally, some specialty couriers with greatesources currently provide dry ice transportatimd may develop other products in
future, both of which compete with our products.cémpetitor that has greater resources than usheagble to bring its product to mar
faster than we can and offer its product at a loprére than us to establish market share. We notypa able to successfully compete wi
competitor that has greater resources and suchet@iop may adversely affect our business.

Risks Relating to Our Current Financing Arrangements

Our outstanding convertible debentures impose carteestrictions on how we conduct our business. dddition, all of our assets, includir
our intellectual property, are pledged to securasttindebtedness. If we fail to meet our obligat®io the debenture holders, our paym
obligations may be accelerated and the collateratsring the indebtedness may be sold to satisfis¢hebligations.

We issued convertible debentures in October 200F ‘{©ctober 2007 Debentures”) and in May 2008 (tflay 2008 Debentures,”
and together with the October 2007 Debentures, Brebentures”). The Debentures were issued to four institutionak#tors and have
outstanding principal balance of $3,230,568 as afdl 31, 2010. In addition, in October 2007 and/X@08, we issued to these institutic
investors warrants to purchase, as of March 31028h aggregate of 3,055,097 shares of our comrtamk gwithout regard to benefic
ownership limitations contained in the transactdwcuments and certain auwdilution provisions). As collateral to secure aepaymer
obligations to the holders of the Debentures weetgranted such holders a first priority securitgiast in generally all of our assets, inclut
our intellectual property.
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The Debentures, warrant agreements and relatedational documents (including subsequent amendinergntain variot
covenants that presently restrict our operatingifiéty. Pursuant to the foregoing documents, way not, among other things:

. Other than the reverse stock split we effected elorary 5, 2010, which the holder of our Debentw@ssented to, effect futt
reverse stock splits of our outstanding commonkstoc

. incur additional indebtedness, except for certagmnptted indebtedness. Permitted indebtedness fisedeto include leas
obligations and purchase money indebtedness ob ap faggregate of $200,000 and indebtedness teapigssly subordinated
the Debentures and matures following the matudtye @f the Debentures;

. incur additional liens on any of our assets exdeptertain permitted liens including but not liett liens for taxes, assessm
and government charges not yet due and liens iedunrconnection with permitted indebtedness;

. pay cash dividends;

. redeem any outstanding shares of our common stoakyooutstanding options or warrants to purchasees of our common stc

except in connection with a the repurchase of sfook former directors and officers provided suepurchases do not exc
$100,000 during the term of the Debentures;

. enter into transactions with affiliates other tlemarms-length terms; and

. make any revisions to the terms of existing comtralcagreements for the Related Party Notes Payatdethe Line of Credit (
each is referred to in our Form 10-Q for the pegaded June 30, 2009).

These provisions could have important consequefozeass, including, but not limited to, (i) makingmore difficult for us to obta
additional debt financing, or obtain new debt ficiauy on terms favorable to us, because a new lenillehave to be willing to be subordini
to the debenture holders, (ii) causing us to upertion of our available cash for debt repaymernt service rather than other perceived ne
and/or (iii) impacting our ability to take advanéagf significant, perceived business opportuniti€air failure to timely repay our obligatic
under the Debentures, which require monthly priacgayments of $200,000 commencing March 1, 20Hlvenich mature on August 1, 20
or meet the covenants set forth in the Debentundsrelated transaction documents could give risa tiefault under the Debentures or ¢
transaction documents. In the event of an uncdegdult, all amounts owed to the holders may béaded immediately due and payable
the debenture holders will have the right to erdaitteir security interest in the assets securiegltbbentures. In such event, the Debe
holders could take possession of any or all ofamsets in which they hold a security interest, disdose of those assets to the extent nece
to pay off our debts, which would materially haror dusiness.

Certain of our existing stockholders own and haveetright to acquire a substantial number of shareEcommon stock.

As of March 31, 2010, our directors, executive adffs and debenture holders beneficially owned 472@6shares (without regard
beneficial ownership limitations contained in certavarrants) of common stock assuming their exerofsall outstanding warrants, options
conversion of all convertible debt; or approximgatd#.4% of our outstanding common stock. Of th&s@res of common stock, 2,059,68(
approximately 19.1% of our outstanding common staeil be beneficially owned by Enable Growth Pars LP (and affiliated fund:
and 2,072,273 shares, or approximately 19.4% ofcatstanding common stock, will be owned by BridgieRe Master Fund, Ltd. (ea
calculated without regard to the shares of comntocksthat may be acquired by the other upon theceses of its warrants); provided, howey
there are provisions in their warrant agreemerds hohibit exercise of warrants to the extent thatr respective beneficial ownership wc
exceed 4.99% as a result of such conversion orciseefwhich limitation may be waived and increase®.99% upon not less than 61 c
prior notice). As such, the concentration of bégiaff ownership of our stock may have the effectiefaying or preventing a change in cor
of CryoPort and may adversely affect the votingthrer rights of other holders of our common stock.
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Our stock and warrant price is and will continue toe volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been aodg with the warrants is likely to be, highly atle and could fluctuate wide
in price in response to various factors, many oifcWlare beyond our control, including, but not lieai to:

. technological innovations or new products and sesvby us or our competitors;

. additions or departures of key personnel;
. sales of our common stock;
. our ability to integrate operations, technologygdarcts and services;

. our ability to execute our business plan;
. operating results below expectations;

. loss of any strategic relationship;
. industry developments;
. economic and other external factors; and

. period-to-period fluctuations in our financial résu

You may consider any one of these factors to bemaht The price of our common stock and warramndy fluctuate widely as a res
of any of the above listed factors. In additione tsecurities markets have from time to time exmeed significant price and volu
fluctuations that are unrelated to the operatingigpmance of particular companies. These markedtdlations may also materially ¢
adversely affect the market price of our commoslstnd warrants.

If equity research analysts do not publish researshreports about our business or if they issue ambrable commentary or downgrade ¢
common stock and warrants, the price of our comm&tock and warrants could decline.

The trading market for our common stock and wasraielies in part on the research and reports tipaityeresearch analysts publ
about us and our business. We do not control taralysts. The price of our common stock and wsraould decline if one or more eq:
analyst downgrades our stock or if analysts issherainfavorable commentary or cease publishingrte@bout us or our business.

We have not paid dividends on our common stocklie past and do not expect to pay dividends in thee§eeable future. Any return ¢
investment may be limited to the value of our conmsiock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod do not anticipate paying cash dividend$enforeseeable future. T
payment of dividends on our common stock will depen our earnings, financial condition and othesibeiss and economic factors affec
us at such time as the Board of Directors may cemghe payment of any such dividends. In additw@ may not pay any dividends with
obtaining the prior consent of the holders of oebBntures. If we do not pay dividends, our comrmstmtk may be less valuable becau
return on your investment will only occur if thaqe of our common stock appreciates.

As a result of our recent to-1 reverse stock split, the liquidity of our canon stock and market capitalization could be adwadysaffected.
On February 5, 2010, we effected a 1Qttoeverse stock split. A reverse stock split ieofviewed negatively by the market ¢
consequently, can lead to a decrease in our overalket capitalization. In addition, because theerse split will significantly reduce 1

number of shares of our common stock that are and#tg, the liquidity of our common stock could dmbersely affected and you may fin
more difficult to purchase or sell shares of ounown stock.
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We may need additional capital, and the sale of giddal shares of common stock or other equity seities could result in additione
dilution to our stockholders.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsalaend anticipated cash flow from operations wal sufficient to meet o
anticipated cash needs for a period of 6 month& iy, however, require additional cash resourcestd changed business condition
other future developments, including any investmemtacquisitions we may decide to pursue. If @sources are insufficient to satisfy
cash requirements, we may seek to sell additiomaitye or debt securities or obtain a credit fagilifThe sale of additional equity securities
debt securities convertible into equity securitiesyld result in additional dilution to our stocktlers. The incurrence of indebtedness w
result in increased debt service obligations anddcoesult in operating and financing covenants wauld restrict our operations.

Provisions in our bylaws and Nevada law might discage, delay or prevent a change of control of ooompany or changes in o
management and, as a result, may depress the trggirice of our common stock.

Provisions of our bylaws and Nevada law may disagar delay or prevent a merger, acquisition orrot@ange in control th
stockholders may consider favorable, including gseantions in which you might otherwise receive anpuen for your shares of our comrmr
stock. The relevant bylaw provisions may also pré\or frustrate attempts by our stockholders piaee or remove our management. T
provisions include advance notice requirementssfockholder proposals and nominations, and thétyalil our Board of Directors to mal
alter or repeal our bylaws.

Absent approval of our Board of Directors, our ydamay only be amended or repealmdthe affirmative vote of the holders o
least a majority of our outstanding shares of edgtibck entitled to vote.

In addition, Section 78.438 of the Nevada Revistdues prohibits a publiclpeld Nevada corporation from engaging in a bus
combination with an interested stockholder (gemgdéfined as a person which together with itsliatés owns, or within the last three ye
has owned, 10% of our voting stock, for a periodtoke years after the date of the transaction hiiclivthe person became an intere
stockholder) unless the business combination iscaegl in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and othatential antitakeover measures could limit the price that inmesimight b
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock. They could also deter potential acqsigdrour company, thereby reducing
likelihood that you could receive a premium for ygommon stock in an acquisition.

Even though we are not incorporated in Californisye may become subject to a number of provisionghefCalifornia General Corporatio
Law.

Section 2115(b) of the California Corporations Cad®oses certain requirements of California corfsoriaw on corporatior
organized outside California that, in general, dogng more than 50% of their business in Califoraied have more than 50% of tt
outstanding voting securities held of record byspes residing in California. While we are not eamtty subject to Section 2115(b), we r
become subject to it in the future.

The following summarizes some of the principaleliénces which would apply if we become subjectaatiSn 2115(b).

Under both Nevada and California law, cumulativding for the election of directors is permitted. whver, under Nevada Iz
cumulative voting must be expressly authorizechi Articles of Incorporation and our Amended andtB&d Articles of Incorporation do |
authorize cumulative voting. If we become subjeciSection 2115(b), we may be required to permit Wative voting if any stockhold
properly requests to cumulate his or her votes.

Under Nevada law, directors may be removed by tihekholders only by the vote of twbirds of the voting power of the issued
outstanding stock entitled to vote. However, @afifa law permits the removal of directors by tlwevof only a majority of the outstand
shares entitled to vote. If we become subjecteetiSn 2115(b), the removal of a director may bepatplished by a majority vote, rather ths
vote of two-thirds, of the stockholders entitled/tie.
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Under California law, the corporation must taketaiar steps to be allowed to provide for greateemdification of its officers ar
directors than is provided in the California Cogatesn Code. If we become subject to Section 21)1 %l ability to indemnify our officers a
directors may be limited by California law.

Nevada law permits distributions to stockholderdoag as, after the distribution, (i) the corpopativould be able to pay its debt:s
they become due and (i) the corporat®total assets are at least equal to its lialsligied preferential dissolution obligations. Undalifornia
law, distributions may be made to stockholdersaag las the corporation would be able to pay itstslals they mature and either (i)
corporation’s retained earnings equals or excebdsamount of the proposed distributions, or (ifeathe distributions, the corporatian’
tangible assets are at least 125% of its liabdliied the corporatios’current assets are at least equal to its culigdgilities (or, 125% of it
current liabilities if the corporatios’average operating income for the two most regeatnpleted fiscal years was less than the averatie
interest expense of the corporation for those figears). If we become subject to Section 2115%), will have to satisfy more string
financial requirements to be able to pay dividetw®ur stockholders. Additionally, stockholdersynize liable to the corporation if we
dividends in violation of California law.

California law permits a corporation to provide psumajority vote”provisions in its Articles of Incorporation, whishould requir
specific actions to obtain greater than a majaftyhe votes, but not more than 66 2/3 percentvada law does not permit supermajority
provisions. If we become subject to Section 21),5¢bs possible that our stockholders would vimteamend our Articles of Incorporation ¢
require a supermajority vote for us to take sped@ifitions.

Under California law, in a disposition of substaflji of all the corporatiors assets, if the acquiring party is in control ofunde
common control with the disposing corporation, fiigcipal terms of the sale must be approved byp®&@ent of the stockholders. Althot
Nevada law does contain certain rules governingrésted stockholder business combinations, it desrequire similar stockholc
approval. If we become subject to Section 211548)may have to obtain the vote of a greater péagenof the stockholders to approve a
of our assets to a party that is in control ofunder common control with, us.

California law places certain additional approvights in connection with a merger if all of the stm of each class or series ¢
corporation are not treated equally or if the sting or parent party to a merger represents mae 89 percent of the voting power of the o
corporation prior to the merger. Nevada law dossrequire such approval. If we become subje&edotion 2115(b), we may have to obts
the vote of a greater percentage of the stockhelgeapprove a merger that treats shares of a atas=ries differently or where a surviving
parent party to the merger represents more than@Q@be voting power of the other corporation ptiothe merger.

California law requires the vote of each classgprave a reorganization or a conversion of a cafiam into another entity. Neve
law does not require a separate vote for each.dfase become subject to Section 2115(b), we mayehto obtain the approval of each cla
we desire to reorganize or convert into anothee tyfpentity.

California law provides greater dissenterigihts to stockholders than Nevada law. If we lmeecsubject to Section 2115(b), m
stockholders may be entitled to dissenters’ rightsch may limit our ability to merge with anothenmtity or reorganize.

Our stock is deemed to be penny stock.

Our stock is currently traded on the OTC BulletioaBd and is subject to the “penny stock ruladdpted pursuant to Section 15(g
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended “filichange Act”). The penny stock rules apply to companies not listedh nation:
exchange whose common stock trades at less th@f $Br share or which have tangible net worth s$ lihan $5,000,000 ($2,000,000 if
company has been operating for three or more ye&sg¢h rules require, among other things, thakdnowho trade “penny stockd person
other than “established customersmplete certain documentation, make suitabilityuiries of investors and provide investors withtaie
information concerning trading in the security,liring a risk disclosure document and quote infdiomaunder certain circumstances. Pe
stocks sold in violation of the applicable rulesyreatitle the buyer of the stock to rescind the sadd receive a full refund from the broker.
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Many brokers have decided not to trade “penny Stbekcause of the requirements of the penny stock and, as a result, the nunm
of broker-dealers willing to act as market makarsuch securities is limited. In the event thatremain subject to the “penny stock ruldsi’
any significant period, there may develop an advérgact on the market, if any, for our securiti@ecause our securities are subject t
“penny stock rules,investors will find it more difficult to dispose @fur securities. Further, for companies whose ritgesi are traded in tl
OTC Bulletin Board, it is more difficult: (i) to dhin accurate quotations, (ii) to obtain coveragresignificant news events because major
services, such as the Dow Jones News Service, @neéo not publish press releases about such coi@paand (iii) to obtain needed capital.

If we fail to maintain effective internal controlgver financial reporting, the price of our commonack may be adversely affecte

Our internal controls over financial reporting miagve weaknesses and conditions that could reqoimeation or remediation, t
disclosure of which may have an adverse impacthenprice of our common stock. We are requiredstaldish and maintain appropri
internal controls over financial reporting. Faduo establish those controls (or any failure afsthcontrols once established) could adve
impact our public disclosures regarding our busindéimancial condition or results of operations dddition, managemest'assessment
internal controls over financial reporting may idtgnweaknesses and conditions that need to beeaddd in our internal controls over finan
reporting or other matters that may raise concmmvestors. Any actual or perceived weaknessesconditions that need to be address
our internal control over financial reporting, d@sure of managemest'assessment of our internal controls over findn@porting, o
disclosure of our independent registered publioanting firm’s attestation to the effectiveness of our intecoaltrols over financial reportir
when required, may have an adverse impact on the pf our common stock.

Standards for compliance with Section 404 of therBanesOxley Act of 2002 are uncertain, and if we fail tomply in a timel
manner, our business could be harmed and our stpecice could decline.

Rules adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 4GAeBarbane®xley Act of 2002 require an annual assessmentuofirderna
controls over financial reporting, and attestategfrour assessment by our independent registereticpadrounting firm. The standards t
must be met for management to assess the inteamfots over financial reporting as effective arlging and complex, and requ
significant documentation, testing, and possibfeadiation to meet the detailed standards. We éxpemntinue to incur significant expen
and to devote resources to continued Section 46¥kance during the remainder of fiscal 2011 andwormongoing basis. It is difficult for us
predict how long it will take or how costly it wilbe to complete the assessment of the effectivemiessr internal controls over financ
reporting to the satisfaction of our independentstered public accounting firm for each year, &mdemediate any deficiencies in our inte
controls over financial reporting. As a result, may not be able to complete the assessment anediation process on a timely basis
addition, the attestation process by our independagistered public accounting firm will be new ffiscal 2011 and we may encour
problems or delays in completing the implementatiérany requested improvements and receiving astation of our assessment by
independent registered public accounting firm.tha event that our Chief Executive Officer, Chigidncial Officer or independent registe
public accounting firm determines that our interoahtrols over financial reporting are not effeetizs defined under Section 404, we ca
predict how regulators will react or how the margete of our common stock will be affected; howewee believe that there is a risk t
investor confidence and share value may be nedgaiivgpacted.
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If we fail to remain current in our reporting requiements, our securities could be removed from th€@Bulletin Board, which would limi
the ability of broker-dealers to sell our securii@nd the ability of stockholders to sell their seities in the secondary market.

Companies trading on the OTC Bulletin Board mustdporting issuers under Section 12 of the Exchakgeand must be current
their reports under Section 13, in order to mamfaice quotation privileges on the OTC BulletinaBad. If we fail to remain current on ¢
reporting requirements, we could be removed froen@T C Bulletin Board. As a result, the market idtity for our securities could be sevet
adversely affected by limiting the ability of brokaealers to sell our securities and the ability tockholders to sell their securities in
secondary market.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own real property. We currently lease faailities, with approximately 12,008quare feet of corporate, research and develop
and warehouse facilities, located at 20 382 Bar&eis Circle, Lake Forest, CA 926a0d five (5) executive offices located at 402 V
Broadway, San Diego, CA 92101. The Company otiremakes base lease payments of approximatel®,800 per month, due at t
beginning of each monthQn August 24, 2009, the Company entered into tberse amendment to the lease for its manufactunmcdfice
space. The amendment extended the lease for twtveths from the end of the existing lease term \aittight to cancel the lease wit
minimum of 120 day written notice at anytime adNavember 30, 2009n June 2010, Company entered into the third amemtto the leas
for its manufacturing and office space. The amendregtended the lease for sixty months commenaihg 1, 2010 with a right to cancel 1
lease with a minimum of 120 day written notice aytame as of December 31, 2012. On April 15, 20tb@ Company entered into off
service agreements with Regus Management Group, (LUeGsor) for five(5) executive offices located at 402 West Broadw@gn Diegc
CA 92101.The office service agreements are for periods rapfiom 3 to 7 months ending October 31, 2010. dffiee service agreemel
require base lease payments of approximately $5&00nonthWe believe that these facilities are adequateallgitand of sufficient capac
to support our immediate needs. Additional spacg bearequired, howeveras we expand our research and development, nautifey ani
selling and marketing activities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are at tisodgect to various legal proceedings and dispuiés.currently are not aware of
such legal proceedings or claim that we believé hdl/e, individually or in the aggregate, a mateaidverse effect on our business, oper:
results or cash flows.

ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED

Not applicable
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDERS' MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

@) Market Information. The Company common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Boamder the symb
“CYRX.OB.” The following table shows the high afalv sales price of the Compamsytommon stock for each quarter in the two yeadee
March 31, 2010:

Common Stock

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal Year 2010
Quarter Ended March 31, 2010 $10.50 $1.65
Quarter Ended December 31, 2009 $5.40 $3.80
Quarter Ended September 30, 2009 $7.00 $3.70
Quarter Ended June 30, 2009 $9.00 $4.10
Fiscal Year 2009
Quarter Ended March 31, 2009 $6.50 $3.00
Quarter Ended December 31, 2008 $7.90 $4.20
Quarter Ended September 30, 2008 $10.10 $5.00
Quarter Ended June 30, 2008 $12.00 $6.10

(b) Holders. As of June 15, 2010, the number of stockholdérsaord of the Company's common stock was 162.

(©) Dividends. No dividends on common stock have been declargrhiol by the Company. The Company intends to ey

all available funds for the development of its Inesis and, accordingly, does not intend to pay ask dividends in the foreseeable future.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity @ensation. The information included under Item 12 of Pattd this
Annual Report is hereby incorporated by referente this Iltem 5 of Part Il of this Annual Report.

(e) Recent Sale of Unregistered SecuritiesThe following is a summary of transactions by thempany during the pe
guarter involving the issuance and sale of the Gomis securities that were not registered under theires Act of 1933, as amended |
“Securities Act”).All securities sold by the Company were sold toivitlals, trusts or others who were accredited $twes as defined unc
Regulation D under the Securities Act, as amended.

On February 25, 2010, as a result of the Compsapyblic offering of units, the exercise price eftain outstanding warrants held t
former investment banker was reduced to $3.30 lp@reswhich resulted in a proportionate increasentimber of shares of common stock
may be purchased upon the exercise of such wamébis,644 shares of common stock. In additioa, Glmmpany issued fully vested warr:
to purchase 17,500 shares of common stock repiegeftto of the warrants issued to Enable and Bridgep in the public offering.

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, tmgany issued fully vested warrants to purchas@0l6shares of common stc
to Emergent Financial for continued shareholdepsupservices. The exercise price of the warramts $1.91 per share.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has beenveerifrom audited consolidated financial statemefithe Company for each of 1
five years in the period ended March 31, 2010. séheelected financial summaries should be readrijunction with the financial informatit
contained for each of the two years in the perindeel March 31, 2010, included in the consolidatedrftial statements and notes the
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Resul@p#rations and Financial Condition, and other imf@tion provided elsewhere herein.

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Data:

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross loss

Selling, general and administrativ
Research and development

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other (expense) income:
Interest income
Interest expense

Loss on sale of fixed assets
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of derivative

liabilities

Net loss before income tax
Income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per common share, basic

diluted

Weighted average shares used in
computing net loss per common shart

basic and diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents
Working capital (deficit)
Total assets
Convertible notes, net

Years Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2010 2009
11e  $ 3E 3
71¢€ 54¢€
(600) (511
3,31: 2,38
284 297
3,597 2,68¢
(4,197) (3,19%)
8 32
(7,029 (2,699
9
— (10,84Y)
5,571 —
(5,650 (16,709
2 2
(5,652 $ (16,709 $
(119 $ (4.09 $
5,011 4,12¢
As of March 31,
(in thousands)
2010 2009
3,63C $ 25C $
1,99t (3,699
4,771 1,57:
2,50z 3,88¢

2008

84 $
38€
(302)

2,551
16€

2,717
(3.019)

50
(1,599

(4,562)
2

(4,569 $

(110 $

3,94:

2008

2,231 %
981
3,461
902

2007 2006
67 152
$

177 31€
(110 (164)
1,89¢ 1,02¢

88 254

1,987 1,271
(2,097) (1,449
(229) (80)
(2,325) (1,52)

2) 1
(2,327) $ (1,522)
©.79 $ (0.51)
3,09¢ 2,98¢

2007 2006

264 $ 5
(479) (53¢)

484 294

96 —



Other long-term obligations 1,47¢ 1,601 1,711 1,85 1,67¢
Accumulated deficit (45,949 (30,639 (13,929 (9,36%) (7,039
Total stockholders’ deficit (915) (4,77¢) — (2,289 (2,150
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwémdking statements that have been made pursuahetprovisions of the Prive
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and contenatters that involve risks and uncertainties t@ild cause actual results to di
materially from those projected in the forward-loak statements. Discussions containing forwaaking statements may be found in
material set forth under “Business,” “Managemeimiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d&essults of Operationsdnd in othe
sections of this Form 10-K. Words such as “may;,’ilfiiv‘should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,”
“potential,” “continue” or similar words are inteed to identify forward-looking statements, althougth all forwardlooking statements contz
these words. Although we believe that our opiniand expectations reflected in the forwdwdking statements are reasonable as of the d
this Annual Report on Form 1K- we cannot guarantee future results, levels @fiag, performance or achievements, and our acteallt:
may differ substantially from the views and expgotes set forth in this Annual Report on Form KOWe expressly disclaim any intent
obligation to update any forwatdeking statements after the date hereof to confeuth statements to actual results or to changes
opinions or expectations. Readers are urged tdfutgreeview and consider the various disclosureadm by us, which attempt to ad\
interested parties of the risks, uncertainties, ather factors that affect our business, set forttetail in Item 1A of Part |, under the heac
“Risk Factors.”

The following discussion and analysis should bel i@eaconjunction with our consolidated financiateiments and the related note
those statements contained elsewhere in this ArRkepbdrt on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a provider of an innovative cold chain froshipping system dedicated to providing supeaffigrdable cryogenic shippil
solutions that ensure the safety, status and teahper of high value, temperature sensitive mdgerid/e have developed cost effec
reusable cryogenic transport containers (refercecéd "shippers") capable of transporting biologi@ivironmental and other tempera
sensitive materials at temperatures below 0° Czlsithese dry vapor shippers are one of the figsifecant alternatives to dry ice shipping
achieve 10-plus day holding times compared to onte/d day holding times with dry ice.

Our value proposition comes from both providingesaénsportation and an environmentally friendbyng lasting shipper, and throt
our value added services that offer a simple hdsséesolution for our customers. These value-ddskrvices include an internesed we
portal that enables the customer to initiate sclieglushipping and tracking of the progress andustaf a shipment, and providestmansi
temperature and custody transfer monitoring sesvide¢he shipper. The CryoPort service also pravaéully ready charged shipper contair
all freight bills, customs documents and regulaaperwork for the entire journey of the shippeotio customers at their pick up location.

Our principal focus has been the further develognaed commercial launch of CryoPort ExpredR@rtal, an innovative IT soluti
for shipping and tracking high-value specimens ufgto overnight shipping companies, and our Cryofompress®Shipper, a dry vap
cryogenic shipper for the transport of biologicatlgpharmaceutical materials. A dry vapor cryogesfiipper is a container that uses lic
nitrogen in dry vapor form, which is suspendeddesa vacuum insulated bottle as a refrigerantréoige storage temperatures below m
150° Celsius. The dry vapor shipper is designedgusinovative, proprietary, and patented technglediich prevents spillage of ligt
nitrogen and pressure build up as the liquid ngrogvaporates. A proprietary foam retention sysgemployed to ensure that liquid nitro
stays inside the vacuum container, even when plagsidedown or on its side, as is often the case wherhéndustody of a shippil
company. Biological specimens are stored in aispat chamber, referred to as a “wellyside the container and refrigeration is providhg
harmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from the liguittogen entrapped within the foam retention systwurrounding the well. Biologic
specimens transported using our cryogenic shipaerirclude clinical samples, diagnostics, live gdlarmaceutical products (such as ca
vaccines, semen and embryos, infectious substanodsyther items that require and/or are protetttezligh continuous exposure to froze
cryogenic temperatures (below minus 150° Celsius).
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During our early years, our limited revenue waswier from the sale of our reusable product lineir Qurrent business plan focu
on per-use leasing of the shipping container arskad/alue services that will be used by us to mlevan end-to-end and cagttimizec
shipping solution to life science companies moyphgrmaceutical and biological samples in clinical$ and pharmaceutical distribution.

We have incurred losses since inception and hadtemmulated deficit of $45,943,809 through MarchZ3110.
Results of Operations
Years Ended March 31, 2010 and 2009

Revenue:. Net revenues were $117,956 in fiscal 2010, aspeoed to $35,124 in fiscal 2009. The low revenuethése years were prima
due to the Company’s shift initiated in m206 in its sales and marketing focus from the ables shipper product line. The Comp
discontinued sales of the reusable shippers tavaltsources to focus on further development anddawf the CryoPort Express@&ystem an
its introduction into the biopharmaceutical indyssector during fiscal 2009, which resulted in therease in sales period over period.

slow increase in shipper revenues during the twoafiyears was also the result of delays in the gamy securing adequate funding for
manufacturing and full commercialization of the GPprt Express® System.

Gross loss and cost of revenu@soss loss for 2010 was 508%, or $599,754 as caedparl,455%, or $511,028, for fiscal 2009. Therelas
in gross loss in fiscal 2010 as compared to fi2€@9 was primarily the result of the increase weraies from peuse leasing of the shippi
containers. During both periods, cost of salegeded sales due to fixed manufacturing costs ard phderutilization.

Cost of revenues was $717,710 in fiscal 2010, agpened to $546,152 in fiscal 2009. The increasesis of revenues sold during each o
two years is primarily the result of the write affie to the discontinuation of the reusable shipped increased focus on the Cryol
Express® System. During both periods, cost ofssaleeeded sales due to fixed manufacturing costglant underutilization.

Research and development exper. Research and development expenses were $2848ikcal 2010, $297,378 in fiscal 2009. and Cu
period expenses included consulting costs assdciatth software development for the web based syste be used with the CryoP
Express® Shipper, and other research and develdpactnity related to the CryoPort Expres$®stem, as the Company strove to dev
improvements in both the manufacturing processdgpamduct materials for the purpose of achievinditaahal product cost efficiencies.
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Selling, general and administrative expens&elling, general and administrative expenses %8r812,635 in fiscal 2010, $2,387,287 in fi
2009. The $925,348 increase in fiscal 2010 as cosdp® fiscal 2009 was primarily attributable tglér general and administrative expe
associated with an increase in salaries and wafe&&&b,000 and consulting fees of $435,000 assetiatith the Companyg’ strategi
partnering activities and debt restructuring.

Stock-based compensation costotal stockbased compensation costs for the years ended Narch010 and 2009 were $559,561
$289,497, respectively. During the year ended M&1th2010, we granted options to employees andtdire to purchase 190,553 share
common stock and warrants to purchase 21,000 sb&a@smmon stock at a weighted average exercise mfi $3.53 per share. The exer
prices of options and warrants were equal to thherarket value of our common stock at the time@int.

Interest income. Interest income was $8,164 in fiscal 2010 and,@32 in fiscal 2009. The decrease in interest ireamfiscal 2010 we
primarily attributable to the overall reductioniimierest rates and lower cash balances.

Interest expenst. Interest expense was $7,028,684 in fiscal 201)698,383 in fiscal 2009. Interest expense in fi2@10 include
amortization of debt discount of $6,417,346 and wired financing fees of $159,516, primarily duethhe convertible debentures issue
October 2007, May 2008 and the Private PlacemerteBeres. Included in fiscal 2010 and fiscal 208%he impact of the change
accounting principle as required by the Debt witin@ersion and Other Options Topic of the FASB Actng Standards Codification, whi
required retrospective application.

Loss on extinguishment of de. The loss on extinguishment of debt of $10,846,Bi7f&scal 2009 is due to the resulting changgdtuation o
the debt and related warrants associated with aments to the October 2007 Debentures enteredringgiil 2008, August 2008 and Janu
2009 and the change in valuation of the debt ardte® warrants associated with the January 2009ndment to the May 20I
Debentures The loss consists of a combined togal dn extinguishment of debt on the October 208@eDtures of $9,449,498 and $1,397
on the May 2008 Debenture. There was no loss angxishment of debt during the year ended March2810.

Gain (loss) on derivative valuatioBerivative valuation was a gain of $5,576,979 stéil 2010. In fiscal 2010, the gain was due todoptor
of a new accounting principle, which resulted ireelassification of the fair value of warrants ambedded conversion features from equi
derivative liabilities that are marked to fair valat each reporting period. The impact of the chaingaccounting principle and change
market value of the derivative liabilities durifgetcurrent period resulted in the recognition g

Income taxe. We incurred net operating losses for the yeadeémarch 31, 2010 and2009 and consequently digpanpiany federal, state
foreign income taxes. At March 31, 2010, we hadefatl and state net operating loss carryforwardspgroximately $27,463,000 ¢
$27,621,000, respectively, which we have fully reed due to the uncertainty of realization. Ourefeed tax loss carryforwards will begin
expire in fiscal 2019, unless utilized. Our Calif@ar tax loss carryforwards will begin to expirefiacal 2013, unless utilized. We also h
federal and California research tax credit carnBnds of approximately $14,000 and $13,000, respsdgt Our federal research tax cre
will begin to expire in fiscal 2026, unless utilizeOur California research tax credit carryforwants not expire and will carryforwa
indefinitely until utilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2010, the Company had cash and egsivalents of $3,629,886 and working capital b©0$4,934. The Compary’
working capital at March 31, 2010 included $334,868lerivative liabilities, the balance of whictpresented the fair value of warrants rel
to the Company convertible debentures and also issued to camsltvhich were reclassified from equity during yfear ended March &
2010. As of March 31, 2009, the Company had cashcash equivalents of $249,758 and negative wgrapital of $3,693,015. Historical
we have financed our operations primarily througles of our debt and equity securities. Since M&@b5, we have received net proceec
approximately $15.7 million from sales of our commsdock and the issuance of promissory notes, wrand debt.
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During fiscal 2010, we used $2,853,359 of cashofoerations primarily as a result of the net los$,651,561 including a nocast
gain of $5,576,979 due to the change in valuatioous derivative liabilities and non cash expenst£$6,417,346 due primarily to disco
amortization related to our convertible debt instemts. Offsetting the cash impact of our net ojfragdbss (excluding norash items) was .
increase in accrued interest payable of $335,88@apily due to our Private Placement Debentures @amdncrease in accounts payabl
$300,454 due primarily to increased general andigidtrative expenses.

During fiscal 2009, we used $2,586,470 of cash faparations primarily as a result of the net l06$16,705,151 offset by loss
extinguishment of debt of $10,846,573, amortizatiddrdebt discount on convertible notes of $2,228,1dmortization of deferred financi
costs related to the convertible notes of $42,28#cash stoclkased compensation costs of $948,569, depreciatidramortization expense
$81,984 and a change in operating assets andtiedbibf $17,618.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $838,during fiscal 2010, primarily attributable toetdecrease in restricted casl
$10,000, offset by the purchase of equipment $BL&2 the purchase of intangible assets of $286,8et cash provided by invest
activities totaled $485 during fiscal 2009, prinharattributable to the decrease in restricted cabl$108,844, offset by the purchase
equipment of $58,578 and the purchase of intangi$ets of $49,781.

Net cash provided by financing activities totalésj3%¥2,361 in fiscal 2010, primarily resulting frdire receipt of the proceeds ne
cash paid for offering costs from our public offeriof common stock of $4,046,863, the proceeds fitemissuance of our Private Placer
Debentures of $1,321,500 and gross proceeds frarcisg of options and warrants of $1,437,100, whvehe partially offset by payment
deferred financing costs of $92,520 and paymentswirelated party notes payable and notes payabiéficer of $120,000 and $143,9
respectively. Net cash provided by financing atés totaled $604,712 in fiscal 2009, primarilyated to receipt of the proceeds from our |
2008 Debentures of $1,122,500 and proceeds fromtiereof options and warrants of $3,307, which waaetially offset by payment on t
October 2007 Convertible Debentures of $117,72@meet of deferred financing costs of $191,875, payis on our notes payable
$186,000 and payments on the line of credit of $2®,

As discussed in Note 1 of the accompanying conatdil financial statements, there exists substastiabt regarding the Company’
ability to continue as a going concern. The Comypaill need to raise additional capital through asmemore methods, including but
limited to, issuing additional equity, in orderfitmnd our working capital needs and complete thernengial launch of our CryoPort Expré&ss
System. On February 25, 2010 we completed a puffering of units consisting of 1,666,667 sharédscommon stock and warrants
purchase 1,666,667 shares of common stock at anisxerice of $3.30, for gross proceeds of $500D,and net proceeds of approxima
$3,742,097. As a result of these recent financargsthe public offering, the Company had an aggeegash and cash equivalents balan
$3,629,886 as of March 31, 2010 which will be usedund the working capital required for minimalesptions including limited inventc
build up as well as limited sales efforts to adwatiee Company’s commercialization of the CryoPopriess®Shippers until additional capi
is obtained.Management has estimated that cash on hand as whN., 2010, will be sufficient to allow the Conmyato continue it
operations only into the second quarter of fis€dl2 Company management recognizes that the Company mushaddditional capital fc
the achievement of sustained profitable operatiddanagemensg plans include obtaining additional capital thdowuity and debt fundii
sources; however, no assurance can be given tHatomdl capital, if needed, will be available whesguired or upon terms acceptable tc
Company.
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We have never been profitable, and we might negeoime profitable. As of March 31, 2010, our acclated deficit was $45,943,8
(including a noreash valuation adjustment of $9,657,893, includinget loss of $5,651,561 for the year ended Matgh2B®10) and o1
stockholders’ deficit was $914,575.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gditions as of June 15, 2010 (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating Lease Obligations $ 49t $ M 3 177 $ 201 % 27
Convertible Debentures (1) 3,231 20C 3,031 — —
Other Long-term Debt Obligations (2) 1,01 15C 20¢ 192 462
Total: $ 4,736 $ 44C  $ 341¢ % 39 % 48¢

(1) The Company issued convertible debentures dtolier 2007 (the “October 2007 Debentures”) andMimy 2008 (the May 200¢
Debentures,” and together with the October 2007 ebabes, the “Debentures”Yhe Debentures were issued to four instituti
investors and have an outstanding principal balaofc3,230,568 as of March 31, 2010. As collatdmlsecure our repaymt
obligations to the holders of the Debentures weehgranted such holders a first priority securitierast in generally all of our ass
including our intellectual property.

2 Represents unsecured indebtedness owed to figeedeparties, including four former members of tloard of directors, for capi
advances made to the Company from February 20@Ldhr March 2005. These notes bear interest atateeaf 6% per annum a
provide for aggregate monthly principal paymentsalvtbegan April 1, 2006 of $2,500, and which insedhby an aggregate of $2,!
every nine months to a maximum of $10,000 per moath of March 31, 2010, the aggregate principainpants totaled $10,000 |
month. Any remaining unpaid principal and accrirgdrest is due at maturity on various dates thihoMgrch 1, 2015.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults of operations, as well as disclosurelsided elsewhere in tt
Annual Report on Form 1K; are based upon our consolidated financial states) which have been prepared in accordance wis:
generally accepted accounting principles. Our §iicanit accounting policies are described in theeadb the audited consolidated finar
statements contained elsewhere in this Annual ReporForm 10-K. Included within these policies anar “critical accounting policies.”
Critical accounting policies are those policiestthee most important to the preparation of our otidated financial statements and req
managemen$ most subjective and complex judgment due to #exlrio make estimates about matters that are mtherencertain. Althoug
we believe that our estimates and assumptionseasonable, actual results may differ significafiityn these estimates. Changes in estin
and assumptions based upon actual results mayahaagerial impact on our results of operations anfiiancial condition.

We believe that the critical accounting policieattmost impact the consolidated financial statesarg as described below.
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Revenue Recognitio
Per Use Revenue

We recognize revenues from product sales when thgrersuasive evidence that an arrangement ewikes) title has passed, the p
is fixed or determinable, and we are reasonablyradsof collecting the resulting receivable. Ther@any records a provision for claims be
upon historical experience. Actual claims in antufa period may differ from the Compasyestimates. During its early years, the Comp
limited revenue was derived from the sale of owsable product line. The Company's current busipkss focuses on perse leasing of tt
shipping container and value-added services thabwiused by us to provide an end-to-end and ep8trized shipping solution.

The Company provides shipping containers to thastamers and charges a fee in exchange for theousiee container. Tt
Company’arrangements are similar to the accounting stanidarigases since they convey the right to usectimeainers over a period of tirr
The Company retains title to the containers andigss its customers the use of the container fpexified shipping cycle. At the culminat
of the customer’s shipping cycle, tlkentainer is returned to the Company. As a resutius new business plan, during the quarter e
September 30, 2009, the Company reclassified tmtaceers from inventory to fixed assets upon conueerent of the loanedentaine
program.

Inventory

The Company writes down its inventories for estedabbsolescence or unmarketable inventory equdiealifference between {
cost of inventory and the estimated market vallseaipon assumptions about future demand, futicengrand market conditions. Invent
reserve costs are subject to estimates made lydimpany based on historical experience, inventagntties, age of inventory and any knc
expectations for product changes. If actual futdeenands, future pricing or market conditions agsl|favorable than those projectec
management, additional inventory wridewns may be required and the differences couldnbterial. Such differences might significai
impact cash flows from operating activities. Orestablished, writelowns are considered permanent adjustments to dbiebasis of tr
obsolete or unmarketable inventories.

During its early years, the Company's limited rexeemwas derived from the sale of our reusable prolilue. The Company's curre
business plan focuses on per-use leasing of tippisigi container and value-added services thatbeilused by us to provide an endettd an
cost-optimized shipping solution.

The Company provides shipping containers to itéacners and charges a fee in exchange for the ube aontainer. The Company’
arrangements are similar to the accounting stanftarteases since they convey the right to usecthr@ainers over a period of time. ~
Company retains title to the containers and pravitie customers the use of the container for aiipéshipping cycle. At the culmination
the customes shipping cycle, the container is returned to @menpany. As a result of our current business pilaming the quarter end
September 30, 2009, the Company reclassified tmtaceers from inventory to fixed assets upon conueerent of the loanedentaine
program.
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Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumutlpreciation and amortization. Depreciation andriization of fixed assets ¢
provided using the straight-line method over tHefang useful lives:

Furniture and fixtures 7 year:
Machinery and equipment 5-7 year:
Leasehold improvements Lesser of lease term or estimated usefu

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repaiitsetki@nd the lives of the assets are capitaliz8teraepairs and maintenance cha
are expensed as incurred. The cost and relatadmadated depreciation and amortization applicabl@agsets retired are removed from
accounts, and the gain or loss on dispositiondegrized in current operations.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of patents andrnratks and software development costs. The Comgegritalizes costs of obtaini
patents and trademarks which are amortized, ugirgstraightine method over their estimated useful life ofefiyears. The Compa
capitalizes certain costs related to software age for internal use. Software development castsirred during the preliminary
maintenance project stages are expensed as incunéd costs incurred during the application depehent stage are capitalized and amor
using the straighline method over the estimated useful life of tbétveare, which is five years. Capitalized costsludle purchased materi
and costs of services including the valuation

Impairment of Lonc-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of its-lmed assets by determining whether the depremiaéind amortization of long-
lived assets over their remaining lives can bevered through projected undiscounted cash flowse dmount of londived asset impairme
is measured based on fair value and is chargedpe&rations in the period in which lodiged asset impairment is determined
management. Manufacturing fixed assets are sutgjetisolescence potential as result of changeastomer demands, manufacturing pro
changes and changes in materials used. The Conigpany currently aware of any such changes thaildvoause impairment to the value o
manufacturing fixed assets.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation costs for all stock-baseatds made to employees and directors. The &revof stocksased awards
estimated at grant date using an option pricingehadd the portion that is ultimately expected éstvs recognized as compensation cost
the requisite service period.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model tineste the fair value of stodiased awards. The determination of fair value
the Black-Scholes optiopricing model is affected by our stock price aslvasl assumptions regarding a number of complexsatgective
variables, including expected stock price volatjlitisk-free interest rate, expected dividends and prajeetaployee stock option exerc
behaviors. We estimate the expected term basedemrdntractual term of the awards and employeesicése and expected posgsting
termination behavior.
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At March 31, 2010, there was $471,401 of total oogmized compensation cost related to mested stock options, which is expe:
to be recognized over a remaining weighted avevaggng period of approximately 1.69 years.

All transactions in which goods or services aredbesideration received by n@mployees for the issuance of equity instrumerd
accounted for based on the fair value of the camaitbn received or the fair value of the equitgtioment issued, whichever is more reli
measurable. The measurement date used to detettmiriair value of the equity instrument issuedhis ¢arlier of the date on which the third-
party performance is complete or the date on whishprobable that performance will occur.

Derivative Liabilities

Our issued and outstanding common stock purchasemia and embedded conversion features previdresdyed as equity pursu.
to the derivative treatment exemption were no lord®rded equity treatment, and the fair valuehelse common stock purchase warrants
embedded conversion features, some of which haeeiee price reset features and some that weredssith convertible debt, from equity
liability status as if these warrants were treaed derivative liability since their date of isstighe common stock purchase warrants wer
issued with the intent of effectively hedging amyuire cash flow, fair value of any asset, liabilityany net investment in a foreign operat
The warrants do not qualify for hedge accountimgl as such, all future changes in the fair valuthe$e warrants will be recognized curre
in earnings until such time as the warrants arecés@d or expire. These common stock purchase wardo not trade in an active secur
market, and as such, we estimate the fair valdkesfe warrants using the Black-Scholes optionmgianodel.

Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertibdibt is not accounted for as a derivative instmingad provides for a rate
conversion that is below market value, this featisreharacterized as a beneficial conversion fea{tBCF”). A BCF is recorded by tl
Company as a debt discount. In those circumstgante convertible debt will be recorded net of thigcount related to the BCF. 1
Company amortizes the discount to interest expemsethe life of the debt using the effective ie&rmethod.

Deferred Financing Cost:

Deferred financing costs represent costs incumetbnnection with the issuance of the convertildtes payable. Deferred financ
costs are being amortized over the term of thenfimey instrument on a straight-line basis, whichragimates the effective interest method.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the provisiorthef Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBgcounting Standar
Codification (“ASC") 740, Income Taxes, or ASC 740. As of March 31, 2846 2009, there were no unrecognized tax bereéiklsded in th
balance sheet that would, if recognized, affectetffiective tax rate. Based on the weight of avédavidence, the Company's Managemen
determined that it is not more likely than not the net deferred tax assets assets will be relliieerefore, the Company has recorded :
valuation allowance against the net deferred tartasThe Company's income tax provision consfsésate minimum taxes.
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Our practice is to recognize interest and/or p&satelated to income tax matters in income taxeagp. We had no accrual for inte
or penalties on our consolidated balance sheétmeth 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively and haveaumgnized interest and/or penalties ir
consolidated statement of operations for the yealeé March 31, 2010. We are subject to taxatiothen United States and various s
jurisdictions. As of March 31, 2010, the Compagynd longer subject to U.S. federal examinatiomsy&ar before 2006; and for Califor
franchise and income tax examinations before 20@0&wever, to the extent allowed by law, the taxeghorities may have the right
examine prior periods where net operating losse® wenerated and carried forward, and make adjuttmep to the amount of the
operating loss carry forward amount. The Compampoi currently under examination by U.S. federadtate jurisdictions.

Adoption of Accounting Principle

Equitydinked instruments (or embedded features) thatretise meet the definition of a derivative are not@unted for as derivativ
if certain criteria are met, one of which is thia¢ instrument (or embedded feature) must be indexéke entitys own stock. Our warrant a
convertible debt agreements contain adjustmentafohet) provisions and accordingly, we determitied these instruments are not indexe
our common stock. As a result, we are requirecdoount for these instruments as derivative liaédli We applied these provisions
outstanding instruments as of April 1, 2009. Thenulative effect at April 1, 2009 to record, at fa@lue, a liability for the warrants a
embedded conversion features, including the effectsthe discounts on the convertible notes of $2{%b, resulted in an aggrec
reduction to equity of $13,875,623 consisting oéduction to additional paiih capital of $4,217,730 and an increase in themctated defic
of $9,657,893 to reflect the change in the accogntiThe warrants and embedded conversion featueesarried at fair value and adjus
quarterly through earnings.

The following table summarizes the effect of thegtibn of accounting principle on the consolidabathnce sheet as of April 1, 20!

As
Previously Cumulative
Reported As Adjusted Adjustment
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit:

Total liabilities $ 6,348,46! $ 20,224,08 $ 13,875,62
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock 4,18¢ 4,18¢ —
Additional paid-in capital 25,854,26 21,636,53 (4,217,73)
Accumulated deficit (30,634,35) (40,292,24) (9,657,89)
Total stockholders’ deficit (4,775,909 (18,651,52) (13,875,62)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 1,572,55 $ 1,572,551 $ —

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stansldddate No. 2010-05, Measuring Liabilities at RFéaue, or ASU 201®5,
which amends ASC 820 to provide clarification ofiecumstance in which a quoted price in an actiaket for an identical liability is n
available. A reporting entity is required to meastair value using one or more of the following huwats: 1) a valuation technique that use
the quoted price of the identical liability wheaded as an asset or b) quoted prices for simaailiies (or similar liabilities when traded
assets) and/or 2) a valuation technique that isistant with the principles of ASC 820. ASU 200®-also clarifies that when estimating the
value of a liability, a reporting entity is not réged to adjust to include inputs relating to théstence of transfer restrictions on that liabi
The adoption did not have a material impact oncamsolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Changes in United States interest rates would taffecinterest earned on our cash and cash eqntgaed interest expense on
revolving credit facility.

Based on our overall cash and cash equivalentestteate exposure at March 31, 20 10, a texan-change in interest rates, base
historical movements, would not have a materiakasky effect on our financial position or result®pérations.

All outstanding amounts under our Revolving Crdelicility bear interest at a variable rate equathi lenders prime rate plus
margin of 1.50% or 5.0%, whichever is higher. tagt is payable on a monthly basis and may expes® unarket risk due to change:
interest rates. As of March 31, 2010, we had $3,2Ritstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility eTihterest rate at March 31, 2010
5.00%. A 10% change in interest rates on our R@wglCredit Facility would not have had a mateg#kect on our net loss for the year en
March 31, 2010.

We have operated primarily in the United Statescokdingly, we have not had any significant exposiardoreign currency ra
fluctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to the consolidated financigstents included in this Report at pages F-1 thided1 .

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProceduireThe term “disclosure controls and proceduresfifge in Rule 13&t5(e’
under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 ‘@Exehange Act")refers to the controls and other procedures ofnapemy that are design
to ensure that information required to be disclobgda company in the reports that it files undexr Exchange Act is recorded, proces
summarized and reported within the required timeogs. Under the supervision and with the partitgaof our management, including
chief executive officer and chief financial officewe have conducted an evaluation of the effecégsrof the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures, as of March2B10. Based on this evaluation, our president @nef executive officer and our ch
financial officer concluded that our disclosure tots and procedures were effective as of MarchZBI10 to ensure the timely disclosurt
required information in our Securities and Excha@genmission filings.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contrekpfinancial reporting may not prevent or detedsstatements. In addition, 1
design of any system of control is based upon icegssumptions about the likelihood of future egeand there can be no assurance the
design will succeed in achieving its stated goaldeu all future events, no matter how remote. Adicmgly, even effective internal control o
financial reporting can only provide reasonableleasce of achieving their control objectives.
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(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Ovéndncial Reporting. Managemeng Report on Internal Control Over Finan
Reporting which appears on the following pagentoiporated herein by this reference.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Refiag. There have been no changes in our internal aoower financial reportir
during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year end#atch 31, 2010 that have materially affected, err@asonably likely to materially affect, -

internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible tabkshing and maintaining effective internal cahtover financial reporting and for t
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting. The Compasyhternal control over financial reporting is @pes
designed, as defined in Rule 1Ba() under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1984rovide reasonable assurance regarding tredbilély
of financial reporting and the preparation of cditsded financial statements for external purpoisesccordance with generally accef
accounting principles.

The Company'’s internal control over financial refpay is supported by written policies and procedutet:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaieasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
Company'’s assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseeneded as necessary to permit preparation ofolidased financial statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples; and that receipts and expenditures of theg@my are being made only
accordance with authorizations of the Company’sagament and directors; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vselisposition of the Compary’
assets that could have a material effect on thedlwlated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or détenisstatements. Projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégibecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Compargnnual consolidated financial statements, manageaf the Company has undertake|
assessment of the effectiveness of the Compantesnia control over financial reporting based oitecia established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of nSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiorthe(* COS(
Framework”). Management’s assessment includedvatuation of the design of the Compasyhternal control over financial reporting
testing of the operational effectiveness of the @any’s internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, management has conthaddékde Companyg'internal control over financial reporting waseetive as of March 3
2010.

This annual report does not include an attestatmort of the Company’ registered public accounting firm regarding ing&rcontrol ove
financial reporting. Management’s report was ndgjsct to attestation b the Compasyegistered public accounting firm pursuant togerary
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissianpiianit the Company to provide only managememgsort in this Annual Report.

By:  /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH By:  /s/ CATHERINE M. DoLL
Larry G. Stambaugh, Catherine M. Doll
President & Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Officer, and Director

June 21, 2010
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item regarding dinectors, executive officers and committees af lboard of directors
incorporated by reference to the information sethfainder the captions “Election of Directors” atixecutive Compensation and Rel:
Matters” in our 2010 Definitive Proxy Statementh® filed within 120 days after the end of our fisgaar ended March 31, 2010 (th201(
Definitive Proxy Statement”).

Information required by this Item regarding Sectid{a) reporting compliance is incorporated by nafee to the information set fo
under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Owngr$teporting Compliance” in our 2009 Proxy Statetnen

Information required by this Item regarding our eaxf ethics is incorporated by reference to therimfation set forth under the capt
“Corporate Governance” in Part | of this Annual BRempn Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorpeitby reference to the information set forth untter caption Executive
Compensation and Related Matteis”our 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement to be fileithin 120 days after the end of our fiscal yeadex
March 31, 2010.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorpeby reference to the information set forth urtdercaption Security Ownership
Directors and Executive Officers and Certain BesiafiOwners”in our 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filithin 120 days after tt
end of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2010.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorp@dby reference to the information set forth urtiercaptions Certain Relationshij
and Related Transactions” and “Compensation Coraenititerlocks and Insider Participatioin” our 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement to
filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscaby ended March 31, 2010.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorpetby reference to the information set forth unther caption Independer
Registered Public Accounting Firm Feds”our 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filwithin 120 days after the end of our fiscal y
ended March 31, 2010.
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PART IV

ITEM 15: Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls.

(@)

Financial Statements
(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements required by this itemsattemitted in a separate section beginning on pagyefRhis report.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2010 @@é 2
Consolidated Statements of Operations the yearsdekidrch 31, 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Defiaitdfach years ended March 31, 2010
and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaaled March 31, 2010 and 2009
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules are omitted bsedhey were not required or the required inforamais included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the relatadd\thereto.

Exhibit Index
See Exhibit Index

41

F-4

F-5

F-6

F-8




CRYOPORT, INC.

INDEX TO CONSO LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of
CryoPort, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of CryoPort, Inc. (the “Compang® of March 31, 2010 and 2009, and
related consolidated statements of operationskktdders' deficit and cash flows for the years tlgmled. These consolidated finar
statements are the responsibility of the Compamgasagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated finan
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audits to inbteasonable assurance about whether the consalidimancial statements are free
material misstatement. An audit includes examiniog,a test basis, evidence supporting the amourdsdésclosures in the consolida
financial statements. The Company is not requicethave, nor were we engaged to perform, an auditsahternal control over financ
reporting. Our audits included consideration ofinal control over financial reporting as a basis designing audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverdthe Company's internal control ¢
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no lswpinion. An audit also includes assessing tlwaating principles used and signific
estimates made by management, as well as evaluttgverall financial statement presentation. Védiebe that our audits provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of CryoP
Inc. at March 31, 2010 and 2009, and the resultssabperations and its cash flows for the yeaetbnded in conformity with account
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrste&tements, management adopted a new accouriioy for derivative instruments in
fiscal 2010.

The accompanying consolidated financial statembate been prepared assuming that the Company witirmie as a going concern.

discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated finand&ksments, the Company has incurred recurring $ogsd negative cash flows from operat
since inception. Although the Company has worldagital of $1,994,934 and cash and cash equivateitsce of $3,629,886 at March
2010, management has estimated that cash on haiah include proceeds from the offering receivedhia fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, v
only be sufficient to allow the Company to contiriteeoperations only into the second quarter afdi2011. These matters raise subste
doubt about the Company's ability to continue @®iag concern. Management's plans in regard teethestters are also described in Not
The consolidated financial statements do not inelaidly adjustments relating to the recoverability elassification of asset carrying amount
the amount and classification of liabilities thaght result should the Company be unable to coetamia going concern.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
June 21, 2010
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CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2010 2009
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,629,88! 249,75t
Restricted cash 90,40« 101,05:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,5020h0 and $600 in 2009 81,03¢ 2,54¢
Inventory — 530,24:
Other current assets 104,01: 170,39
Total current assets 3,905,341 1,053,99
Property and equipment, net 559,24: 189,30:
Intangible assets, net 311,96! 264,36
Deferred financing costs — 3,60(
Deposits and other assets — 61,29
Total assets $ 4,776,541 1,572,55!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 823,65: 218,43:
Accrued compensation and related expenses 312,00: 206,18(
Accrued warranty costs — 18,74:
Convertible notes payable, net of discount of $88, in 2009 — 46,41
Current portion of convertible debentures payaiole accrued interest, net of discount of
$0 in 2010 and $662,583 in 2009 200,00( 3,836,38!
Line of credit and accrued interest 90,38¢ 90,31(
Current portion of related party notes payable 150,00 150,00(
Current portion of note payable to former officer — 90,00(
Derivative liabilities 334 ,36. —
Other accrued expenses — 90,541
Total current liabilities 1,910,401 4,747,01.
Related party notes payable and accrued interesgfrcurrent portion 1,478,25! 1,533,76!
Note payable to former officer and accrued intenest of current portion — 67,68¢
Convertible debentures payable, net of currentignoend discount of $728,109 in 2010 and
$2,227,205 in 2009, respectively 2,302,45! —
Total liabilities 5,691,12 6,348,46!
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 staargwrized; 8,136,619 and 4,186,194
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 201@@0@l respectively. 8,137 4,18¢
Additional paid-in capital 45,021,09 25,854,26
Accumulated deficit (45,943,80) (30,634,35)
Total stockholders’ deficit (914,57 (4,775,90)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 4,776,541 1,572,55I

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross loss

Costs and expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development

Total costs and expenses

Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss on sale of property and equipment
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities

Total other expense, net

Loss before income taxes

Income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per common share, basic and dil

CRYOPORT, INC.

Basic and diluted weighted average common sharssamaling

See accompanying notes.
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Years Ended March 31,

2010 2009
$ 117,956 $ 35,124
717,71 546,15:
(599,754 (511,028
3,312,63! 2,387,28
284,84 297,37¢
3,597,48; 2,684,66!
(4,197, 236 (3,195,693
8,16¢ 32,09¢
(7,028,684 (2,693,383
(9,184 —

— (10,846,577

5,576,97¢ —
(1,452,725 (13,507,85¢
(5,649, 961 (16,703,551
1,60( 1,60(

$ (5651561 $ (16,705,151
$ (113 $ (4.05
5,011,05 4,123,81!




CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Balance at March 31, 2008

Adjust beginning balance for reverse st
split effected in February 2010

Issuance of common stock for conversic
of convertible debentures including
accrued interest

Cancellation of common stock issued fc
debt principal reduction

Issuance of common stock for
extinguishment of debt

Change in fair value of warrants issued
connection with debt modifications

Issuance of common stock to consultan

Exercise of stock options and warrants
cash

Cashless exercise of warrants

Debt discount related to convertible
debentures

Share-based compensation related to s
options and warrants issued to
consultants, employees and directors

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 2009

Cumulative effect related to adoption of
new accounting principle

Issuance of common stock for conversic
of convertible notes payable including
accrued interest

Issuance of common stock for conversic
of convertible debentures and accrue:
interest

Reclassification of derivative liability to
additional paid-in capital upon
conversion of convertible notes and
debentures

Reclassification of derivative liability to
additional paid-in capital upon
effectively fixing conversion feature at
warrant price

Estimated fair value of warrants issued
commission for debt financing

Issuance of common stock for services

Exercise of warrants for cash, net

Cashless exercise of warrants and stoc
options

Issuance of units in public offering, net «
offering costs of $1,257,904

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Deficit

40,928,222 40,92¢ 13,888,09 (13,929,20) (181
(36,835,40) (36,83¢) 36,83¢ — —
3,89( 4 5,44: — 5,44¢
(14,019 (14) (117, 701) — (117,720
40,00( 40 163,96( — 164,00(
— — 9,824,68! — 9,824,68!
40,22¢ 40 249,06: — 249,10:
8,26¢ 8 3,29¢ — 3,307
15,00: 15 (15) — —
— — 991,88 — 991,88
— — 808,72: — 808,72:
— — — (16,705,15) (16,705,15)
4,186,19: 4,18¢ 25,854,26 (30,634,35) (4,775,90)
— — (4,217,730 (9,657,89) (13,875,62)
519,18¢ 51¢ 1,459,68; — 1,460,20:
1,236,31! 1,231 4,267,441 — 4,268,68:
— — 2,728,45! — 2,728,45!
— — 9,009,32! — 9,009,32
— — 63,39¢ — 63,39¢
33,49( 33 166,06: — 166,09:-
479,03: 47¢ 1,359,98' — 1,360,46:
15,75: 16 (16) — —
1,666,66 1,667 3,740,43 — 3,742,09



Share-based compensation related to s
options and warrants issued to
consultants, employees and directors

Fractional share adjustment for stock sg

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 2010

— — 589,78 — 589,78
(20) — — — —
— — — (5,651,56) (5,651,56)
8,136,61 $ 8,137 $ 4502109 $ (45943,80) $ (914,57))

See accompanying notes.
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CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of debt discount
Stock issued to consultants
Fair value of stock options and warrants issuezbttsultants, employees and directors
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on sale of assets
Loss on disposal of Cryogenic shippers
Interest accrued on restricted cash
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued warranty costs
Accrued compensation and related expense
Accrued interest
Net cash used in operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in restricted cash
Purchases of intangibles
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of gaghfor issuance costs
Proceeds from borrowings under convertible notes
Repayment of convertible debt
Repayment of line of credit
Repayment of deferred financing costs
Repayment of notes payable
Payment of related party notes payable
Repayments of note payable to officer

Payment of fees associated with the exercise ofants
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest

Income taxes

Years Ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009
$ (565156) $ (16,705,15)
150,09: 81,98
159,51 42,28
6,417,34 2,223,111
166,09« 249,10:
865,89 699,46
(5,576,97) —
— 10,846,57
9,18¢ —
21,28t —
64c (6,227)
(78,490) 18,86t
81,01 (408,28
(50,21¢) 7,32¢
300,45 (15,86¢)
(90,54 (8,107)
(18,742 (11,25()
105,82: 68,07
335,83 331,61
(2,853,35) (2,586,47))
10,00¢ 108,84«
(116,94 (49,78:)
(31,926 (58,57¢)
(138,87 48E
4,046,86: —
1,321,501 1,122,501
— (117,720

— (25,500)
(92,520) (191,87}
— (12,000)
(120,001() (120,001()
(143,95() (54,000)
(76,63:) —
1,437,101 3,307
6,372,36. 604,71
3,380,12: (1,981,27)
249,75 2,231,03
$ 362988 $ 249,75
13,87t 95,36(
1,60( 80C
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CRYOPORT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH ACTIVITIES:

Offering costs in connection with equity financing $ 304,76t $ —
Deferred financing costs in connection with condetdebt financing and debt modifications $ —  $ 3,60(
Warrants issued as deferred financing costs in@cion with convertible debt financing $ — % 117,53(
Purchase of intangible assets with warrants $ — $ 232,96:¢
Debt discount in connection with convertible déibancing $ 1,080,20. $ 1,263,58
Conversion of debt and accrued interest to comnmsks $ 5,728,88. $ 5,44¢
Reclassification of embedded conversion featuegigty upon conversion $ 2,728,45 $ —
Cashless exercise of warrants and stock options $ 16 $ 15C
Cancellation of shares issued for debt principdliction $ — % 117,72(
Change in fair value of warrants issued in conoectif debt modification $ — % 9,824,68!
Cumulative effect of accounting change to debtalist for derivative liabilities $ 2,595,09' $ —
Cumulative effect of accounting change to accunedlaleficit for derivative liabilities $ 9,657,89: $ —
Cumulative effect of accounting change to additignaad-in capital for derivative liabilities $ 4,217,731 $ —
Reclassification of inventory to property and equégnt $ 449,22¢ $ =
Fair value of shares issued in connection with deddifications $ — 3 164,00(
Addition of principal due to debt modifications $ 646,36¢ $ 1,012,23
Reclassification of derivative liabilities to addital paid in capital upon effectively fixing cormgen

feature and warrant price $ 9,009,32¢ $ —

See accompanying notes.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
The Company

CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company” or “we")s a provider of an innovative cold chain frozenpping system dedicated to provid
superior, affordable cryogenic shipping solutiomatt ensure the safety, status and temperature gif talue, temperature sensi
materials. The Company has developed cost-effectusable cryogenic transport containers (refaoes a “shipper’tapable of transportil
biological, environmental and other temperaturesgime materials at temperatures below 0° Celsilisese dry vapor shippers are one o
first significant alternatives to using dry ice aachieve 1(plus day holding times compared to one to two dalgihg times with dry ic
(assuming no re-icing during transit). The Comparmngalue proposition comes from both providing ded@sportation and an environment
friendly, long lasting shipper, and through itsueladded services that offer a simple hassle-fskeisn for its customers. These valagde(
services include an internbased web portal that enables the customer tat@isicheduling, shipping and tracking the progaeskstatus of
shipment, and provide itransit temperature and custody transfer monitoohthe shipper. The CryoPort service also praviddully read
charged shipper containing all freight bills, cumtodocuments and regulatory paperwork for the efainrney of the shipper to its custome:
their pick up location.

The Company's principal focus has been the fudegelopment and commercial launch of CryoPort Esg®d ortal, an innovative |
solution for shipping and tracking high-value spaens through overnight shipping companies, an@rigPort Express@&hipper, a dry vap
cryogenic shipper for the transport of biologicadgharmaceutical materials. A dry vapor cryogesfifpper is a container that uses lic
nitrogen in dry vapor form, which is suspendeddesa vacuum insulated bottle as a refrigerantréoige storage temperatures below m
150° Celsius. The dry vapor shipper is designedgusinovative, proprietary, and patent pending nedbgy which prevents spillage of liqt
nitrogen and pressure build up as the liquid ngrogvaporates. A proprietary foam retention sysgemployed to ensure that liquid nitro
stays inside the vacuum container, even when plapsidedown or on its side as is often the case when éndistody of a shippil
company. Biological specimens are stored in aispat chamber, referred to as a “welhside the container and refrigeration is providhy
harmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from the lignittogen entrapped within the foam retention systurrounding the well. Biologic
specimens transported using our cryogenic shipaerirclude clinical samples, diagnostics, live gdlarmaceutical products (such as ca
vaccines, semen and embryos, and infectious sudesthand other items that require and/or are pedebrough continuous exposure to frc
or cryogenic temperatures (less than minus 150Si@3.

The Company recently entered into its first strateglationship with a global courier on January 2310 when it signed an agreen
with Federal Express Corporation (“FedExilrsuant to which the Company will lease to Fed&shsnumber of its cryogenic shippers
FedEx shall, from time to time, order for FedExisstomers. Under this agreement, FedEx has the togid shall, on a noexclusive basi
promote, market and sell transportation of the Camyfs shippers and its related valagded goods and services, such as its data loggé
portal and planned CryoPort Express® Smart PakeByst

Going Concern

As reported in the Report of Independent Registéngalic Accounting Firm on the CompasyMarch 31, 2010 and 2009 consolidi
financial statements, the Company has incurredrrieculosses and negative cash flows from operatgince inception. The Company has
generated significant revenues from operationstegino assurance of any future significant reventibe Company generated revenue
only $117,956, incurred a net loss of $5,651,56d ased cash of $2,853,359 in its operating acdwitiluring the year ended March
2010. These factors raise substantial doubt aheuCompany’s ability to continue as a going concer

During the period from March 30, 2009 through Ma8dh 2010, the Company raised gross proceeds 88%B00 under the Privi
Placement Debentures (see Note 8) and gross pmoé&d 437,100 (see Note 10) from the exercisgptibns and warrants. On February
2010 the Company completed a public offering otsinonsisting of 1,666,667 shares of common stodkla666,667 warrants to purchase
share of common stock at an exercise price of $3d0yross proceeds of $5,000,001 and net proceki3,742,097. Each unit consisting
one share, together with one warrant to purchasesbare, was priced at $3.00. As a result of thesent financings and the public offering,
Company had an aggregate cash and cash equivalehtsf $3,629,886 as of March 31, 2010 which wéllused to fund the working cap
required for minimal operations including limiteligper build up as well as limited sales effortattvance the Comparsytommercializatic
of the CryoPort Express®hippers until additional capital is obtained. Mgement has estimated that cash on hand as of Nar@010, wil
be sufficient to allow the Company to continue dfgerations only into the second quarter of fiscdl2 The Compang’ manageme
recognizes that the Company must obtain additioapital for the achievement of sustained profitaigerations. Managemestplans includ
obtaining additional capital through equity and tdeimding sources; however, no assurance can lendhat additional capital, if needed,



be available when required or upon terms acceptatitee Company.
Basis of Presentatiol

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiese been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally acceptec
the United States of America. (“GAAP”)

Reverse Stock Spl

On February 5, 1010, we effected a 10-foreverse stock split of all of our issued and t@nging shares of common stock
"Reverse Stock Split") by filing a Certificate ofrfendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Iraraton with the Secretary of St
of Nevada. The par value and number of authorizedes of our common stock remained unchanged. Th#er of shares and per st
amounts included in the consolidated financialestents and the accompanying notes have been atljosteflect the Reverse Stock S
retroactively. Unless otherwise indicated, all refeces to number of shares, per share amountsaanihgs per share information containe
this report give effect to the Reverse Stock Split.




Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include gwants of CryoPort, Inc. and its wholly owned sdiasy, CryoPort Systems, Ir
All intercompany accounts and transactions have lediminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statement conformity with GAAP requires management tokeneaestimates al
assumptions that affect the reported amounts efteissid liabilities and disclosure of contingersieds and liabilities at the date of the finar
statements and the reported amounts of revenuesxgmhses during the reporting periods. Actualltesould differ from estimated amour
The Company’s significant estimates include allogeanfor doubtful accounts and sales returns, reeabilidy of longdived assets, accru
warranty costs, deferred tax assets and their guapying valuations, product liability reserves,uadlon of derivative liabilities and valuati
of common stock, warrants and stock options is$oedroducts or services.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments consist of casld cash equivalents, restricted cash, accoun&veble, relategharty note
payable, note payable to officer, a line of creditnvertible notes payable, accounts payable aocdied expenses. The carrying value fo
such instruments approximates fair value at M&th2010 and 2009. The difference between thevédire and recorded values of the rel
party notes payable is not significant.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investment$witiginal maturities of 90 days or less to be caghivalents.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Cash and cash equivalents

The Company maintains its cash accounts in findmegitutions. Accounts at these institutions arsured by the Federal Dep
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC")Effective October 3, 2008, the Emergency Economabization Act of 2008 raised the FDIC dep
coverage limits to $250,000 per owner from $100,080 owner through January 1, 2014. At March 3i,(2and 2009, the Company |
$3,490,116 and $121,042 which exceeded the FDIGramse limit, respectively, of cash balances, iditig restricted cash. The Comp.
performs ongoing evaluations of these institutitnémit its concentration risk exposure.

Restricted cas

The Company has invested cash in a one year testraertificate of deposit bearing interest at 1%iclv serves as collateral
borrowings under a line of credit agreement (setep. At March 31, 2010 and 2009, the balanakéncertificate of deposit was $90,404
$101,053, respectively.

Customers

The Company grants credit to customers within tinétdd States of America and to a limited numbemedrnational customers a
does not require collateral. Revenues from int@wnat customers are generally secured by advangeeuts except for a limited numbel
established foreign customers. The Company gdpesgjuires advance or credit card payments fdiainievenues from new customers.
Companys ability to collect receivables is affected by mmwmic fluctuations in the geographic areas and striks served by tl
Company. Reserves for uncollectible amounts aoeiged based on past experience and a specifigsisalf the accounts which managen
believes are sufficient. Accounts receivable atdfa31, 2010 and 2009 are net of reserves for @aubtcounts of approximately of $1,%
and $600, respectively. Although the Company exptrtollect amounts due, actual collections mégdirom the estimated amounts.

The Company has foreign revenues primarily in Ear@panada, India and Australia. During 2010 ar@@2€he Company had forei
revenues of approximately $66,500 and $6,500, otisedy, which constituted approximately 56% and4d.ef total revenues, respectively.

The majority of the Compang’customers are in the biotechnology, pharmacéwatiahlife science industries. Consequently, the
concentration of receivables within these industrievhich is subject to normal credit risk. At March, 2010, annual net revenues from
Biosciences and CDx Holdings, Inc. accounted fadl®2and 18.7%, respectively, of our total revenués.March 31, 2009, there were
significant customer concentrations. The Companyntaims reserves for bad debt and such lossedydnaggregate, historically have



exceeded our estimates.
Inventory

Prior to our new business strategy inventories vegaed at the lower of standard cost or curretitnased market value. Cost v
determined using the standard cost method whichoappates the first-in, first-to-expire method.

Inventories were reviewed periodically for slameving or obsolete status. We adjusted our invgrttmreflect situations in which t
cost of inventory was not expected to be recovebette established, writdewns of inventories were considered permanentséujents to tt
cost basis of the obsolete or excess inventoResy materials, work in process and finished goodtuded material costs less reserve:
obsolete or excess inventories. We evaluated dineertt level of inventory considering historicaénids and other factors, and based or
evaluation, recorded adjustments to reflect invgnéd its net realizable value. These adjustmemiewestimates, which could vary significa
from actual results if future economic conditiomsistomer demand, competition or other relevantofactiffer from expectations. The
estimates required us to make assessments abdutuhe demand for our products in order to categothe status of such inventory item
slow-moving, obsolete or in excessttded. These estimates were subject to the ongaogracy of our forecasts of market conditit
industry trends, competition and other factorsf@é@nces between our estimated reserves and acteatory adjustments were not significi
and were accounted for in the current period dsage in estimate in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles.

In 2010, the Company changed its operations andprowides shipping containers to its customersaratges a fee in exchange
the use of the container. The Compangirangements are similar to the accounting stdrfda leases since they convey the right to us
containers over a period of time. The Companyinstttle to the containers and provides its custsrthe use of the container for a spec
shipping cycle. At the culmination of the custoiseshipping cycle, the container is returned toGoepany. As a result, during the que
ended September 30, 2009, the Company reclastifeedontainers from inventory to fixed assets uppmmencement of the pase containe
program.




Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Cnjodghippers are depreciated using the strdightimethod over their estima
useful lives of three years. Equipment and fureitare depreciated using the strailym- method over their estimated useful lives (galhg
three to seven years) and leasehold improvemeetaraortized using the straiglime method over the estimated useful life of theet or th
lease term, whichever is shorter. Equipment acduireder capital leases is amortized over the estiinaseful life of the assets or term of
lease, whichever is shorter and included in deptieei expense.

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repaitsetktznd the lives of the assets are capitalizéraepairs and maintenance cha
are expensed as incurred. The cost and relatadradated depreciation and amortization applicabladsets retired are removed from
accounts, and the gain or loss on dispositiondegeized in current operations.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of patents andrnratks and software development costs. The Comgegritalizes costs of obtaini
patents and trademarks which are amortized, ugiegstraightine method over their estimated useful life ofefiyears. The Compa
capitalizes certain costs related to software dagexl for internal use. Software development castsirred during the preliminary
maintenance project stages are expensed as incwinéd costs incurred during the application depehent stage are capitalized and amor
using the straighline method over the estimated useful life of thévgare, which is five years. Capitalized costslude purchased materi
and costs of services including the valuation ofrafts issued to consultants.

Long-lived Assets

If indicators of impairment exist, we assess theoverability of the affected lonlived assets by determining whether the cart
value of such assets can be recovered throughamaited future operating cash flows. If impairmmnindicated, we measure the amour
such impairment by comparing the fair value to ¢herying value. We believe the future cash flowd¢oreceived from the lonigred asset
will exceed the assets’ carrying value, and acogigti we have not recognized any impairment logisesigh March 31, 2010.

Deferred Financing Cost:

In February, 2010 the Company completed a publieriofg of units consisting of 1,666,667 shares @hmon stock and 1,666,€
warrants to purchase one share of common stockn axarcise price of $3.30, for gross proceeds gO®&B001 and net proceeds
approximately $3,742,097. Each unit consisting oé share, together with one warrant to purchase straee, was priced at $3.00.
connection with this public offering we incurreddincing costs of $1,257,904 which consisted primafi placement agent fees, account
legal and filing fees and were netted against thegeds of the offering upon completion.

In connection with the issuance of convertible aopayable (see Note 8), we paid financing costdclwhonsisted primarily
placement agent fees, accounting, legal and fiit®s and are being amortized over the life of thiet.dAmortization of the deferred financ
costs using the effective interest method was &l and $42,284 for the years ended March 31, 201D2009, respectively, and w
included in interest expense. As of March 31, 2848 2009, deferred financing costs, net of accuradlamortization were approximately
and $3,600, respectively.

Accrued Warranty Cost
Estimated costs of the Compasytandard warranty, included with products athditeonal cost to the customer for a period uprte
year, are recorded as accrued warranty costs atntieeof product sale. Costs related to servidimg standard warranty are charged tc

accrual as incurred.

The following represents the activity in the watgaaccrual during the years ended March 31.:

2010 2009
Beginning warranty accrual $ 18,74: $ 29,99:
Increase in accrual (charged to cost of sales) - 75C
Charges to accrual (product replacements) - (12,000
Reversal of remaining accrual due to expected éutlaims (18,749 -

Ending warranty accrual $ - $ 18,74:




Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertidiebt is not accounted for as a derivative instminand provides for a rate
conversion that is below market value, this featisreharacterized as a beneficial conversion fea{lBCF”). A BCF is recorded by tl
Company as a debt discount. The convertible del#dsrded net of the discount related to the BCRe Company amortizes the discour
interest expense over the life of the debt usiregetifiective interest rate method.

Derivative Liabilities

Effective April 1, 2009, certain of the Companysued and outstanding common stock purchase waraadt embedded convers
features previously treated as equity pursuarheaderivative treatment exemption were no longerdéd equity treatment, and the fair ve
of these common stock purchase warrants and emtextoiversion features, some of which have exemige reset features and some
were issued with convertible debt, were reclagsifiem equity to liability status as if these wamswere treated as a derivative liability s
their date of issue. The common stock purchaseawts were not issued with the intent of effeciMeédging any future cash flow, fair va
of any asset, liability or any net investment ifioeeign operation. The warrants do not qualify femdge accounting, and as such, all fu
changes in the fair value of these warrants aregrzed currently in earnings until such time aswharrants are exercised, expire or the re
rights have been waived. These common stock pueclhiagrants do not trade in an active securitieketaand as such, the Company estin
the fair value of these warrants using the BlachkeBes option pricing model (see “Adoption of Newcaanting Principle”section below ar
Note 9).
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Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to routine claims and litaaincidental to our business. In the opiniomanagement, the resolution of s
claims is not expected to have a material advdfset®n our operating results or financial positio

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under theigiom of the Financial Accounting Standards BoéidASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”J40, Income Taxes, or ASC 740. As of March 31, 2ah@ 2009, there were no unrecognized tax be
included in the balance sheet that would, if reiogph affect the effective tax rate. Based on tleégit of available evidence, the Compa
Management has determined that it is not moreyliken not that the net deferred tax assets asdletse realized. Therefore, the Company
recorded a full valuation allowance against thedsdérred tax assets. The Company's income taxgiwowvconsists of state minimum taxes.

The Companys policy is to recognize interest and/or penaltétated to income tax matters in income tax expenlse Company hs
no accrual for interest or penalties on its comnlstéd balance sheets at March 31, 2010 and 20§88 ctively and have not recognized inte
and/or penalties in the consolidated statemenpefations for the years ended March 31, 2010 af8.2he Company is subject to taxatio
the United States and various state jurisdictioks.of March 31, 2010, the Company is no longejexttio U.S. federal examinations for ye
before 2006; and for California franchise and inediax examinations for years before 2005. Howeeethe extent allowed by law, the tax
authorities may have the right to examine prioiquks where net operating losses were generatedamed forward, and make adjustment
to the amount of the net operating loss carry fodwvamount. The Company is not currently under eémation by U.S. federal or st:
jurisdictions.

Supply Concentration Risk

The component parts for our products are primarignufactured at third party manufacturing facititi#he Company also ha
warehouse at our corporate offices in Lake Fof@alifornia, where the Company is capable of martufémg certain parts and fully asserr
its products. Most of the components that the Campases in the manufacture of its products arélabla from more than one qualifi
supplier. For some components, however, thereedagivrely few alternate sources of supply and thtaldishment of additional or replacerr
suppliers may not be accomplished immediately, vawehe Company has identified alternate qualifiedpliers which the Company belie
could replace existing suppliers. Should this octhe Company believes that with its current ledfeshippers and production rate the Comj
has enough to cover a four to six week gap in marindisruption of production.

Primary manufacturers used by us include Spauld@ogposites Company, Peterson Spinning and Stampiygrll Industria
Thermal Solutions, and Ludwig, Inc. There are necffic agreements with any manufacturer nor areetla@y long term commitments to
manufacturer. The Company believes that any ofrithaufactures currently used by it could be replagidin a short period of time as nc
have a proprietary component or a substantial @apitestment specific to its products.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company provides shipping containers to thastamers and charges a fee in exchange for theouske container. Tt
Company’arrangements are similar to the accounting stanftartbases since they convey the right to usecthainers over a period
time. The Company retains title to the containerd provides its customers the use of the contdimern specified shipping cycle. At 1
culmination of the customer’s shipping cycle, tbatainer is returned to the Company.

The Company recognizes revenue for the use oftlpper at the time of the delivery of the shippethe end user of the enclo
materials, and at the time that collectibility éasonably certain.

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Revenue, Feaad Costs

The Company classifies amounts billed for ship@ng handling as revenue. Shipping and handlingdadscosts are included in ¢
of sales.

Research and Development Expen:

Expenditures relating to research and developmenegpensed in the period incurred. Research andlamEment expenses to d
have consisted primarily of costs associated with dontinually improving the features of the CrydRexpress®System including the wi
based customer service portal and the CryoPortedss@Shippers. Further, these efforts are expectedat tie the introduction of shippers
varying sizes based on market requirements, canettuof lower cost materials and utilizing high wole manufacturing methods that



make it practical to provide the cryogenic packagfésred by the CryoPort Express®ystem. Other research and development
has been directed toward improvements to the ligitidgen retention system to render it more rddiabh the general shipping environment
to the design of the outer packaging. Alternatitiage change materials in place of liquid nitrogety lme used to increase the potential ma
these shippers can serve such as ambient and 2 &fkats.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fetoak-based awards made to employees and diredtoesfair value of stock-
based awards is estimated at grant date using #onopricing model and the portion that is ultimigtexpected to vest is recognizec
compensation cost over the requisite service period

Since stockiased compensation is recognized only for thosedsathat are ultimately expected to vest, the Compeas applied ¢
estimated forfeiture rate to unvested awards ferghrpose of calculating compensation cost. TheSmates will be revised, if necessary
future periods if actual forfeitures differ fromtiesates. Changes in forfeiture estimates impactpsmsation cost in the period in which
change in estimate occurs. The estimated forfertates at March 31, 2010 and 2009 was zero asdh@@&ny has not had a significant his
of forfeitures and does not expect forfeitureshia future.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto estimate the fair value of stoshsed awards. The determination of
value using the Black-Scholes optipricing model is affected by its stock price aslveal assumptions regarding a number of comple:
subjective variables, including expected stock grolatility, riskfree interest rate, expected dividends and prajeetaployee stock optis
exercise behaviors.

At March 31, 2010, there was $471,401 of total oogmized compensation cost related to mested stock options, which is expe:
to be recognized over a remaining weighted avevaggng period of approximately 1.69 years.

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans scesfied further in Note 11.
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Issuance of Stock for Noc-Cash Consideration

The Company accounts for equity issuances toemployees in accordance with accounting guidancedaity instruments that ¢
issued to other than employees for acquiring, aoinjunction with selling, goods and services. tdinsactions in which goods or services
the consideration received for the issuance oftgdastruments are accounted for based on thevédire of the consideration received or
fair value of the equity instrument issued, whiakreis more reliably measurable. The measuremertwsd to determine the fair value of
equity instrument issued is the earlier of the datewhich the thirdparty performance is complete or the date on witick probable th:
performance will occur.

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Sha

Basic loss per common share is computed basedeondlghted average number of shares outstandiriggdtire period. Diluted lo
per share is computed by dividing net loss by tleghted average shares outstanding assuming ativeilpotential common shares w
issued. For the years ended March 31, 2010 an8é, 208 Company was in a loss position and the keagicdiluted loss per share are the ¢
since the effect of stock options, warrants andvedible notes payable on loss per share wasdintive and thus not included in the dilu
loss per share calculation. The impact under thastrry stock method of dilutive stock options ararants and the ifonverted method
convertible debt would have resulted in weightedrage common shares outstanding of 8,472,977 &56é,525 for the years ended March
2010 and 2009, respectively.

In addition, in computing the dilutive effect of rogertible securities, the numerator is adjusteddd back the afteiax amount ¢
interest, if any, recognized in the period assedatith any convertible debt.

Segment Reportin

We currently operate in only one segment.
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Adoption of New Accounting Principls

Equitydinked instruments (or embedded features) thatratise meet the definition of a derivative are not@unted for as derivativ
if certain criteria are met, one of which is tha¢ instrument (or embedded feature) must be indexdae entity’s own stock. The Compasy’
warrant and convertible debt agreements containsédent (or ratchet) provisions and accordinglye @ompany determined that th
instruments are not indexed to the Comparggmmon stock. As a result of the adoption of meaounting guidance, the Company is reqt
to account for these instruments as derivativeliiegs. The Company applied these provisions testanding instruments as of April 1, 2C
The cumulative effect at April 1, 2009 was to mekat fair value, a liability for the warrants aachbedded conversion features, including
effects on the discounts on the convertible nofe$2)595,095, resulted in an aggregate reductioadoity of $13,875,623 consisting ¢
reduction to additional paith capital of $4,217,730 and an increase in theumedated deficit of $9,657,893 to reflect the chang the
accounting. The warrants and embedded conversatnres are carried at fair value and adjusted pagbd through earnings.

During February 2010, the Company reclassified 3829 in derivatives liabilities to additional gan capital due to tt
modification in terms resulting from the 2010 Amereht, as defined (see Note 9).

The following table summarizes the effect of the@ibn of the accounting principle on the consdkdiabalance sheet as of Apri

2009:
As
Previously Cumulative
Reported As Adjusted Adjustment
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit:
Total liabilities $ 6,348,46/ $ 20,224,08 $ 13,875,62
Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock 4,18¢€ 4,18¢€ —
Additional paid-in capital 25,854,26 21,636,53 (4,217,730
Accumulated deficit (30,634,35) (40,292,24) (9,657,89)
Total stockholders’ deficit (4,775,90) (18,651,52) (13,875,62)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 1,572,551 $ 1,572,551 $ —
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
New Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslddgdate (“ASU”") No. 201®5, Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value, or A
201005, which amends ASC 820 to provide clarificatidraacircumstance in which a quoted price in anvactharket for an identical liabili
is not available. A reporting entity is requiredn@asure fair value using one or more of the falhgumethods: 1) a valuation technique
uses a) the quoted price of the identical liabilithen traded as an asset or b) quoted prices ffatasiliabilities (or similar liabilities whe
traded as assets) and/or 2) a valuation technigaeis consistent with the principles of ASC 820BWA 201005 also clarifies that whi
estimating the fair value of a liability, a repodientity is not required to adjust to include itgrelating to the existence of transfer restritd
on that liability. The adoption did not have a milempact on our consolidated financial statersent

Note 2. Inventory

Inventories consist of the following:

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009
Raw materials $ — 3 350,02:
Work in process — 7,25
Finished goods — 172,96’
$ — $ 530,24:

During its early years, the Company's limited rexemas derived from the sale of our reusable prolilue. The Company's curre
business plan focuses on per-use leasing of slyppntainers and value-added services that willsesl by us to provide an endeaod an
cost-optimized shipping solutions.

The Company provides shipping containers to itsacusrs and charges a fee in exchange for the ube afontainer. The Company’
arrangements are similar to the accounting stanftarteases since they convey the right to usecthr@ainers over a period of time. ~
Company retains title to the containers and pravitie customers the use of the container for aiipéshipping cycle. At the culmination
the customes shipping cycle, the container is returned to @wmpany. As a result, during the quarter endedesaper 30, 2009, tl
Company reclassified its containers from inventorproperty and equipment upon commencement gbé¢neaise leasing program.

Note 3. Property and Equipment

Equipment and leasehold improvements and relateshaulated depreciation and amortization are asvid!

March 31,
2010 2009

Cryogenic shippers $ 449,73 $ -
Furniture and fixtures 3,28¢ 23,25:
Machinery and equipment 340,16 640,74t
Leasehold improvements 19,42¢ 19,42¢
812,61: 683,42

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (253,377) (494,120
$ 559,24. $ 189,30:

During its early years, the Company's limited raxemas derived from the sale of our reusable prolilue. The Company's curre
business plan focuses on per-use leasing of shypmintainers and added-value services that willidel by us to provide an enddod an
cost-optimized shipping solutions.

Total depreciation and amortization expense reladgoroperty and equipment amounted to $80,746%6%]129 for the years enc
March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Note 4. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of patents ancerracks and software developed for internal usdge gross book values ¢
accumulated amortization as of March 31, 2010 &@92vere as follows:

2010 2009
Patents and trademarks $ 91,35¢ $ 47,37¢
Software development costs 355,081 282,11:
446,43t 329,487
Less accumulated amortization (134,470 (65,127)
$ 311,968 $ 264,36¢

Amortization expense for intangible assets forytears ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 was $69,34%E3855, respectively. All
the Company’s intangible assets are subject to zaton.

Estimated future annual amortization expense puatdoahese intangible assets is as follows:

Patents and Total

Years Ending March 31, Trademarks Software Intangibles
2011 $ 508t $ 70,99 $ 76,081
2012 5,08¢ 70,99: 76,081
2013 5,08¢ 70,99: 76,081
2014 5,061 52,30¢ 57,361
2015 1,63€ 5,112 6,74¢
Thereafter 19,601 - 19,601

$ 41,56¢ $ 270,397 $ 311,96¢
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair value of its déineainstruments using a thréevel hierarchy for fair value measurements w
these assets and liabilities must be grouped, baseignificant levels of observable or unobsergahputs. Observable inputs reflect ma
data obtained from independent sources, while wrohble inputs reflect the Compaayharket assumptions. This hierarchy requires #a
of observable market data when available. Theseyp®s of inputs have created the following failueshierarchy:

Level 1 —Valuations based on unadjusted quoted market piricastive markets for identical securities. Cuthethe Company dot
not have any items classified as Level 1.

Level 2 — Valuations based on observable inputs (other thawelLl prices), such as quoted prices for simiksets at tt
measurement date; quoted prices in markets thataractive; or other inputs that are observalitbee directly or indirectly. The Compa
classifies its restricted cash balance as a Levin2. At March 31, 2010 and 2009 the balance enrtistricted cash account was $90,40¢
$101,053, respectively.

Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are unobservabie significant to the overall fair value measuremeartd involvi
management judgment. The Company uses the Babkles option pricing model to determine the ¥ailue of the instruments. If the inp
used to measure fair value fall in different leveighe fair value hierarchy, a financial secustyiierarchy level is based upon the lowest
of input that is significant to the fair value messment.

The following table presents the Companwarrants and embedded conversion features measufair value on a recurring basis
of March 31, 2010 and April 1, 2009 (the Comparadeption date of derivative liability accountindgdssified using the valuation hierarchy:

Level 3 Level 3
Carrying Value  Carrying Value
March 31, 2010  April 1, 2009

Embedded Conversion Option $ — 3 3,900,13.
Warrants 334,36: 12,570,58
$ 334,36 $ 16,470,71

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the Compsadgtivative liabilities measurec
fair value using Level 3 inputs:

Balance at April 1, 2009 $ —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 16,470,71
Derivative liability added — warrants 389,78:
Derivative liability added — conversion option 788,63
Reclassification of conversion feature to equitpmponversions of notes (2,728,459
Reclassification of conversion feature and warrémesquity upon modification of terms (no longeridative instruments) (9,009,329
Change in fair value, net (5,576,979

Balance at March 31, 2010 $ 334,36
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Note 6. Line of Credit

On November 5, 2007, the Company secured finanfing $200,000 one-year revolving line of credite(t‘'Line”) secured by
$200,000 Certificate of Deposit with Bank of the 8/eOn November 6, 2008, the Company secured ayeaefrenewal of the Line for
reduced amount of $100,000 which is secured by0® 900 Certificate of Deposit with Bank of the We3h October 19, 2009, the Comp
secured a ongear renewal of the Line for a reduced amount &,®30 which is secured by a $90,000 Certificat®eposit with Bank of tt
West. All borrowings under the revolving line okdit bear variable interest based either the prate plus 1.5% per annum (totaling 4.75¢
of March 31, 2010) or 5.0%, whichever is highereT®ompany utilizes the funds advanced from the famecapital equipment purchase:
support the commercialization of the Company’s Gy Express® On®ay Shipper. As of March 31, 2010 and 2009, thestanding
balance of the Line was $90,388 and $90,310, imctpdccrued interest of $388 and $310, respectivily funds were drawn against the 1
during the years ended March 31, 2010 or 2009. Qdmpany recorded interest expense of $4,094 ar@®$3or the years ended March
2010 and 2009, respectively.

Note 7. Related Party Transactions
Related Party Notes Payakb

As of March 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had emgge principal balances of $1,009,500 and $15029,respectively,
outstanding unsecured indebtedness owed to fiategkparties, including four former members oflttbard of directors, representing work
capital advances made to the Company from Febr2@@dt through March 2005. These notes bear intetette rate of 6% per annum
provide for aggregate monthly principal paymentscivtbegan April 1, 2006 of $2,500, and which insemhby an aggregate of $2,500 e
nine months to a maximum of $10,000 per month.oAMarch 31, 2010, the aggregate principal paymésteed $10,000 per month. A
remaining unpaid principal and accrued interesiuis at maturity on various dates through March0152

Relatedparty interest expense under these notes was $5448 $71,676 for the years ended March 31, 201D 2009
respectively. Accrued interest related to theges)yovhich is included in related party notes p#&yabthe accompanying consolidated bal:
sheets, amounted to $618,756 and $554,260 as ahi\gdr, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of March2BIL0, the Company had not made
required payments under the relapetty notes which were due on January 1, Februaand March 1, 2010. However, pursuant to the
agreements, the Company has a tia@-grace period to pay missed payments beforadtes are in default. On April 15, 2010, May 161¢C
and June 14, 2010 the Company paid the Januar§1D, February 1, 2010 and the March 1, 2010 magments due on these related
notes, respectively. Management expects to contmpay all payments due prior to the expiratiothaf 120-day grace periods.

Scheduled maturities of related party debt as afth&1, 2010 are as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2011 $ 150,00(
2012 104,00(
2013 96,00(
2014 96,00(
2015 96,00(
Thereafter 467,50(

Note Payable to Former Office

In August 2006, Peter Berry, the Company’s formbie€Executive Officer, agreed to convert his defdrsalaries to a longrm not
payable. Under the terms of this note, the Comgzegan to make monthly payments of $3,000 to MrryBer January 2007. The loan v
fully paid in March 2010. Interest of 6% per annamthe outstanding principal balance of the nogabeo accrue on January 1, 2008. A
March 31, 2010 and 2009, the total amount of the aad accrued interest under this arrangement@and $157,688, respectively, of wh
$0 and $67,688, respectively, is recorded as atemy liability in the accompanying consolidatedarale sheets. Mr. Berry agreed to a-
settlement of $143,950 resulting in a reversahtériest expense recognized in prior years of $11,82terest expense related to this note
$8,133 and $10,573 for the years ended March 310 2dd 2009, respectively. Accrued interest relatetiis note payable amounted to $0



$13,738 at March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivatg, i included in the note payable to former offite the accompanyir
consolidated balance sheets. In January 2009, khryBagreed to defer the monthly payments of the doe from January 31, 2009 thro
June 30, 2009. Effective August 26, 2009, purstiard letter agreement (i) the Company agreed toNdayBerry the sum of $30,000 p
accrued interest representing past due payments Jamuary to May 2009 previously waived by Mr. Beliii) Mr. Berry agreed to wai\
payments due to him through December 2009, andttiiéi Company agreed to pay to Mr. Berry the stiri4@,000 plus accrued interest
January 1, 2010, representing payments due toroim June 2009 thru December 2009. As of March 8102and 2009 these unpaid paym
totaled $0 and $18,000, respectively, and are deduin the current liability portion of the noteyphle in the accompanying consolide
balance sheets. In February 2009, Mr. Berry resighis position as Chief Executive Officer and aly B0, 2009. Mr. Berry resigned
position from the Board.

Consulting agreement with Former Officer
On March 1, 2009, the Company entered into a CtinguAgreement with Peter Berry, the Companyormer Chief Executiy
Officer. Mr. Berry provided the Company with coftglg services as an independent contractor, ftena(10) month period from March

2009 through December 31, 2009, as an advisort€thef Executive Officer and the Board of Direstor

Related-party consulting fees for these servicag 292,010 for the year ended March 31, 2010.
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Related party legal service

Since June 2005, the Company had retained the $egaices of Gary C. Cannon, Attorney at Law, fonanthly retainer fee. Frc
June 2005 to May 2009, Mr. Cannon also serveda€tmpany’s Secretary and a member of the Compa@ward of Directors. Mr. Cann
continued to serve as Corporate Legal CounselHerGompany and served as a member of the AdvisogydB In December 2007, M
Cannons monthly retainer for legal services was incredseah $6,500 per month to $9,000 per month. Thal @®mount paid to Mr. Cann
for retainer fees and out-picket expenses for the year ended March 31, 26d2@09 was $34,350 and $81,000, respectivelymFdatobe
2008 through March 31, 2009 Mr. Cannon agreed terdgeportion of his monthly payments. As of MaBh 2010 and March 31, 2009 a t
of $0 and $15,000, respectively, had been defeareti was included in accounts payable in the accowipg consolidated balance she
Board fees expensed for Mr. Cannon were $5,388526¢B50 for the years ended March 31, 2010 and iMat¢ 2009, respectively. At Mat
31, 2010 and March 31, 2009, $7,788 and $14,4Gpextively, of deferred board fees was include@dorued compensation and rel:
expenses. During the year ended March 31, 2010CKinnon was granted a total of 2,557 warrants aiit average exercise price of $5.9(
share. For the year ended March 31, 2009, Mr. @anvas granted a total of 9,515 warrants with aaraye exercise price of $6.70 per st
All warrants granted to Mr. Cannon were issued withexercise price of greater than or equal testbek price of the Comparg/shares on tl
grant date. On May 4, 2009, Mr. Cannon resignethftboe Company Board of Directors and in July 2009 Mr. Cannorswgaen 30 day
notice that he was terminated as the general tegaisel and advisor to the Company.

Consulting agreement with Officer

On July 29, 2009, the Board of Directors of the @anmy appointed Ms. Catherine M. Doll, a consultantthe offices of Chit
Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Corpo@¢cretary, which became effective on August 2092

Ms. Doll, is the owner and chief executive officérThe Gilson Group, LLC. The Gilson Group, LLMpided the Company financ
and accounting consulting services including, SBE financial reporting including the filing of tf&1, budgeting and forecasting and fine
and accounting systems implementations and cororessi

Relatedparty consulting fees for these services were $5¥ for the year ended March 31, 2010. On Oct8be2009, th
Compensation and Governance Committee granted Misab option to purchase 2,000 shares of commaocksat an exercise price of $4
per share (the closing price of the Comparstock on the date of grant) valued at $8,480af=ulated using the Black Scholes option pri
model and is included in selling, general and adstrative expense. The assumptions used under ldek-Bcholes pricing model included
risk free rate of 2.36%; volatility of 182%; an eqbed exercise term of 4.25 years; and no annugledid rate. The right to exercise the s
options vested as to 33 1/3% of the underlying eshaf common stock upon grant, with the remainingeulying shares vesting in eq
installments on the first and second anniversathefgrant date.

Note 8. Convertible Notes Payable

The Company’s convertible debenture balances arersielow:

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009

October 2007 Debentures $ 3,150,970 $ 5,356,07.
May 2008 Debentures 79,59: 1,325,551
Private Placement Debentures — 60,00(
Accrued interest on convertible debentures — 44,54

3,230,56: 6,786,17.
Debt discount (728,109 (2,903,374
Total convertible debentures and notes payable, net $ 2,502,45 $ 3,882,79
Short-term:
Convertible notes payable, net of discount of $88,& 2009 $ — $ 46,41+
Current portion of convertible debentures payabk® @crued interest, net of discount of $662,58%
2009 200,00( 3,836,38!
Long-term:
Convertible debentures payable, net of currentignoeind discount of $728,109 in 2010 and $2,227
in 2009, respectively 2,302,45! —

Total convertible debentures and notes payable, net $ 2,502,45 % 3,882,79




During the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009Ctwmpany recognized an aggregate of $6,417,346%ar#P3,116 in intere
expense, respectively, due to amortization of d#btount related to the warrants and embedded csiovefeatures associated with
Companys outstanding convertible debentures and convertibtes payable. As of March 31, 2010, the pradcmount of $3,230,568 of 1
Company’s convertible notes payable was convertitite 1,076,856 shares of the Company’s commorkstoc

October 2007 and May 2008 Debentures

The Company issued convertible debentures in Octdb87 (the “October 2007 Debentures”) and in M&P& (the May 200¢
Debentures,” and together with the October 2007ebglbres, the “Debentures™he Debentures were issued to four institutionaégtors an
have an outstanding principal balance of $3,2304&68f March 31, 2010. In addition, in October 2@®d May 2008, the Company issue
these institutional investors warrants to purchaseyf March 31, 2010, an aggregate of 3,055,08reslof the Company’common stock (tl
“Debenture Warrants”)As collateral to secure our repayment obligatianthe holders of the Debentures we have granteld Isoiders a fire
priority security interest in generally all of cassets, including our intellectual property.

Fiscal Year 2009 Activit

During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Compacyried a loss on extinguishment of debt of $6 ®0P due to the April 30, 20!
Amendment of the October 2007 Debentures (the ‘IAjmiendment”). The April Amendment provided for a nine month dedépf principa
payments, an increase in the number of shares futehased under each of the October 2007 Wareamtsa decrease in the Exercise F
of the October 2007 Warrants from $9.00, $9.20 $06.00 to $6.00 each. In addition, the Companmiehated the unamortized balance
deferred financing costs related to the Octobei72D8bentures.
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On August 29, 2008, the Company entered into anéAament to Debentures, Agreement and Waiver” (fhggtist Amendmen)”
with the holders of the October 2007 Debenture® Abgust Amendment waived quarterly interest paym#rat would otherwise have by
due on October 1, 2008 and January 1, 2009 andrddféhe monthly redemption dates from July 31,86@@ough November 30, 2008
commence upon December 31, 2008, and were to tatenupon full redemption of the October 2007 Delvas. In consideration for enter
into the August Amendment, the outstanding prinicgmaount of the October 2007 Debentures was ineteisan amount equal to 115% of
sum of (i) the outstanding principal amount of &sAagust 29, 2008, the date of the August Amendmphts (i) an amount equal to !
additional amount of interest that would have aedron the October 2007 Debenture from July 1, 20@8ugh December 31, 2008. -
August Amendment was accounted for as an extinguwesih of debt and the Company recorded the amendezb& 2007 Debentures at tt
then fair value of $2,203,086 at the date of extislgment. The difference between the fair valuthefamended October 2007 Debenture:
the carrying value of the original October 2007 Batiires at the date of debt extinguishment, whinbuanted to $91,728, was recorded a
offset against the loss on debt extinguishmentHeryear ended March 31, 2009.

During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Compaoyried a loss on extinguishment of debt of $4 385 ,as a result of the Janu
27, 2009 Amendment of the Debentures (the “Jandanendment”). The Debentures were amended to reflect changeketambnthl
redemptions of principal, the quarterly paymentgdrest and changes to the Debenture Warrarateceto the original October 2007 and |
2008 Debentures. Under the terms of the Januargn@iment, the conversion price of the debenturesreset from $8.40 to $5.10, mont
principal redemptions were deferred until Augus2@09 and the remaining principal due on each efdétbentures was to be paid thereaft
the first date of each month in twelve equal ifstahts through July 1, 2010, the amended matustg.dDuring the deferral period intel
payments due from January 1, 2009 through JulY)@9 Zould be paid monthly by the Company in commstmek shares at a conversion rat
$4.00 if the Company had met certain equity cooddiprior to the due date of the interest paymelfithhe equity conditions were not met,
Company added the monthly interest payments tptineipal balance of the Debentures.

Further, the January Amendment reset the exercise pf the May 2008 Debenture Warrants from thentburrent exercise prices
$6.00, $9.20 and $13.50 per share to $6.00 peeshad extended the expiration dates of both thel@ct2007 and May 2008 Debent
Warrants to January 1, 2014. The number of sharbe purchased under the Debenture Warrants wasianately increased under the te
of the amendments so that the original dollar an®outa be raised by the Company through the exemfseach of the warrants and
proportional number of warrants issued to each belve Holder remained the same. As a result, teber of shares of common stock tc
purchased under the October 2007 Warrants increlag@85,190 to 1,728,326 and the number of shafe®mmon stock to be purcha:
under the May 2008 Warrants increased by 265,5568996. Under the terms of the January Amendneriebruary 2009, the Comp:
issued a total of 40,000 restricted common shaatised at $164,000 to the holders of the Debentwrb&h shares were accounted for .
payment to the debt holders in connection with debt extinguishment and included in the loss ornt @gkinguishment for the year ent
March 31, 2009.

Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Companyerted interest payments due on the Debentutalint $171,253 into 42,8
shares of common stock using the conversion ra$d ©60.

In May 2009, approximately $713,000 of the Octop@d7 Debentures was converted by a note holdeingUke conversion rate
$5.10 per share per the terms of the debenture808%hares of common stock were issued to thesioreln addition, the fair value
$593,303 related to the conversion feature wasissed from the liability for derivative instrumemtsadditional paida capital (see Note 1
and accelerated the recognition of $508,886 of wmtined debt discount as interest expense.

On July 30, 2009, the Company entered into a Cdnd#aiver and Agreement with the holders of the &wghres (the July
Agreement”). Pursuant to the terms of the July A&grent, the Holders (i) consented to the Compmaigsuance of convertible notes
warrants in connection with a bridge financing pfta $1,500,000 which commenced in March 2009 ‘Bralge Financing”),and (ii) waivec
as it relates to the Bridge Financing, a covenantained in the Debentures not to incur any furthdebtedness, except as otherwise pern
by the Debentures. This Bridge Financing is masigularly described below under the caption “BtévPlacement Debenturedri addition
in connection with the July Agreement, the Compang Holders confirmed that (i) the exercise pri€ehe Debenture Warrants had b
reduced, pursuant to the terms of the Debenturerdits; to $5.10 as a result of the Bridge Financargl (ii) as a result of the forego
decrease in the exercise price, pursuant to thestef the Debenture Warrants, the number of sharderlying the Debenture Warrants hel
Holders of the Debentures had been proportionaltyeased by 404,350 pursuant to the terms of threamiaagreements. As a result of
foregoing adjustments, the Company recognizedsitosther expense due to the change in fair vafwkerivative liabilities of $1,608,540 a
a corresponding increase to the liability for dative instruments.

On September 17, 2009, the Company entered intéAraendment to Debentures and Warrants, Agreement\Vdadrer (the
“September Amendment”) with the holders of the Camyps outstanding Debentures and associated Debentarelts to purchase comn
stock, as such Debentures and Debenture Warrawues leen amended. The effective date of the Septefabendment was Septembe



2009. The purpose of the September Amendment evasstructure the Comparsybbligations under the outstanding Debentur
order to reduce the amount of the required monghilycipal payment and temporarily defer the comneement of monthly principal payme
(which was scheduled to commence September 1, 28@®)ceased the continuing interest payments foereod time. The following is
summary of the material terms of the September Almemt:

1. The Company was required to obtain stockholder@@ of an amendment to its Amended and Restatgidlés o
Incorporation to increase the number of authorigkdres of its common stock to 250,000,000. Suchoappwas obtained at t
shareholders’ meeting on October 9, 2009, and andment was filed with the Nevada Secretary ofeStatNovember 2, 2009.

2. As of September 1, 2009, the principal amounthef Debentures was increased by $482,792, whichaddsed to th
outstanding principal balances and $403,214 wasrded as a debt discount and will be amortized dherremaining life of tt
Debentures. The increase reflected all accrueduapaid interest as of such date, plus all intetlest would have accrued on
principal amount (as increased as of Septembedd9,20 reflect the then accrued but unpaid intgfeesm September 1, 2009, to J
1, 2010 (the maturity date of the Debentures). Teenpany had no obligation under the Debenturemake further payments
interest, and interest ceased to accrue, duringehied September 1, 2009 to July 1, 2010.

3. The conversion price of the Debentures was deede&®m $5.10 per share to $4.50 per share, wreshlted in a
increase in the number shares of common stock whieebentures may be converted into, an incrieathee liability for derivativi
instruments of $802,200 and a corresponding lossre@orded in other expense, net due to the chiarfge value of derivatives.

4. The commencement of the Compambligation to make monthly payments of principals deferred from Septembe
2009, to January 1, 2010, at which time the Compearyto make monthly pro rata payments to the Hslaethe aggregate amoun
$200,000 with a balloon payment due on the matutétie of July 1, 2010. Prior to the Amendment, Granpany was obligated
repay the entire outstanding principal amount of ttebentures in twelve equal monthly payments caming on August :
2009. On January 12, 2010, the Company entetedan Amendment to Debentures and Warrants, Aggaeand Waiver with tt
Holders of the Company Debentures, which was sulesgty amended in February 2010, as discussed pelow

5. The Holderséxisting right to maintain a fully diluted ownerptéqual to 31.5% has been increased by the Amertdme
fully diluted ownership of 34.5%.
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6. The exercise price of the outstanding Debenturer&iés was decreased from $5.10 per share to $&68hare, whic
also resulted in a corresponding pro rata incré@sbe number of shares that would be purchased @yercise of the Debent
Warrants to an aggregate of 3,055,095 shares.rddhection in exercise price of the Debenture Wasran $4.50 per share and
359,423 share increase in the number of Debentuaerams resulted in an increase in the liability ferivative instruments
$1,679,990 and a corresponding loss was recordethér expense, net due to the change in fair va@flakerivative liabilities.

7. The following additional covenants e@dded to the Debentures (replacing similar cavisnahich had terminated as of J
30, 2009) and remained in full force so long as @fhe Debentures remain outstanding (the “CoveRaniod”):

a. The Company was to maintain a totahdaalance of no less than $100,000 at all timesglthe Covenant Period;

b. The Company was to have an averagehiyoaperating cash burn of no more than $500,000nd the Covena
Period. Operating cash burn was defined by taketgntome (or loss), added back all neash items, and excluded char
in assets, liabilities and financing activities;

C. The Company was to have a minimumecsurratio of 0.5 to 1 at all times during the Comen Period. Th
calculation was to be made by excluding the curpention of the convertible notes payable and aadrinterest, and liabili
from derivative instruments from current liabilfiyr the current ratio;

d. Accounts payable was not to exceed®I® at any time during the Covenant Period;
e. Accrued salaries was not to excee® $8® at any time during the Covenant Period; and
f. The Company was not make any revisiorthe terms of the existing contractual agreemétthe Notes Payable

Former Officer, Related Party Notes Payable and.the of Credit (as each is referred to in the Camps Form 109 for the
period ended June 30, 2009); other than the prevéimuendment to the payment terms of a note payalitee Company
former CEO.

8. The Company was not to deliver a redemption notith respect to the outstanding Debentures untthstime as tr
closing price of the Comparg’common stock shall have exceeded $7.00 (as adjfist stock splits or similar transactions) fom
consecutive trading days prior to the deliveryhaf tedemption notice.

On September 22, 2009, the holders of the OctobBé7 Debentures converted $100,000 of principal 220222 shares of t
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50.aAesult of the conversion, the Company reclaski$i2,799 of the derivati
liability related to the embedded conversion featior additional paid in capital and acceleratedrémegnition of $41,277 of unamortized ¢
discount as interest expense.

On October 9, 2009, the holders of the October 2D8Bentures converted $90,000 principal into 20,868res of the Comparsy’
common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifigd,001 of the derivative liability relat
to the embedded conversion feature to additional pacapital and accelerated the recognition 08,%88 of unamortized debt discoun
interest expense.

On November 17, 2009, the holders of the Octob8i7 Zebentures converted $180,000 principal int@@® shares of the Company’
common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifi@d,368 of the derivative liability relat
to the embedded conversion feature to additional pacapital and accelerated the recognition 0,862 of unamortized debt discoun
interest expense.

On November 24, 2009, the holders of the Octob8i7 Zebentures converted $100,000 principal int@22 shares of the Company’
common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifig8,224 of the derivative liability relat
to the embedded conversion feature to additional pacapital and accelerated the recognition 02,834 of unamortized debt discoun
interest expense.

On January 11, 2010, the holders of the Octobe? ZM¢bentures converted $100,000 principal into 22 ghares of the Company’
common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassi$i@8,001 of the derivative liability relat
to the embedded conversion feature to additional pacapital and accelerated the recognition 05,889 of unamortized debt discoun
interest expense.

On January 15, 2010, the holders of the Octobe? ZM&bentures converted $100,000 principal into 22 ghares of the Company’



common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. A®slt of the conversion, the Company reclassi$éd4,693 of the derivati
liability related to the embedded conversion feattar additional paid in capital and acceleratedrémagnition of $25,451 of unamortized ¢
discount as interest expense.

On February 19, 2010, the Company entered into arerdled and Restated Amendment Agreements with ofaeds of th
Company’s Debentures (as hereinafter defined), whias amended on February 23, 2010 (collectivaly,"2010 Amendment”)pursuant t
which the Company amended and restated the amendimgesements entered into on January 12, 2010 abdu&ry 1, 2010 with tl
holders. Pursuant to the 2010 Amendment, the deteeholders confirmed their prior agreement tcedeitil March 1, 2010 the Compasy’
obligation to make the January 1, 2010 and Febria8010 debenture amortization payments (eacheéraggregate amount of $200,000)
their consent to the Company’s recent 10-to-1 ivetock split. The following is a summary of thatenial terms of the 2010 Amendment:

» each holder converted $1,357,215 in principabamt of the outstanding principal balance of suoldér’'s debenture in exchar
for a number of shares of common stock determineditiding such principal amount by the unit offegiprice in the Company’
equity financing on February 25, 2010 (see Note B@sed on the public offering price of $3.00 prit,ueach holder receivec
total of 452,405 shares of common stock upon caiwer As a result of the conversion of an aggeeg#t$2,714,430 outstandi
principal, the Company reclassified a portion oé terivative liability related to the conversioratigre of the Debentures
$1,450,605 to additional paid in capital and agedésl the recognition of $554,720 of debt discaminterest expense;

» with respect to the remaining outstanding balarfdbe debentures after the foregoing conversidrms Qompany is not obligated
make any principal or interest payments until Mat¢l2011, at which time the Company will be obleghto start making montt
principal and interest payments of $200,000 fordqa of seventeen (17) months with a final ballgaryment due on August
2012. In addition, the future interest of $163,%irdthe aggregate) that would accrue on the outstgnprincipal balance from Ju
1, 2010 (the date to which accrued interest wasiqusly added to principal) to March 1, 2011 waslexdito the current princig
balance of the debentures with a correspondingasa to the debt discount to be amortized overetinaining life of the debt;
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« the conversion price of the remaining outstagdbalance of each debenture was reset to $3 &tban the public offering price;

« the exercise price of the warrants currently hgldie debenture holders was reset to $3.30 pee shiaich is equal to the exerc
price of the warrants included as part of the usitisl in the public offering (110% of the unit affeg price) and the exercise per
was extended to January 1, 2015;

» the termination of certain ardifution provisions contained in the debentures agdrants held by the debenture holders and
right to maintain a fullydiluted ownership of our common stock equal to 3&.%hich, along with the reset of the conversioicq
to $3.00 per share and warrant exercise price 80$3er share, resulted in the reclassificatio8®009,329 of derivative liabili
related to the embedded conversion features anthmtarto additional paid in capital since the micdiion to the terms of tl
warrants no longer required derivative accounting;

» the termination of certain financial covenargglascribed above; and

» each executed a loalp agreement covering a period of 180 days follgvtive effective date of the registration statemprayided
however, that in the event that on any trading dasing the lock-up period the trading price of fiempanys common stoc
exceeds 200% of the offering price of the unitentleach holder may sell at sales prices equal tpeater than 200% of such t
offering price a number of shares of common stackhat trading day (such day referred to as an fOpmding Day”)equal to u
to 10% of the aggregate trading volume of the Camgfgacommon stock on the primary market on which itasling on such Op
Trading Day, and (ii) in the event on any tradiray dluring the lock-up period the trading price fodé €Companys common stoc
exceeds 300% of the unit offering price (also mef@rto as an Open Trading Day), each holder mdyasshles prices equal to
greater than 300% of such unit offering price afinited number of shares of common stock on suckrOprading Day. Sal
under the foregoing clause (ii) on any particulge® Trading Day shall not be aggregated with saheer the foregoing clause
on the same Open Trading Day for purposes of catiogl the 10% limitation under clause (i).

During the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009Ctwmpany recognized an aggregate of $5,291,574%arkP3,116 in intere
expense, respectively, due to amortization of d#btount related to the warrants and embedded csiovefeatures associated with
Company’s outstanding Debentures.

Private Placement Debenture

In March 2009, the Company entered into an Agengye@ment with a broker to raise capital in a pavalacement offering of one-
year convertible debentures pursuant to Regulafloof the Securities Act of 1933 and the Rules prgaied thereunder (th*Private
Placement Debentures™)As of March 31, 2010, the Company had received mtass proceeds of $1,381,500 under this privédegmer
offering of convertible debentures which includesss proceeds of $1,321,500 raised during thegmded March 31, 2010.

The Company had the option to make principal redemp on the maturity dates of the debentures areshof common stock a
conversion price of $5.10 per share. At any tinmdérs were able to convert the debentures intoeshaf common stock at the conver:
price of $5.10. The conversion price was subjeetdjiostment in the event the Company issued its eggxity financing of at least $2,500,00
a price below $5.10 per share. The Private PlaneBebentures were converted to shares of comnook #1 February 2010 (see below).

Per the terms of the convertible debenture agretanére notes had a term of one year from issuandewere redeemable by
Company with two days notice. The notes bore @seat 8% per annum and were convertible into shafrehe Compang common stock a
conversion rate of $5.10 per share. In conneotiih the Private Placement Debentures, the Compssyed to investors an aggregat
54,177 five-year warrants to purchase shares ofChmpany’'s common stock at $5.10 per share (thevédfr Placement Warrants'vhich
included 51,824 warrants issued to investors dutiegyear ended March 31, 2010, and were accodotex$ derivative liabilities (see Note
The Company had determined the aggregate fair \a@fltlee issued warrants as of the dates of eaaft,grased on the BlacReholes pricin
model, to be approximately $291,570 for the yeateenMarch 31, 2010. The exercise price of the vasris subject to adjustment in the e
the Company issues its next equity financing déast $2,500,000 at a price below $5.10 per shatéarch 31, 2010, the aggregate fair vi
of the Private Placement Warrants was $98,787 ardagcounted for as a derivative liability (seed\@jt

In connection with the issuance of the Private &f@ent Debentures, the Company recognized a detntuttisand derivative liability
the dates of issuance in the aggregate amount, b5 72 related to the fair value of the warraatd embedded conversion features, w
included $1,080,201 of debt discount recorded duttime year ended March 31, 2010 comprised of $B38related to the fair value of
embedded conversion features and $291,570 relatdtetfair value of the warrants. Prior to coni@rsthe debt discount was amortize:
interest expense over the life of the debenturet the derivative liability was revalued each repagrtperiod with changes in fair val
recognized in earnings.



On February 25, 2010, immediately prior to the Camys public offering, the holders of the Private Plaeat Debentures conver
the principal balance of $1,381,500 and accruestést of $78,701 into 519,187 shares of the Comigacgmmon stock at a conversion p
of $2.81 in prepayment of all amounts due. As sulteof the conversion, the Company reclassifiegl derivative liability related to tl
conversion feature of the Private Placement Debestof $273,465 to additional paid in capital anedognized the remaining debt discour
approximately $331,002 as interest expense. litiaddpursuant to the antilution provisions contained in the Private PlaeatmWarrar
agreements, the exercise price of the Private RlaneWarrants was reset from $5.10 per share l§2r share and the Company recorc
loss of $2,756 in other expense, net and a cornelpg increase in derivative liabilities (see N8je

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compssiyed 16,253 warrants with an exercise price dftsper share for commissic
due in connection with the CompasyPrivate Placement Debentures. The Company dietednthe aggregate fair value of the issued wasi
based on the Blac&choles pricing model, to be $63,396, or $3.90share as of the effective date of grant, and wesrded in equity with
corresponding charge to deferred financing fedsetamortized to interest expense over the remailifi@f the debt. The remaining bala
of $21,132 was charged to interest expense upovecsion of the Private Placement Debentures inud@epr2010.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Companggnized an aggregate of $1,125,772 in intergsrese due to amortization
debt discount related to the warrants and embedieersion features associated with the Compamyitstanding Private Placem
Debentures. There were no corresponding amounts recognizechgiuhie year ended March 31, 2009 related to theateriPlaceme
Debentures.
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Convertible debentures mature in fiscal years endfter March 31, 2010 as follows:

Years EndingMarch 31, Amount
2011 $ 200,00(
2012 2,400,00!
2013 630,56¢
2014 —
2015 —
Thereafter —
$ 3,230,56:

Note 9. Derivative Liabilities

As described in Note 1, the Company adopted a resmumting principle which required certain instrurtgeto be accounted for
derivative liabilities. The Company’s derivativelilities balance as of March 31, 2010 was $332.,36

In accordance with current accounting guidance K&gte 1), the Compang’outstanding warrants to purchase shares of constock
and embedded conversion features in convertiblesnpayable previously treated as equity were ngdoafforded equity treatment bece
these instruments have reset or ratchet providiweisare triggered in the event the Company raisielitional capital at a lower price, am
other adjustments. As such, effective April 1, 2088 Company reclassified the fair value of thesmmon stock purchase warrants
embedded conversion features, from equity to lighdtatus as if these warrants and conversiorufeatwere treated as derivative liabili
since their dates of issuance or modification. Aange in fair value subsequent to April 1, 2009eisorded as non-operating, noast
income or expense at each reporting date. If tirevédue of the derivatives was higher at the sgheat balance sheet date, the Com
recorded a non-operating, neash charge. If the fair value of the derivativessviower at the subsequent balance sheet dat€ampan
recorded non-operating, naash income. The cumulative effect at April 1, 2@09record, at fair value, a liability for the wants an
embedded conversion features, and related adjustnemliscounts on convertible notes of $2,595,085ulted in an aggregate reductio
equity of $13,875,623 consisting of a reductionatiditional paidin capital of $4,217,730 and an increase in theumcdated deficit ¢
$9,657,893 to reflect the adoption of new accoungnidance.

Fiscal Year 2010 Activity

In July 2009, as a result of the July Agreemers, @ékercise price of the Debenture Warrants wasedsed from $6.00 per shart
$5.10 per share, which resulted in an increashariability for derivative instruments of $1,608(band a corresponding loss was record
other expense, net due to the change in fair \@lderivative liabilities (see Note 8).

In September 2009, as a result of the SeptembemAment, the conversion price of the Debenturesthadexercise price of t
Debenture Warrants was decreased from $5.10 pee $bab4.50 per share, pursuant to the terms ofDblgentures, which resulted in
aggregate increase in the liability for derivatiwstruments of $1,679,990 and a correspondingi@ssrecorded in other expense, net due t
change in fair value of derivative liabilities. &aldition, the conversion price of the Debentures decreased from $5.10 per share to $4.5
share, which resulted in an increase in the numshares of common stock which the Debentures magohgerted into, an increase in
liability for derivative instruments of $802,200cha corresponding loss was recorded in other experet and included in the change in
value of derivative liabilities (see Note 8).

In February 2010, as a result of the conversioallobutstanding amounts due under the Private Rieoé Debentures, the Compi
reclassified the derivative liability for the emloedl conversion feature of $273,465 to additionad jpa capital. In addition, pursuant to
anti-dilution provisions contained in the Private PlaeatWarrant agreements, the exercise price of tivate Placement Warrants was ri
from $5.10 per share to $2.81 per share. The Compecorded an increase in the liability for detiva instrument of $2,756 anc
corresponding loss was recorded in other expemrteand included in the change in fair value of wiive liabilities. The Company determir
the aggregate fair value of the warrants, basetherBlackScholes pricing model, to be $98,786 as of March2R110. See Note 8 foi
discussion of the fair value of the warrants antbesided conversion features as of the dates ofrissua

In February 2010, as a result of the 2010 Amendpikatexercise price of the Debenture Warrantsdeaseased from $4.50 per st
to $3.30 per share, pursuant to the terms of tHeeBtares, which resulted in an increase in thdlitialfor derivative instruments of $231,0
and a corresponding loss was recorded in othernsepenet due to the change in fair value of derigdtabilities. In addition, the conversi
price of the Debentures was decreased from $4.66haee to $3.00 per share which resulted in are@se in the number of shares of com



stock which the Debentures may be converted intojnarease in the liability for derivative instrumeof $1,376,043 and
corresponding loss was recorded in other expertenu included in the change in fair value of igive liabilities (see Note 8).

In February 2010, as a result of the 2010 Amendraadtpartial conversion of the Debentures, the Gompeclassified a portion
the derivative liability related to the conversifaature of the Debentures of $1,653,299 to additigraid in capital. In addition, due to
modification of the terms of the Debentures, theaming derivative liabilities for the embedded wersion features and warrants
$9,009,329 was reclassified to additional paidapital as they no longer require derivative treathfsee Note 8).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaswyeid to various placement agents in lieu of cash &n aggregate of 20,
warrants to purchase shares of the Compmangmmon stock with a fair value of $87,448. Thereise prices of these warrants are eqt
$3.30, as reset from $5.10 on February 25, 2018ugunt to the andlilution provisions contained in the warrant agreats and an additior
10,909 warrant shares were issued for an aggregitieof 30,909 warrants. The Company determinedafgregate fair value of the iss
warrants, based on the BlaBcholes pricing model, to be $55,961 as of March2B10. Since the exercise price of the warrantulgect t
adjustment in the event the Company issues theetpity financing, the warrants are accounted $oa derivative liability.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaaogfified the terms of an aggregate of 54,676 wasrampurchase shares of
Companys common stock which were previously issued toowariplacement agents in lieu of cash fees. On Apr009, in connection wi
the termination of a consulting agreement, the Camgpmodified the terms of 54,676 warrants issue@atober 2007 and May 2008. T
exercise price of the warrants was reduced from@Ber share to $6.00 per share and the expirditanwas extended to 5 years from the
of modification. As a result of the modificatiomet Company recognized expense of $10,763 in otimanse, net based on the change il
Black-Scholes fair value before and after modificati@n February 25, 2010, the exercise price of theams was reduced from $6.00
share to $3.30 per share pursuant to thedihtiion provisions contained in the warrant agreets and an additional 44,735 warrant st
were issued, for an aggregate total of 99,411 wéarshares. The Company recorded an increase ifiathity for derivative instrument «
$5,225 and a corresponding loss was recorded ier @kpense, net and included in the change invidiie of derivative liabilities. Tt
Company determined the aggregate fair value ofstheed warrants, based on the Bl&holes pricing model, to be $179,616 as of Mark,
2010. Since the exercise price of the warransiigect to adjustment in the event the Companyessioe next equity financing, the warr:
are accounted for as a derivative liability.
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During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compacpgnized a net gain of $5,576,979 due to the ahamdair value of it
derivative instruments. See Note 8, for the comptmef changes in derivative liabilities. Duringethear ended March 31, 2009, there wel
derivative liabilities and therefore no recognizgtanges in fair value. The Compasmyommon stock purchase warrants do not trade
active securities market, and as such, the Comestiypated the fair value of these warrants usiegBlack-Scholes option pricing model us
the following assumptions:

March 31,
2010
Expected dividends —
Expected term (in years) 3.50 - 5.00
Risk-free interest rate 1.42% —2.69%
Expected volatility 178% — 204%

Historical volatility was computed using daily grig observations for recent periods that corresptonthe remaining term of t
warrants, which had an original term of five yefimsn the date of issuance. The expected life igtham the remaining term of the warra
The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Tmyasecurities with a maturity corresponding to temaining term of the warrants.

The Company estimated the fair value of the embedubmversion features related to its convertiblbettures using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model using the following@asptions:

March 31,
2010
Expected dividends —
Expected term (in years) 0.09-2.43
Risk-free interest rate 0.06% —1.65%
Expected volatility 81% — 150%

Historical volatility was computed using daily @rig observations for recent periods that corresgorttie remaining life of the relat
debentures. The expected life is based on the némgaterm of the related debentures. The figle interest rate is based on U.S. Tree
securities with a maturity corresponding to the agrimg term of the related debentures.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

The Companys authorized capital consists of 250,000,000 shafresmmon stock, $0.001 par value per share. €briary 5, 201!
the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to Awed and Restated Articles of Incorporation with 8ecretary of State of the Stat
Nevada to effect a -to-1 reverse stock split of the Compasyssued and outstanding shares of common stoskof March 31, 2010 a
2009, 8,136,619 and 4,186,194 shares of commoR stere issued and outstanding, respectively.

Fiscal Year 2009 Activit

In October 2007, the Company engaged the firm oh€®M, Inc. to perform the services as the Compmirywestor relations a
public relations representative for a monthly fde$@,500 per month. Pursuant to the terms of &fsmonth consulting agreement,
Company issued 15,000 shares of common stock @teqf $8.00 per share and a total value of $10,the resale of which is registered
Form S-8 registration statement and 25,000 fullste® and norfierfeitable warrants at an exercise price of $1560share for a period of t
and one-half years, valued at $229,834 as caldilsdéng the Blackscholes option pricing model. On November 13, 2@8& Company file
the Form S8 as required by this agreement with the Securéie$ Exchange Commission. The Company recordeddh®ined value ¢
$349,834 for the issued shares and warrants asigregpense and was amortized over the life obtregices agreement which was termin
during fiscal year 2010. As of March 31, 2010 &009, the unamortized balance of the value of Haees and warrants issued to Carpe
Inc. was $0 and $174,928, respectively. Amort@agxpense related to the value of the shares andmis was $174,928 and $116,604 fo
years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivalysaincluded in selling, general and administetxpense:

In April 2008, the Company rescinded and cancellddD14 shares of registered common stock for graiciedemptions of ti
October 2007 Debentures totaling $117,720 and dtémnthe cash payments in the same amounts to thmders. Pursuant to a otime
waiver of certain equity conditions, the remain®ig,588 of the March 31 principal redemption wagistéd to reflect a ontme conversio
rate of $7.00 and, in April 2008 the Company isstledholder 1,681 additional registered sharesisideration. In addition, the March



2008 interest payments were adjusted to reflectestime conversion price of $7.00 and in April 2008 thompany issued the Octo
2007 Debenture holders 2,209 additional commonksshares. The additional interest expense for thelier 2007 Debentures of $5,
related to the one-time conversion rate adjustmeitse March 31, 2008 principal and interest pagtadérom $8.40 to $7.00 waiscluded ir
accrued interest for the October 2007 Debentured &karch 31, 2008.

During fiscal 2009, the Company issued 24,472 shafeestricted common stock in lieu of fees paiddrious consultants for servi

performed. These shares were issued at an averiageop$6.90 (based on the underlying stock primeshe dates of issuances) for a total
of $168,769 which has been included in selling,egahand administrative expenses for the year eMiadh 31, 2009.
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During fiscal 2009, the Company issued 8,269 shafeommon stock resulting from exercises of stopkions and warrants at
average price of $0.40 per share for proceeds F0$3and issued 15,002 shares of common stock fhentashless exercises of a tote
15,700 stock options.

Under the terms of the January Amendment, in Febr2@09, the Company issued a total of 40,000intstt common stock shares
the October 2007 and May 2008 Debenture Holders.tdtal fair value of the shares issues totaledt¥II® and has been included in the
on extinguishment of debt for the year ended M&Lh2009.

In March 2009, the Company issued 15,758 fgistered shares of common stock in lieu of fegisl for services performed
consultants. On March 28, 2009, the Company fifedRorm S8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission. &lsésres were issued
value of $5.10 per share for a total cost of $88,8Bich has been included in selling, general airdinistrative expenses for the year er
March 31, 2009.

Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

On September 28, 2009, the Company issued 2,358ssbhhcommon stock, in lieu of $12,000 in feegidar services performed
Carpe DM, Inc., which were issued at a value ofil@5er share (also see additional Carpe DM traiwsectn “ Fiscal Year 2009 Activity
above).

In May 2009, $713,000 of the October 2007 Debestuvas converted by the note holders. Using thevesion rate of $5.10 ¢
share per the terms of the Debenture, 139,804 slohregistered common stock were issued to thesiovs.

In July 2009, the Company engaged an agent toitstiles holders of certain warrants to exerciserthights to purchase shares of
Companys common stock. Pursuant to the terms of the exrgagt, the Company agreed to pay the agent contpensd 5% of the gros
proceeds totaling $76,632, which is included eqgaityl netted against the gross proceeds in the g@gnmg consolidated balance shet
March 31, 2010. In addition, the Company issuethéoagent a warrant to purchase a number of slbtée Companys common stock eqt
to 5% of the number of shares issued in the ex@mishe warrants, or a total of 23,952 warrantthwai fair value of $98,256 or $4.10
share. The warrant has an exercise price of $&ntiowill permit the agent or its designees to pasehshares of common stock on or prit
October 1, 2014. The fair value of warrants hasnbeecorded as an offset to additional paid intehmin the accompanying consolide
balance sheet. During the year ended March 310,2thk Company issued 479,033 shares of its comstmmk for gross cash proceed:
$1,437,100 from the exercise of warrants whichltedurom the solicitation.

During July 2009, the Company entered into the Agyeement with the holders of the Companipebentures (see Note 8). Purs
to the terms of the July Agreement, the Holdersdnsented to the Compasyissuance of convertible notes and warrants imection witt
the Bridge Financing of up to $1,500,000 which caenoed in March 2009, and (ii) waived, as it relatethe Bridge Financing, a coven
contained in the Debentures not to incur any furthdebtedness, except as otherwise permitted &D#bentures. This Bridge Financin
more particularly described in Note 8 above undwr taption “Private Placement Debenturds.”addition, in connection with the Ji
Agreement, the Company and Holders confirmed thathé exercise price of the warrants issued to Heéders in connection with th
purchase of the Debentures had been reduced, parsuthe terms of the warrants, to $5.10 as altre$uhe Bridge Financing, and (ii) a:
result of the foregoing decrease in the exerciggppursuant to the terms of the warrants, thebmrrof shares underlying the warrants hel
Holders of the Debentures had been proportionatiyeased by 404,350 pursuant to the terms of theantaagreements (see Note 8).

In August 2009, the Company issued warrants tolase 600 shares of common stock in lieu of payrne@ary C. Cannon, wl
then served as Corporate Legal Counsel for the @osnand as a member of the Advisory Board, to msehshares of the Compasny’
common stock at an exercise price of $5.10 peresiih a five year term. The exercise prices ostherarrants are greater than or equal t
stock price of the Company’s shares as of the dfaggant. The fair market value of the warrantseabsn the BlaclScholes pricing model
$2,799 was recorded as consulting and compensatipense and included in selling, general and aditnative expenses during the year el
March 31, 2010. In July 2009, Mr. Cannon was giwer80 day notice of his termination as general legainsel and advisor to 1
Company. During November 2009, the Company issy@tidshares of common stock to Mr. Cannon in liepayment for services for a tc
expense of $22,000 which has been included imseltieneral and administrative expenses.

Effective September 1, 2009, in connection with September Amendment with the holders of the Delvent the exercise price
the Debenture Warrants was reduced to $4.50 pameshhich resulted in a proportionate increasehi mumber of shares that may
purchased upon the exercise of such warrants gfi383%hares (see Note 8).

In September 2009, $100,000 of the October 200&btelbes was converted by the note holder. Usiagdmversion rate of $4.50 |
share per the terms of the Debentures, 22,222 sfiaegistered common stock were issued to thestove



On October 30, 2009, the Company issued 5,881 sludireommon stock, in lieu of fees paid for sersiperformed by the Board
Directors. These shares were issued at a val$i4.80 per share, for a total value of $25,288.

During October and November 2009, the holders ef@ttober 2007 Debentures converted $370,000 pehaito 82,222 shares
the Company’s common stock at a conversion pricedds0 per share per the terms of the Debentuess ®te 8).

During January, 2010, the holders of the Octob&72Debentures converted $200,000 principal int@44l shares of the Compary’
common stock at a conversion price of $4.50 perespar the terms of the Debentures (see Note 8).

On February 19, 2010, we entered into the 2010 Almemt with the holders of our Debentures (see BptePursuant to the 20
Amendment, the holders each converted $1,357,23&intipal amount of the outstanding principal Inaka of such holdes’ debenture
exchange for a number of shares of common stoakméted by dividing such principal amount by thét wffering price. Based on the put
offering price of $3.00 per unit, each holder rgedia total of 452,405 shares of common stock womversion. The conversion price of
remaining outstanding balance of each debentureregzd to $3.00 based on the Comparmpublic offering price. As a result of the corsier
of an aggregate of $2,714,430 outstanding princifed Company reclassified a portion of the denwatiability related to the conversi
feature of the Debentures of $1,450,605 to additigraid in capital. In addition, pursuant to th@l@ Amendment, certain ardilution
provisions contained in the debentures and warraeld by the debenture holders were terminatedgaleith the right to maintain a fully-
diluted ownership of our common stock equal to 34.8/hich resulted in the reclassification of $9,(2® of derivative liability related to t
embedded conversion features and warrants to additpaid in capital. Pursuant to the terms of2880 Amendment, the exercise price of
warrants currently held by the debenture holders meset to equal the exercise price of the warnactaded as part of the units sold in
Company’s public offering (110% of the unit offegiprice or $3.30 per share) and the exercise parasiextended to January 1, 2015.

On February 25, 2010 the Company completed a pualfigring of units consisting of 1,666,667 sharéshe Companys commo
stock and 1,666,667 warrants to purchase one siidne Companys common stock for gross proceeds of $5,000,00Inahdash proceeds
approximately $3,742,097. Each unit consisting né share, together with one warrant to purchasesbiaee, was priced at $3.00.
warrants issued as part of the offering have amcésee price of $3.30 and a term of 5 years. Initaid the Company issued a warran
purchase 83,333 shares of the Company’s commoh &idbe underwrites representative at an exercise price of $3.75 avBhyear term ai
have a fair value of $199,043 based on the BBcheles pricing model. Pursuant to the offerihg, Company issued to an investment be
warrants to purchase 17,500 shares of the Compamyhmon stock with a fair value of $41,939, whiepresented 7% of the warrants iss
to the holders of the Company’s Debentures pagtaig in the public offering, at an exercise pra¢es3.30 per share and a 5 year term.
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During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compsswyeid to the purchasers of the Private Placeméygridgres warrants to purch
an aggregate of 51,824 shares of common stock atitéad exercise price of $5.10. In February 2piimediately prior to the Comparsy
public offering, the holders of the Private Placeti@ebentures converted the aggregate principahical of $1,381,500 and accrued intere
$78,701 into 519,186 shares of the Compamgmmon stock at a conversion price of $2.81 apayment of all amounts due. As a rest
the conversion of all outstanding amounts, the Camgpreclassified the derivative liability for thmbedded conversion feature of $273,4¢
additional paid in capital. In addition, pursudatthe antidilution provisions contained in the Private PlaesmWarrant agreements,
exercise price of the Private Placement Warrantsneset from $5.10 per share to $2.81 per shaeeNstes 8 and 9).

On March 23, 2010, the Company issued warrantsutohase 15,000 shares of the Comparggmmon stock with a fair value
$27,426 to an agent for continued shareholder stgtcan exercise price of $1.91 per share. Theamts were recorded in equity witl
corresponding charge to general and administratipense.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasyed 20,000 warrants to purchase shares of theg&ogrs common stock
various placement agents. The warrants were issudtpril 2009 with a fair value of $87,448 and awercise price of $5.10 and w
classified as derivative liabilities. The exercpee of these warrants was reset to $3.30 peedham $5.10 per share on February 25, !
pursuant to the antiution provisions contained in the warrant agreets, and an additional 10,909 warrant shares vesteed for a
aggregate total of 30,909 warrants (see Note 9).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaaoylified the terms of 54,676 warrants to purchasseshof the Company’
common stock which were previously issued to variplacement agents and currently classified avatere liabilities. In April 2009, th
exercise price of the warrants was reduced from@Ber share to $6.00 per share and the expirditawas extended to 5 years from the
of modification. On February 25, 2010, the exergisice of the warrants was reduced from $6.00spare to $3.30 per share pursuant t
anti-dilution provisions contained in the warrant agreats and an additional 44,735 warrant shares veswged, for an aggregate tota
99,411 warrant shares. See Note 9 for a discuséitire accounting impact.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasyeid 4,719 shares of common stock upon the castescise of a total
11,640 warrants at an average exercise price &%2er share and 11,034 shares of common stock ty@onashless exercise of a tote
11,900 options at an average exercise price ofl0fe4 share.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasuyed 20,942 shares of common stock the resalehiwhwvas registere
pursuant to Form 8-in lieu of fees paid for services performed bysadtants. On April 13, 2009 and June 11, 2008,Gbmpany filed tt
related Forms 8 with the SEC. These shares were issued at & e&lfi5.10 per share with a total value of $106,806h has been includ
in selling, general and administrative expensesheryear ended March 31, 2010.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Companyerted interest payments due on the Debentutralén $171,253 into 42,8
shares of common stock using the conversion ragd @0 per share.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, a total gb@Q warrants and 190,553 stock options with a kteid) average fair value
$3.53 per share were granted to employees andalisgsee Note 11).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasyeid 16,253 warrants with a fair value of $63,88€63.90 per share 1
commissions due in connection with the Companyigd®e Placement Debentures (see Note 8).

The following summary information reflects warramiststanding as of March 31, 2010 (other than tlisseed to the Comparsy’
employees, officers, directors and related constdtpresented in the Stock Compensation Plan $eotilow) and other related details:

Warrants Outstanding

Year of Grant Number Outstanding, Remaining Contractual
(as of March 31) Exercise Price Vested and Exercisable Life (Years)
2003 $5.00 20,00( 0.68
2008 $1.50 - $35.00 1,778,57. 3.71
2009 $2.81 - $8.50 659,88: 3.25
2010 $1.91 - $5.10 2,769,22. 5.14

5,227,67
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Note 11. Stock Compensation Plan

The Company accounts for share-based payments ptogees and directors in accordance with shmased payment account
literature which requires all shabased payments to employees and directors, ingugliants of employee stock options and warrantbe
recognized in the consolidated financial statembated upon their fair values. The Company use8ldek-Scholes option pricing model
estimate the grant-date fair value of shiaased awards. Fair value is determined at theafaeant. The consolidated financial statementat
of forfeitures is estimated at the time of grand aevised, if necessary, if the actual effect difffom those estimates. The estimated av
forfeiture rate for the years ended March 31, 2840 2009 was zero, as the Company has not hadificagt history of forfeitures and dc
not expect forfeitures in the future.

Cash flows resulting from the tax benefits resgltirom tax deductions in excess of the compensaiish recognized for those optis
or warrants to be classified as financing cash slo®ue to the Comparg/loss position, there were no such tax benefiteguhe years end
March 31, 2010 and 2009.

Plan Descriptions

The Company maintains two stock option plans, @22Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Pla@afd the 2009 Stock Incentive F
(the “2009 Plan™)The 2002 Plan provides for grants of incentive lstmgtions and nonqualified options to employeeeaors and consultal
of the Company to purchase the Comparshares at the fair value, as determined by mamaxgieand the board of directors, of such shar
the grant date. The options are subject to vanessing conditions and generally vest over a tiyese- period beginning on the grant date
have seven to teyear term. The 2002 Plan also provides for thetgrgrof restricted shares of common stock subjeatetsting requiremen
The Company is authorized to issue up to 500,0@@eshunder this plan and has 393,736 shares deaftatfuture issuances as of March
2010.

On October 9, 2009, the Compasystockholders approved and adopted the 2009 Riasich had previously been approved by
Companys Board of Directors on August 31, 2009. The 202é Provides for the grant of incentive stock opipnonqualified stock optiol
restricted stock rights, restricted stock, perfamneashare units, performance shares, performarste ax@ards, stock appreciation rights,
stock grant awards (collectively, “Awards”) to emoypees, officers, noemployee directors, consultants and independentramiors of th
Company. The 2009 Plan also permits the grant afrdsvthat qualify for the “performance-based conspénn” exception to the $1,000,0
limitation on the deduction of compensation imposgdSection 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Codeotal of 1,200,000 shares of
Companys common stock are authorized for the granting whls under the 2009 Plan. The number of sharelblafor future awards,
well as the terms of outstanding awards, is sultfeerdjustment as provided in the 2009 Plan foclsgplits, stock dividends, recapitalizati
and other similar events. Awards may be granteceutite 2009 Plan until October 9, 2019 or untilshlares available for awards under
2009 Plan have been purchased or acquired. The &vonip authorized to issue up to 1,200,000 sharderuhis plan and has 1,023,047 st
available for future issuances as of March 31, 2010

In addition to the stock options issued pursuanth®s Companys two stock option plans, the Company has grantadants t
employees, officers, noamployee directors, consultants and independentraiors. The warrants are generally not subjecvesting
requirements and have ten-year terms. At Marct2810 there were 16,667 warrants outstanding sutgjegsting conditions.

As of March 31, 2010, a total of 65,395 and 176,968res of common stock were reserved for issuander the 2002 and 2C
Stock Plans, respectively, and a total of 312,8%Fes of common stock were reserved for issuanca agercise of outstanding warrants
summary of the Company’s employee and directorkstgtion and warrant activity and related inforroatduring the 2010 fiscal year follows:

Weighted-
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life  Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at April 1, 2009 523,38¢ $ 6.8¢ 6.82
Granted 211,550 $ 3.54
Exercised (15,759 $ 1.12 $ 79,96¢
Canceled (163,989 $ 5.31

Outstanding and expected to vest at March 31, 2010 555,20: $ 6.22 758 $ 29,901




Exercisable at March 31, 2010 378,53. $ 7.4€ 7.00 % 29,901
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The following summary information reflects stockiops and warrants outstanding, vesting and reldésdils as of March 31, 2010:

Stock Options and Warrants Outstanding

Remaining

Year of Grant Number Contractual Vested and

(as of March 31) Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable
2002 $ 10.0¢ 5,00( 3.5¢ 5,00(
2003 — — — —
2004 6.0C 20,00( 4.2¢ 20,00(
2005 0.40-6.0C 26,79¢ 3.3¢ 26,79:
2006 — = =
2007 2.80-10.0C 111,33¢ 6.4¢ 111,33!
2008 7.50-10.8( 88,78( 7.7 88,78(
2009 5.10-10.5(C 91,74( 7.1% 75,07
2010 $ 2.20-8.3C 211,55! 8.4¢ 51,55(
555,20: 378,53

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricinglehto recognize the value of stock-based compiemsaxpense for all share-
based payment awards. Determining the approprétevélue model and calculating the fair value tfck-based awards at the grant «
requires considerable judgment, including estintatock price volatility, expected option life afmfeiture rates. The Company devel
estimates based on historical data and marketnr#ton, which can change significantly over tim&weTBlackScholes model requires
Company to make several key judgments including:

* The expected option term reflects the applicatibthe simplified method set out in SAB No. 1d¥agBased Payment (SAB 10
which was issued in March 2005. In December 2007 SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 1388 110), which extent
the use of the “simplified” method, under certairtemstances, in developing an estimate of expeteted of “plain vanilla”shar:
options. Accordingly, the Company has utilized #8verage of the contractual term of the optionsthedwveighted average vest
period for all options and warrants to calculai ¢épected option term.

» Estimated volatility also reflects the histali volatility pattern of the Company’s share price

* The dividend yield is based on the Companjstohical pattern of dividends as well as expectizitiend patterns.

» The riskfree rate is based on the implied yield of U.S.abrey notes as of the grant date with a remair@ng approximately eqt
to the expected term.

» Estimated forfeiture rate of 0% per year is ldasa the Company’ historical forfeiture activity of unvested stooktions. Th
Company used the following assumptions for stodioog and warrants granted during the years endaatiM31, 2010 and 2009:

Years Ended March 31,

2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.38% — 3.04% 1.52% — 3.15%
Expected volatility 179% — 197% 201% — 266%
Expected life (in years) 3.50 - 6.02 5.00
Expected dividend yield N/A N/A
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For the years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, flewiag represent the Comparsyiveighted average fair value displayed by ¢

year:
Weighted
Average
Fair Value of
Options and
Grant Year Granted Warrants
March 31, 2010 211,55. $ 3.5¢
March 31, 2009 91,47( % 5.0¢

There were 21,000 warrants and 190,553 stock apfionan aggregate of 211,553 shares granted tdogegs and directors duri
the year ended March 31, 2010 and 91,740 warrantsha stock options for an aggregate of 91,470eshgranted to employees and direc
during the year ended March 31, 2009. In conneatiith the warrants and options granted and th&éngsf prior warrants issued, during
years ended March 31, 2010 and 2009, the Compayded total charges of $559,561 and $289,497 eotisely, which have been incluc
in selling, general and administrative expensethéaccompanying consolidated statements of opasati The Company issues new st
from its authorized shares upon exercise of wasranbptions.

As of March 31, 2010 and 2009, there was $471,4@lL$287,722, respectively, of total unrecognizethgensation cost, related
non-vested stock options and warrants, which igetqa to be recognized over a remaining weightedaae vesting period of 1.69 years.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock optionswaadants exercised during the years ended MarcB@®IQ and 2009 was $79,964
$203,012, respectively.

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitment

On July 2, 2007, the Company entered into a legseeanent with Viking InvestorsBarents Sea, LLC (Lessor) for a building v
approximately 11,881 square feet of manufacturing affice space located at 20382 Barents Sea Citelkee Forest, CA, 92630. The le
agreement is for a period of two years with renesglons for three, ongear periods, beginning September 1, 2007. Thes lesguired ba:
lease payments of approximately $10,000 per molth gperating expenses. In connection with theeleageement, the Company issued t
lessor a warrant to purchase 1,000 shares of constook at an exercise price of $15.50 per shara foeriod of two years, valued at $15,
as calculated using the Black Scholes option pgicitodel. The assumptions used under the B&aholes pricing model included: a risk 1
rate of 4.75%; volatility of 293%; an expected term of 5 years; and no annual dividend iEte. Company capitalized and amortizec
value of the warrant over the life of the lease sembrded the unamortized value of the warrantlieiolongterm assets. For the years er
March 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company amortized782a@d $7,104, respectively. As of March 31, 200fair value of the warrant has b
fully amortized. On August 24, 2009, the Companieeed into the second amendment to the leasésfananufacturing and office space.
amendment extended the lease for twelve months tinenend of the existing lease term with a rightdacel the lease with a minimum of .
day written notice at anytime as of November 30020 In June 2010, Company entered into the thimkradlment to the lease for
manufacturing and office space. The amendment dgtethe lease for sixty months commencing JulyO102with a right to cancel the lei
with a minimum of 120 day written notice at anytiaof December 31, 2012.

In the event the Company does exercise its optiarahcel the lease, the Company shall reimbursedhksor for the unearned leas
commissions. Rent expense on the facilities anépetgnt during 2010 and 2009 was $144,728 and $682yéspectively.

Future annual minimum payments under operatingekease as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2011 $ 89,81:
2012 86,25!
2013 90,177
2014 96,59¢
2015 104,79¢

Thereafter 26,73



$ 494,36:

The above schedule of future annual minimum paysleas been adjusted to reflect the lease amendmaared into with the Lessor
subsequent to year end (see Note 15).

Litigation

The Company may become a party to product litigatiothe normal course of business. The Companguasdor open claims bas
on its historical experience and available insueacmverage. In the opinion of management, therearegal matters involving the Comp:
that would have a material adverse effect uporCibvmpany’s financial condition or results of opesas.

Indemnities and Guarantee

The Company has made certain indemnities and giggesnunder which it may be required to make paysnena guaranteed
indemnified party, in relation to certain actionstmansactions. The Company indemnifies its direstofficers, employees and agents
permitted under the laws of the States of Calif@mid Nevada. In connection with its facility lease Company has indemnified its lesso
certain claims arising from the use of the facilithe duration of the guarantees and indemnitieesaand is generally tied to the life of
agreement. These guarantees and indemnities dwaate for any limitation of the maximum potentiature payments the Company coulc
obligated to make. Historically, the Company hashbeen obligated nor incurred any payments fordlesigations and, therefore, no liabili
have been recorded for these indemnities and giggsin the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
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Note 13. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets as of March 31, 2010 and 2009 are sholewbe

2010 2009
Deferred tax asset:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 10,938,000 $ 5,031,00(
Research credits 24,00 —
Expenses recognized for granting of options andamnds 800,00( 862,00(
Accrued expenses and reserves 104,00( 178,00(
Valuation allowance (11,866,000 (6,071,000

$ — $ =

Based on the weight of available evidence, the Goips management has determined that it is not moedylithan not that the r
deferred tax assets will be realized. Therefdre, Gompany has recorded a full valuation allowaagainst the net deferred tax assets.
Company’s income tax provision consists of stateimiim taxes.

The income tax provision differs from that computesihg the federal statutory rate applied to inctra®®re taxes as follows:

2010 2009
Computed tax benefit at federal statutory rate $ (1,920,000 $ (5,679,000
State tax, net of federal benefit (645,000 1,00C
Non deductible extinguishment of del — 3,688,00(
Permanent items and other (3,226,400 1,036,60(
Valuation allowance 5,793,00( 955,00(
$ 1,60C $ 1,60C

At March 31, 2010, the Company has federal ane stat operating loss carry forwards of approxinya$7,463,000 and $27,4.
000 which will begin to expire in 2019 and 2013spectively, unless previously utilized. At March, 2010, the Company has federal
California research and development tax creditapproximately $14,000 and $13,000, respectivelye flederal research tax credit begir
expire in 2026 unless previously utilized and ttaifGrnia research tax credit has no expiratioredat

Utilization of the net operating loss and reseamsti development carry forwards might be subjeet sabstantial annual limitation ¢
to ownership change limitations that may have aezlor that could occur in the future, as requingdSection 382 of the Internal Reve
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Coda¥ well as similar state and foreign provisionsesghownership changes may limit the amount of
and R&D credit carryforwards that can be utilizethaally to offset future taxable income and taspextively. In general, aroinershi|
change” as defined by Section 382 of the Code t®dtdm a transaction or series of transactions @véhreeyear period resulting in .
ownership change of more than 50 percentage pofrite outstanding stock of a company by certaicldtolders or public groups. Since
Companys formation, the Company has raised capital thraighissuance of capital stock on several occasidrish, combined with tf
purchasing stockholdersubsequent disposition of those shares, may hauéted in such an ownership change, or could ré@s@ah ownershi
change in the future upon subsequent disposition.

The Company has not completed a study to assesthevhen ownership change has occurred. If the Cagnpas experienced
ownership change, utilization of the NOL or R&D ditecarryforwards would be subject to an annuaitition under Section 382 of the Cc
which is determined by first multiplying the valoéthe Company’s stock at the time of the ownersthignge by the applicable long-term, tax-
exempt rate, and then could be subject to additiatjastments, as required. Any limitation mayutes expiration of a portion of the NOL
R&D credit carryforwards before utilization. Furthentil a study is completed and any limitatiorkieown, no amounts are being considere
an uncertain tax position or disclosed as an umgized tax benefit under FIN 48. Due to the exist of the valuation allowance, fut
changes in the Comparsyunrecognized tax benefits will not impact iteefive tax rate. Any carryforwards that will expiprior to utilizatiol
as a result of such limitations will be removedhiirdeferred tax assets with a corresponding reductidhe valuation allowance.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardar8d“FASB”) issued Financial Interpretation (* FIN 48, “ Accounting fo
Uncertainty in Income Taxes (codified primarily in FASB ASC Topic 740ncome Taxe$ which clarifies the accounting for uncertaint



income taxes recognized in the financial statemengccordance with Statement of Financial Accountstandards (“SFAS”) 109, “
Accounting for Income Taxe,” (codified primarily in FASB ASC Topic 740ncome Taxeg. FIN 48 provides that a tax benefit from
uncertain tax position may be recognized when iinre likely than not that the position will be gised upon examination, includi
resolutions of any related appeals or litigationgaisses, based on the technical merits. IncompdsiXions must meet a more likely than
recognition threshold.The Company did not record any unrecognized tayefitsnupon adoption of Accounting for Uncertainty Incom

Taxes. The Company's policy is to recognize irsteg@d penalties that would be assessed in reltditre settlement value of unrecognizec
benefits as a component of income tax expense.
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The Company does not have any unrecognized taXitsetieat will significantly decrease or increasghin 12 months of March 3
2010. The Company is subject taxation in the USthadstate of California.

As of March 31, 2010, the Company is no longeractjo U.S. federal examinations for year befor@&@nd for California franchi
and income tax examinations before 2005. Howewethe extent allowed by law, the taxing authositreay have the right to examine p
periods where net operating losses were generatkdaried forward, and make adjustments up taatheunt of the net operating loss ci
forward amount. The Company is not currently urelemination by U.S. federal or state jurisdictions

Note 14. Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudite)

The following table sets forth a summary of our ustited quarterly operating results for each of ldst eight quarters in the per
ended March 31, 2010. This data has been deriead dur unaudited consolidated interim financiatestzents which, in our opinion, have b
prepared on substantially the same basis as thteddihancial statements contained elsewhereigrgport and include all normal recurr
adjustments necessary for a fair presentationefittancial information for the periods presentédese unaudited quarterly results shoul
read in conjunction with our financial statemems aotes thereto included elsewhere in this reddmt. operating results in any quarter are
necessarily indicative of the results that may xgeeted for any future period (in thousands exeephings per share).

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept.30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,

2010 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
(Unaudited)
Revenues: $ 75 $ 21 % 8 $ 14 $ 7 9% 9 % 6 $ 13
Cost of revenues 25€ 135 177 14¢ 127 16€ 13E 11¢€
Gross loss (184) (112) (169) (135) (120C) (157) (12€) (10%)
Research and development 15 89 93 88 68 13 10t 111
Selling, general and administrative 1,114 69C 77¢ 72¢ 497 551 78C 56C
Total costs and expenses 1,12¢ 77¢ 872 817 (565) 564 88t 671
Loss from operations (1,319 (891) (1,047 (952) (68E) (727) (1,019 (77¢€)
Other income (expense), net 747 3,34z (6,144) 602 (4,774) (739) (55E) (7,446

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (56€) $ 2,451 $ (7,185) $ (350 $ (5459 $ (1,45) $ (1,569 $ (8,220

Income taxes — — 2 — 1 — _ 1

Net income (loss

©“

(566) $ 2451 $ (7,18)) $ (350 $ (5.46() $ (1,459 $ (1,569 $ (8,229

Net income (loss) per common she
Basic (0.0¢) 0.5C (1.56) (0.08) (1.32) (0.3%) (0.3%) (2.00)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding:

Basic 6,242 4,917 4,61¢ 4,29¢ 4,14¢ 4,121 4,115 4,10z

Diluted 6,24: 6,57 4,61¢ 4,29¢ 4,14¢ 4,121 4,11 4,10:




Note 15. Subsequent Events

On April 1, 2010 the Company granted to Chris Caatiplyice President of Sales a stock option to pase 15,000 shares of
Companys common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 parestalued at $27,963 as calculated using the Blatioles option pricing mod
The assumptions used under the Bl&dkoles pricing model included: a risk free rat@ &9%:; volatility of 193%; an expected exercisan
of 3.5 years; and no annual dividend rate. Thesiems vest beginning April 1, 2011 over 5 years.

On April 15, 2010, the Company entered into offssvice agreements with Regus Management Group, (UeSsor) for five (&
executive offices located at 402 West Broadwayn Baéego, CA 92101. The office service agreememnésfar periods ranging from 3 tc
months ending October 31, 2010. The office seraigreements require base lease payments of appitekn$®,100 per month.

In April 2010, the Company issued 13,636 sharesnoéstricted common stock in lieu of fees paid aaus consultants for servic
incurred in fiscal year 2010 pursuant to the CoryfsaRorm S8 filed on April 27, 2010. These shares were idsatea value of $1.76 per sh
for a total cost of $24,000 which is included irtagnts payable and selling, general and administrais of and for the year ended March
2010.

On May 11, 2010 the Company granted to Bret Bodim/ice President of Operations a fully vestedlstoption to purchase 20,C
shares of the compargycommon stock at an exercise price of $1.89 paresfor fiscal year 2010 annual incentive. Thisi@pis valued ¢
$34,034 as calculated using the Black Scholes ogitr@cing model. The assumptions used under thekB®zholes pricing model included
risk free rate of 2.26%; volatility of 174%; an eqbed exercise term of 3.5 years; and no annualetid rate. This cost is included in sell
general and administrative for the year ended Ma&dc2010.

In May 2010, the Company granted a warrant to ssualbent to purchase 40,000 shares of common stditkam exercise price
$1.89 valued at $68,068 as calculated using thekB&choles option pricing model. The assumptioredusnder the Blackcholes pricin
model included: a risk free rate of 2.26%; volgtilbf 174%; an expected exercise term of 3.5 yemnd; no annual dividend raté/ith 20,00(
shares vesting upon issuance and the remainin@@8}tares vesting upon completion of certain kdgstones to be developed by the CEO.

In May 2010, we obtained a key man life insuranoéicies on the Compang’ Chief Executive Officer. Annual premiums on
policy total approximately $33,000.

In June 2010, Company entered into the third amemdito the lease for its manufacturing and offigace. The amendment exten

the lease for sixty months commencing July 1, 2@ih a right to cancel the lease with a minimunil@d day written notice at anytime a:
December 31, 2012.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&8f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this Rej
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized.

CRYOPORT, INC.
Dated: June 21, 2010 By: /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH

Larry G. Stambaugh,
President & Chief Executive Officer, and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each perschose signature appears below constitutes andirgpplLarry G
Stambaugh, President and Chief Executive Officad &@atherine M. Doll, Chief Financial Officer, améch of them, his true and law
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with the full powérsabstitution and reubstitution, for him and in his name, place arehdt in any and :
capacities, to sign any amendments to this repad,to file the same, with exhibits thereto andceotiiocuments in connection therewith, \
the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting e&ach said attorney-iiact and agent full power and authority to do aedfigrm each ar
every act in person, hereby ratifying and confirgnill that said attorney-ifact and agent, or either of them, or their or $ubstitute ¢
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbeated:

Signature Capacity Date
/sl Larry G. Stambaugh President & Chief Executive June 21, 2010
Larry G. Stambaugh Officer (Principal Executive

Officer), and Director
[sl Catherine M. Doll Chief Financial Officer June 21, 2010
Catherine M. Doll (Principal Financial and

Principal Accounting Officer)

[/s/ Carlton M. Johnson Director June 21, 2010
Carlton M. Johnson

/s/ Adam Michelin Director June 21, 2010
Adam Michelin
/s/ J. Hank Bonde Director June 21, 2010

J. Hank Bonde
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Exhibit
No. Description

1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement***

3.1 Corporate Charter for G.T.5-Limited issued by th&t&of Nevada on March 15, 2005. Incorporatedetigrence to CryoPort’s
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated Falpr23, 2006.

3.2 Articles of Incorporation for G.T.5-Limited fileditih the State of Nevada in May 25, 1990. Incorpaxidiy reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.

3.3 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of G.T.5-lited increasing the authorized shares of commark$tom 5,000,000 to
100,000,000 shares of common stock filed with ttaeeSof Nevada on October 12, 2004. Incorporateckfarence to CryoPort's
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated Falpr3, 2006.

3.4 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation changing ttzne of the corporation from G.T.5-Limited to GPgot, Inc. filed with the
State of Nevada on March 16, 2005. Incorporatetefgrence to CryoPort’s Registration Statement@mF1L0-SB/A4 dated
February 23, 2006.

3.4.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation d&@etober 19, 2008. Incorporated by reference y@Bort's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed October 19, 2007.

3.4.2 Certificate of Amendment to Articlefslimcorporation filed with the State of Nevada ooMémber 2, 2009.***

3.4.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatditlas of Incorporation. Incorporated by referetmw€ryoPort’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed February 5, 2010.

3.5 Amended and Restated By-Laws of CryoPort, Inc. setbpy the Board of Directors on June 22, 2005andnded by the
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and RestateldBy of CryoPort, Inc. adopted by the Board of Dlioes on October 9,
2009 . ***

3.6 Articles of Incorporation of CryoPort Systems, Ified with the State of California on December 2000, including Corporate
Charter for CryoPort Systems, Inc. issued by tla¢eSaf California on December 13, 2000. Incorpatdtg reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.

3.7 By-Laws of CryoPort Systems, Inc. adopted by tharmf Directors on December 11, 2000. Incorporatedeference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.

3.8 CryoPort, Inc. Stock Certificate Specimen. Incogted by reference to CryoPort’s Registration Statgnon Form 10-SB/A4
dated February 23, 2006.

3.9 Code of Conduct for CryoPort, Inc. Incorporatedéference to CryoPort’s Registration Statement am~L0-SB/A4 dated
February 23, 2006.

3.10 Code of Ethics for Senior Officers of CryoPort, .laod subsidiaries. Incorporated by reference y@RBort’'s Registration
Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated February 23, 2006.

3.11 Statement of Policy on Insider Trading. Incorpodaby reference to CryoPort’s Registration StatenoenfForm 10-SB/A4 dated
February 23, 2006.

3.12 CryoPort, Inc. Audit Committee Charter, under whilth Audit Committee will operate, adopted by theaRl of Directors on
August 19, 2005. Incorporated by reference to Coyt® Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 d&teldruary 23, 2006.

3.13 CryoPort Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plaoptetl by the Board of Directors on October 1, 200@orporated by referen

to CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A8Bdated February 23, 2006.
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3.14 Stock Option Agreement ISO—Specimen adopted bytiaed of Directors on October 1, 2002. Incorpordigdeference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.

3.15 Stock Option Agreement NSO—Specimen adopted bydofbirectors on October 1, 2002. Incorporateddfgrence to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.

3.16 Warrant Agreement—Specimen adopted by the BoaRirettors on October 1, 2002. Incorporated by exiee to CryoPort’s
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated Falgr2a3, 2006.

3.17 Patents and Trademarks

3.17.1 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,467,642 informaditeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Inturdent. On File with
CryoPort.

3.17.2 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,119,465 informadizeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Inturdent. On File with
CryoPort.

3.17.3 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,539,726 informaditeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Inturdent. On File with
CryoPort.

3.17.4 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,583,478,7 im#&tion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systenss diocument. On File
with CryoPort.

3.17.5 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,586,797,8 m&tion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systenssdiocument. On File
with CryoPort.

3.17.6 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,748,667,3 m&tion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systenssdiocument. On File
with CryoPort.

3.17.7 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,737,454,1 m&tion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systenssdiocument. On File
with CryoPort.

4.1 Form of Debenture—Original Issue Discount 8% Sed@senvertible Debenture dated September 28, 20@drporated by
reference to CryoPort’s Registration Statement@mFSB-2 dated November 9, 2007.

4.1.1 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated Febru@r2@08. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’sr€nt Report on Form
8-K dated March 7, 2008 and referred to as ExHiifl..10.

4.1.2 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated AprilZI)8. CryoPort’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated April 30, 2008 and referred to akibix 10.1.11.

4121 Annex to Amendment to Convertible Debenture datpdlA80, 2008. CryoPort’s Current Report on ForrK 8ated April 30,
2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.1.11.1.

41.3 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated AugusR08. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s €urReport on Form 8-
K dated August 29, 2008.

414 Amendment to Convertible Debenture effective Jap@ar 2009 and dated February 20, 2009. Incorpdiayereference to
CryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Febrd#, 2009.

415 Amendment to Debentures and Warrants with Enabtevér Partners LP, Enable Opportunity Partners Li&ce Diversified
Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe MaBterd Ltd. and CryoPort Inc. dated September 1, 20@®rporated by
reference to CryoPort’'s Current Report on Form 8alted September 17, 2009.

4.2 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dagglember 28, 2007. Incorporated by referenceyoRart's Registration



Statement on Form SB-2 dated November 9, 2007.




Exhibit

No. Description
4.3 Original Issue Discount 8% Secured Convertible Déle dated May 30, 2008. Incorporated by referéaceryoPort’'s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated June 9, 2008.
4.4 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPort’s Current Remo Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008
4.5 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPort’s Current Remo Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008
4.6 Form of Warrant and Warrant Certificate*
10.1.1 Stock Exchange Agreement associated with the mefgerT.5-Limited and CryoPort Systems, Inc. signadMarch 15, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort's RegistraStatement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated February 236200
10.1.2 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. 2. Petreccia executed on August 26, 2005. Iraratpd by reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.
10.1.3 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. & Dell executed on September 1, 2005. Incotpdiay reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.
10.1.4 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. . Grossman executed on August 25, 2005. Incatpd by reference
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.
10.1.5 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. B. Mullens executed on September 2, 2005. lcated by reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.
10.1.6 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. R. Takahashi executed on August 25, 2005. Irzatpd by reference to
CryoPort’s Registration Statement on Form 10-SBdated February 23, 2006.
10.1.7 Exclusive and Representation Agreement betweenReng&ystems, Inc. and CryoPort Systems, Ltda.liggdaon August 9,
2001. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Regfion Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated Febru8r2R06 and referred to
as Exhibit 10.1.8.
10.1.8 Secured Promissory Note and Loan Agreement betWeatana Group, LLC and CryoPort, Inc. dated May2006. Incorporate
by reference to CryoPort's Registration Statemenfform 10-SB/A4 dated February 23, 2006 and redeiseas Exhibit 10.1.9.
10.2 Business Alliance Agreement dated April 27, 2007 CloyoPort, Inc. and American Biologistics ComparyC. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8alted April 27, 2007 and referred to as ExhibiB10.
10.2.1 Corrected Business Alliance Agreement dated Atil2D07, by CryoPort, Inc. and American Biologisti€ompany LLC.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’'s Currentdtepn Form 8-K/A dated May 2, 2007 and referredsdExhibit 10.3.1.
10.3 Consultant Agreement dated April 18, 2007 betwesmRBort, Inc. and Malone and Associates, LLC. Ipcoated by reference to
CryoPort’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for tfuarter ended June 30, 2007 and referred to abER.4.
10.4 Lease Agreement dated June 26, 2007 between Crydiorand Viking Investors—Barents Sea LLC. Irnpmmated by reference

to CryoPort’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for juarter ended June 30, 2007 and referred tatabiE1L0.5.




Exhibit

No. Description

10.4.1 Second Amendment To Lease: Renewal dated Augug0®9, between CryoPort, Inc. and Viking InventBesents Sea
LLC *x*

10.5 Securities Purchase Agreement dated Septembe0@7, Bcorporated by reference to CryoPoRegistration Statement on Fc
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to asbiixt0.6.

10.6 Registration Rights Agreement dated September @¥7.2ncorporated by reference to CryoPoRegistration Statement on Fc
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to asbiixt0.7.

10.7 Security Agreement dated September 27, 2007. locatgd by reference to CryoPort’s Registrationestant on Form SB-2
dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhib8.1

10.8 Sitelet Agreement between FedEx Corporate Servinesand CryoPort Systems, Inc. dated Januarg@33. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPort's Current Report on Form 8akked February 1, 2008 and referred to as Exhib8.1

10.9 Securities Purchase Agreement dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPort's Current Remo Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.10.

10.10 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 30, 20088o1porated by reference to CryoPort’s Current Remo Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.11.

10.11 Waiver dated May 30, 2008. Incorporated by refeeeiocCryoPort’'s Current Report on Form 8-K datede]d, 2008 and referred
to as Exhibit 10.12.

10.12 Security Agreement dated May 30, 2008. Incorporateteference to CryoPort’'s Current Report on F8rit dated June 9, 2008
and referred to as Exhibit 10.13.

10.13 Board of Directors Agreement between Larry G. Stangih and CryoPort, Inc. dated December 10, 20@®rporated by
reference to CryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8alked December 5, 2008 and referred to as Extibit51

10.14 Rental Agreement with FedEx Corporate ServicesGuydPort, Inc. dated May 15, 2009 (CryoPort hadfih Confidential
Treatment Request under Rule 24b-5 of the Exchawgeor parts of this document). Incorporated bference to CryoPort’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ma&8th2009 and referred to as Exhibit 10.16.

10.15 Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release with Ddly ldad CryoPort, Inc. dated July 24, 2009. Incogted by reference to
CryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July2W09 and referred to as Exhibit 10.14.

10.16 Consent, Waiver and Agreement with Enable Growttinees LP, Enable Opportunity Partners LP, PierneBified Strategy
Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund htti CryoPort Inc. and its subsidiary dated July?BD9. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPort's Current Report on Form 8alted July 29, 2009 and referred to as Exhibit3.0.1

10.17 Employment Agreement with Larry G. Stambaugh angb@ort, Inc. dated August 1, 2009. Incorporateddigrence to
CryoPort’s Current Report dated August 21, 2009raferred to as Exhibit 10.19.

10.18 Letter Accepting Consulting Agreement dated Octdhe2007 with Carpe DM, Inc. and CryoPort, Inc.dmmrated by reference
to CryoPort, Inc.’s Registration Statement on F&+8 dated March 25, 2009 and referred to as Exhibit.

10.19 Master Consulting and Engineering Services Agre¢mated October 9, 2007 with KLATU Networks, LLCda@ryoPort, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to CryoPort, Inc.’s Regi®on Statement on Form S-8 dated March 25, 20@Preferred to as Exhibit
10.2




Exhibit

No. Description

10.20 Investment Banker Termination Agreement dated Ajr009 with Bradley Woods & Co. Ltd., SEPA Cap@arp., Edward
Fine, and CryoPort, Inc. Incorporated by referelac€ryoPort, Inc.’s Registration Statement on F&+8 dated April 13, 2009
and referred to as Exhibit 10.1.

10.21 Attorney-Client Retainer Agreement with Gary Cuf@iannon and CryoPort, Inc. dated December 1, 20@@rporated by
reference to CryoPort, Inc.’s Registration StatenoenForm S-8 dated June 11, 2009 and referred Exhibit 10.3.

10.22 CryoPort, Inc., 2009 Stock Incentive Plan. Incogted by reference to CryoPort’s Current Report om8-K dated October 9,
2009 and referred to as Exhibit 10.21.

10.23 CryoPort, Inc., Form Incentive Stock Option AwardrAement under the CryoPort, Inc., 2009 Stock ltieerfPlan. Incorporated
by reference to CryoPort’s Current Report on Fork @ated October 9, 2009 and referred to as ExQibi22.

10.24 Form of Warrant to be entered into betwihe Registrant and Rodman & Renshaw, LLC.***

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered PAlgiounting Firm—KMJ Corbin & Company LLP.*

24 Power of Attorney***

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.1 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. §1350 of Chief &ixtive Officer.*

32.2 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. §1350 of Chiefdfinial Officer.*

* Filed herewith

**  To be filed by amendment

*** Previously filed



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-1 No. 333-1623&0Rorm S-8 333:66327) of CryoPot
Inc. of our report dated June 21, 2010, with respethe consolidated financial statements and dudieeof CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company”
included in the Annual Report (Form K)-(which report expresses an unqualified opiniad ancludes an explanatory paragraph relating ¢
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability totoaie as a going concern) as of March 31, 20102808 and for the years then ended.

Is/ KMJ Corbin &

Company, LLP

Costa Mesa, California
June 21, 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Larry G. Stambaugh, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16£iCryoPort, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdmstate a material fact necessary to
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegos presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls andguhoies, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over finah@aorting, or caused such internal control oweariicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and preddntthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in #gistrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasopéikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antédve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and radal weaknesses in the design or operation ofriatecontrol over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaad report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Dated: June 21, 2010 Signed: /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH
Larry G. Stambaugh
President & Chief Executive Officer, and Director




EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Catherine M. Doll, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fICryoPort, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatemny untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegas presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls andguioes, or caused such disclosure controls aneguoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over finahmaorting, or caused such internal control ovearicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and preddntthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period covgredis report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thgistrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal trmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materialakaesses in the design or operation of internarobaver financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqmbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that iflmes management or other employees who have disantirole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 21, 2010 Signed:_/s/ CATHERINE M. DOLL
Catherine M. Doll
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification

I, Larry Stambaugh., President and Chief Execuficer of CryoPort Inc. (the “Company”), certifpursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(b) or
Rule 15(d)-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act@84 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 (the “R&péully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&esrExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78)(ahd

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 21, 2010

/sl Larry G. Stambaug

Larry G. Stambaugh, Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification

I, Catherine M. Doll Chief Financial Officer of @Port, INC. (the “Company”), certify, pursuantRale 13(a)-14(b) or Rule 15(d)-14
(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18.0. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 (the “Reépéully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&earExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780 (ahd

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 21, 2010

/' S | Catherine M. Doll

Catherine M. Doll,
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer




